
 

 
You can view the agenda on the website  
or use a smart phone camera and scan the code 

 
 

 
  

To: 
 
The Chair and Members 
of the Investment and 
Pension Fund Committee 
 

 
County Hall 
Topsham Road 
Exeter 
Devon  
EX2 4QD 
 

 

Date:  8 June 2023 Contact:  Gerry Rufolo 01392 382299 
Email:  gerry.rufolo@devon.gov.uk 

 
INVESTMENT AND PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

 
Friday, 16th June, 2023 

 
A meeting of the Investment and Pension Fund Committee is to be held on the 
above date at 10.30 am at County Hall, Exeter, Committee Suite - Daw to consider 
the following matters. 
 
 Donna Manson 
 Chief Executive 
 

A G E N D A 
 
  
 PART I - OPEN COMMITTEE 

  
1 Apologies for Absence  
 
 
2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 10) 
 
 Minutes of the Investment and Pension Fund Committee meeting held on  

3 March 2023, attached.  
  
  

3 Items Requiring Urgent Attention  
 
 Items which in the opinion of the Chairman should be considered at the meeting 

as matters of urgency. 
  

4 Devon Pension Board (Pages 11 - 18) 
 

https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy


 Minutes of the meeting held on 18 April 2023, attached  
  

5 Brunel Oversight Board (Pages 19 - 22) 
 
 Minutes of the meeting held on 9 March 2023, attached. 

  
6 Annual Internal Audit Report 2022/23 (Pages 23 - 34) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value (DF/23/58), attached. 

  
7 Investment Management Report (Pages 35 - 64) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value (DF/23/59), attached  

  
8 Climate Change and Carbon Footprint (Pages 65 - 78) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value (DF/23/60), attached. 

  
9 Actuarial and Consultancy Contracts (Pages 79 - 84) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value (DF/23/61), attached 

  
10 Employer Changes  
 



 Employer changes not previously reported to the Committee are set out below.  
 
(a) New admitted bodies - The following application for admitted body status has 
been approved:  
 
• DCC Cleaning won the tender for St Peters School Plymouth Cleaning 

contract, commencing 1 September 2022  
 
(b) New academy conversions and changes:  
 
• On 6 September 2022, Launceston College MAT changed name to Athena 

Learning Trust  
 
• On 1 October 2022, Berry Pomeroy Parochial C of E Primary converted to an 

Academy and joined the Academy of Chartered Excellence.  
 
• On 1 October 2022, St Sidwells C of E Primary School and nursery became an 

academy and joined St Christophers C of E (Primary) MAT  
 
• On 1 November 2022, Furzeham Primary School  and Nursery became an 

academy and joined the Thinking Schools Academy Trust.     
 
(c) Cessations:  
 
• On 10 August 2022, Red One Limited ceased following the last member 

leaving. They are a subsidiary of Devon & Somerset Fire and had a 
passthrough in place. All assets and liabilities remain with Devon & Somerset 
Fire.  

 
• On 3 October 2022, FCC Ltd ceased membership with staff returning to South 

Hams DC. 
  

11 Dates of Future Meetings  
 
 15 September 2023, 24 November; and 1 March 2024 (followed by the annual 

consultation meeting at 2:15 pm) all at 10.30 am.  
  
Dates and other details available here: Browse meetings - Investment and 
Pension Fund Committee - Democracy in Devon 
  

 PART II - ITEMS WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF PRESS AND 
PUBLIC ON THE GROUNDS THAT EXEMPT INFORMATION MAY BE 
DISCLOSED 
  

12 Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 

https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=187&Year=0
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=187&Year=0


 Recommendation: that the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972 on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of an individual other than the County Council and, in 
accordance with Section 36 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000, by virtue of 
the fact that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information. 
  
  

13 Local Impact Investment (Pages 85 - 114) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value (DF/23/62), attached. 

  
14 Brunel Pension Partnership - Reserved Matters Requests (Pages 115 - 122) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value (DF/23/63), attached  

  
15 Litigation and Class Actions (Pages 123 - 128) 
 
 Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value (DF/23/64), attached  

 
 
 
Members are reminded that Part II Reports contain exempt information and should 
therefore be treated accordingly.  They should not be disclosed or passed on to any 
other person(s). They need to be disposed of carefully and should be returned to the 
Democratic Services Officer at the conclusion of the meeting for disposal. 
 



MEETINGS INFORMATION AND NOTES FOR VISITORS 
 
Getting to County Hall and Notes for Visitors   
For SatNav purposes, the postcode for County Hall is EX2 4QD 
 
Further information about how to get to County Hall gives information on visitor 
parking at County Hall and bus routes. 
 
Exeter has an excellent network of dedicated cycle routes. For further information 
see the Travel Devon webpages.  
 
The nearest mainline railway stations are Exeter Central (5 minutes from the High 
Street), St David’s and St Thomas. All have regular bus services to the High Street.  
 
Visitors to County Hall are asked to report to Main Reception on arrival. If visitors 
have any specific requirements, please contact reception on 01392 382504 
beforehand.  
 
Membership of a Committee  
For full details of the Membership of a Committee, please visit the Committee page 
on the website and click on the name of the Committee you wish to see.  
 
Committee Terms of Reference  
For the terms of reference for any Committee, please visit the Committee page on 
the website and click on the name of the Committee. Under purpose of Committee, 
the terms of reference will be listed. Terms of reference for all Committees are also 
detailed within Section 3b of the Council’s Constitution.  
 
Access to Information 
Any person wishing to inspect any minutes, reports or background papers relating to 
an item on the agenda should contact the Clerk of the Meeting. To find this, visit the 
Committee page on the website and find the Committee. Under contact information 
(at the bottom of the page) the Clerk’s name and contact details will be present. All 
agenda, reports and minutes of any Committee are published on the Website  
 
Public Participation 
The Council operates a Public Participation Scheme where members of the public 
can interact with various Committee meetings in a number of ways. For full details of 
whether or how you can participate in a meeting, please look at the Public 
Participation Scheme or contact the Clerk for the meeting. 
 
In relation to Highways and Traffic Orders Committees, any member of the District 
Council or a Town or Parish Councillor for the area covered by the HATOC who is 
not a member of the Committee, may attend and speak to any item on the Agenda 
with the consent of the Committee, having given 24 hours’ notice. 
 
Webcasting, Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings 
The proceedings of any meeting may be recorded and / or broadcasted live, apart 
from any confidential items which may need to be considered in the absence of the 
press and public. For more information go to our webcasting pages  

https://new.devon.gov.uk/help/visiting-county-hall/
https://www.traveldevon.info/cycle/
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=416&MId=2487&Ver=4&info=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy/guide/public-participation-at-committee-meetings/part-1-can-i-attend-a-meeting/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy/guide/public-participation-at-committee-meetings/part-1-can-i-attend-a-meeting/
https://devoncc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press and 
public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to do so, 
as directed by the Chair.  Filming must be done as unobtrusively as possible without 
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and 
having regard to the wishes of others present who may not wish to be filmed. 
Anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the Chair or the Democratic 
Services Officer in attendance.  
 
Members of the public may also use social media to report on proceedings.  
 
Declarations of Interest for Members of the Council  
It is to be noted that Members of the Council must declare any interest they may 
have in any item to be considered at this meeting, prior to any discussion taking 
place on that item. 
 
WiFI 
An open, publicly available Wi-Fi network (i.e. DCC) is normally available for 
meetings held in the Committee Suite at County Hall. 
 
Fire  
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, leave the building immediately by the nearest 
available exit following the fire exit signs.  If doors fail to unlock press the Green 
break glass next to the door. Do not stop to collect personal belongings; do not use 
the lifts; and do not re-enter the building until told to do so. Assemble either on the 
cobbled car parking area adjacent to the administrative buildings or in the car park 
behind Bellair. 
 
First Aid 
Contact Main Reception (Extension 2504) for a trained first aider.  
 
Mobile Phones 
Please switch off all mobile phones before entering the Committee Room or Council 
Chamber 
 
Alternative Formats 
If anyone needs a copy of an Agenda and/or a Report in 
another format (e.g. large print, audio tape, Braille or other 
languages), please contact the Customer Service Centre on 
0345 155 1015 or email: committee@devon.gov.uk or write to 
the Democratic and Scrutiny Secretariat in G31, County Hall, 
Exeter, EX2 4QD. 
Induction Loop available  

 

mailto:committee@devon.gov.uk


1 
INVESTMENT AND PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

3/03/23 
 

 

INVESTMENT AND PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 
 

3 March 2023  
 
Present:- 
 
Devon County Council  
Councillors J Morrish (Chair), P Bullivant (Vice-Chair), Y Atkinson, M Hartnell 
and H Gent (remote)  
 
Other Employers, Unitary and District Councils 
Councillors  R Bloxham, J O’Dwyer and A Lugger 
 
Union and Retired Members 
R Franceschini and M Daniell 
 
Attending in Accordance with Standing Order 25 (1) 
Councillor J Hodgson and C Slade (both remote) 
 
Apologies:- 
Councillor G Gribble, Cllr J Pearce and L Parker-Delaz-Ajete 
  

* 97   Minutes 
 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Meeting held on 25 November 2022 be 
signed as a correct record. 
  

* 98   Items Requiring Urgent Attention 
 
There was no item raised as a matter of urgency. 
  

* 99   Devon Pension Board 
 
The Committee noted the Minutes of the Meeting of the Board held on 7 
February 2023. 
  

* 100   Brunel Oversight Board 
 
The Committee noted the Minutes of the Meetings of the Board held on 15 
December 2022 and 26 January 2023.  
  
Arising on Member questions the Head of Investments agreed to circulate to 
the Committee:  
  
• in regard to Brunel Strategic objectives (Minute 6, 15 December 2022), 

the paper referred to explaining the terms ‘responsible investment and 
sustainability’ in terms of Brunel’s strategic objectives; and  

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



2 
INVESTMENT AND PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 
3/03/23 

 
• in regard to Green Revenues (Minute 8, 15 December 2022) the slide 

presentation referred to on sustainable investment analysis.   
  

* 101   Internal Audit Plan 2023/24 
 
The Committee considered the Report of the Director of Finance and Public 
Value (DF/23/27) on the proposed Internal Audit Plan 2023/24 and the 
Service Level Agreement for the two audit plans for the Devon Pension Fund 
and Peninsula Pensions, which would be delivered by the Devon Audit 
Partnership. The proposed Audit Plans allowed for up to 40 days of internal 
audit support for the Pension Fund and 45 days for Peninsula Pensions, 
providing 85 days of internal audit provision overall. The detail was in 
Appendix 1 of the Report. The Plan had been considered by the Pension 
Board at its last meeting on the 7 February with no further comment. 
  
At the next meeting the Partnership would report on the completion and 
outcomes of the current year’s audit plans.   
  
Member discussion points with the Head of the Partnership included: 
  
• the cost quoted in the report should be amended to reflect the cost of 85 

days (and not 45 days) and the use of specialist support (at additional 
costs) was not normally needed; 

• the audits would be subject to further scoping meetings with senior 
service management which would include evaluation of compliance with 
requirements, as appropriate;   

• the Climate Risk and Environmental Social Governance reporting audit 
would be subject to new regulations expected from Government effective 
from 2023/24; and  

• the audit process and arrangements in regard to the Brunel Partnership 
was reported via the Brunel Oversight Board of which the Chair was a 
Member.    

  
It was MOVED by Councillor Y Atkinson, SECONDED by Councillor P 
Bullivant and 
  
RESOLVED that the proposed Internal Audit plan for 2023/24 be approved. 
  
  

* 102   Investment Management Report 
 
(Councillor J Hodgson attended in accordance with Standing Order 25 (1) and 
spoke to this item in regard to voting and engagement delegated to the Brunel 
Pension Partnership, the LAPFF and LGIM; and the number of votes against 
management recommendations).    
  
The Committee considered the Report of the Director of Finance and Public 
Value (DF/23/28) on the Fund value and asset allocation, performance 

Page 2

Agenda Item 2



3 
INVESTMENT AND PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

3/03/23 
 

 

against the benchmark, funding level (which was subject to completion of the 
triennial valuation), budget forecast 2022/23, cash management, and voting 
and engagement activity.  
  
The Fund value at 31 December 2022 stood at £5,126.5 million, an increase 
of around £100 million over the quarter but a decrease of £285m since 31st 
March 2022.  
  
Members’ discussion points with Officers included:  
  
• the number of votes against management recommendation exercised by 

Brunel Pension Partnership and their views in terms of positive 
shareholder value and links to company objectives and the positive 
progress being made in regard to the issues raised;  

• other issues on which LAPFF reported in relation to environment human 
rights and their positive influences; and the Funds’ reduced exposure 
following transition to UK Climate Transition Benchmark Tracker Fund in 
regard the passive funds; and 

• the impact of the current inflation rates and impact on cash flow 
projections, off-set by long term strategies (and contribution rates).  

  
It was MOVED by Councillor J Morrish, SECONDED by R Franceschini and  
  
RESOLVED  
  
(a) that the Investment Management Report be noted; and  
  
(b) that the compliance with the 2022-23 Treasury Management Strategy, be 
noted.  
  

* 103   Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 
 
(Councillor J Hodgson attended in accordance with Standing Order 25 (1) and 
spoke to this item in regard to the replacement of the FINEST finance 
system)    
  
The Committee considered the Report of the Director of Finance and Public 
Value Please (DF/23/29) on the management of the Fund’s cash allocation, 
setting out the strategy and plans to be followed in the coming year (draft 
Strategy at Appendix 2 of the Report).  
  
It set out the current treasury position, cash investments, prospects for 
interest rates and the investment strategy. The strategy was broadly 
consistent to that agreed for 2022/23 and was in relation to the management 
of cash, not the rest of the Fund’s investments. Pension Fund cash balances 
were kept at a low level with the main purpose being to provide the required 
level of liquidity. The Bank of England’s raised base rates impacted on the 
rates available for investment, which have gradually increased over the period 
since December 2021. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



4 
INVESTMENT AND PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 
3/03/23 

 
  
Members’ discussion points with Officers included: 
  
• the cash represented 1% of the Fund; 
• the replacement of the FINEST finance system would not impact on cash 

management but it would change how cash balances were recorded; and 
• no borrowing was normally required by the Fund and only permitted in 

limited circumstances and any would be very short-term only.  
  
It was MOVED by Councillor R Bloxham, SECONDED by Councillor A 
Lugger  and 
  
RESOLVED that the Treasury Management Strategy for 2023/24 as set out in 
Appendix 1.2) be adopted. 
  

* 104   Funding Strategy Statement 
 
(Councillor J Hodgson attended in accordance with Standing Order 25 (1) and 
spoke to this item and referred to the Employer response outlined in the 
Report and also asked questions about the consultation exercise with fund 
members carried out last year and production of a quarterly news-letter).   
  
The Committee considered the Report of the Director of Finance and Public 
Value (DF/23/30) on a revised Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) drafted in 
conjunction with the Fund Actuary (Barnett Waddingham) (draft set out at 
Appendix 1).  
  
The FSS document had been revised in order to reflect updated regulations, 
practice and actuarial assumptions and its purpose was to explain the funding 
objectives of the Fund and how the cost of the benefits provided under the 
Local Government Pension Scheme were met through the Fund. It also 
defined the objectives in setting employer contribution rates and the funding 
strategy adopted to meet the objectives. It also analysed the risks to the 
funding strategy and how those risks were managed and it should be read in 
conjunction with the Investment Strategy Statement.  The assumptions had 
been updated to reflect the 2022 Actuarial Valuation. This included updating 
the assumed inflation rates, the discount rate used, the demographic 
assumptions and the maximum recovery period.  The other main changes in 
the revised FSS were set out in the Report which related to  
  
• A revised policy in relation to cessation valuations;   
  
• Further clarification around the approach to town and parish councils; 
  
 • Updated wording around the impact of the McCloud age discrimination case 
and the proposed remedies to be applied; and   
  
• A new section setting out the potential climate change risks that may impact 
on the funding strategy.  

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



5 
INVESTMENT AND PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

3/03/23 
 

 

  
The draft of the revised Funding Strategy Statement had been sent out to 
employers for consultation on 26th January with a deadline for responses of 
17th February and one detailed response from the University of Plymouth had 
been received. The key issues raised by the University of Plymouth were  
outlined in the report with officer comment. Officers would have further 
dialogue with the University of Plymouth regarding their concerns. The 
Pension Board had considered the draft Statement at meeting on 7 February 
2023 (Minute *6 refers).  
  
Following the 2022 Actuarial Valuation, the Fund was required to publish the 
Valuation Report and Rates and Adjustments Certificate that set out employer 
contributions for the next 3 years by 31 March 2023. 
  
Approval of the revised Funding Strategy Statement would ensure that the 
Valuation Report and Rates and Adjustments Certificate were consistent with 
the funding policy.  
  
Members’ discussion points with Officers included:  
  
• the projected increase in employer contributions and in exceptional 

circumstances the rates could be changed prior to the next triennial 
valuation; and  

• there had been no update from Government on any proposed change 
from 3 years to four years for the re-valuation period.    

  
The Head of Investments also confirmed that the member survey (referred to 
by Councillor Hodgson) had been sent to all self-service users or emailed to 
them and had been available on the website and also promoted through 
employers; and that the quarterly newsletter was available; and further 
feedback would be provided at the consultation meeting that afternoon.  
  
It was MOVED by Councillor R Bloxham, SECONDED by Councillor Y 
Atkinson and   
  
RESOLVED 
  
(a) that the responses to the consultation with employers and the comments 
from the Pension Board be noted; and  
  
(b) that the revised Funding Strategy Statement set out at Appendix 1 to this 
Report be approved. 
  

* 105   Administering Authority Discretions 
 
The Committee considered the Report of the Director of Finance and Public 
Value (DF/23/31) on discretions available to Devon County Council as the 
fund Administering Authority in the administration of the Scheme. 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



6 
INVESTMENT AND PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 
3/03/23 

 
Following a review by Officers, it was proposed to amend the current 
discretions as set out in the Report.  Annex A of the report detailed the current 
discretions and proposed changes.  
  
Since the discretions were last reviewed, Councillors were no longer eligible 
to become or remain active members of the LGPS and therefore a total of five 
discretions would be deleted. The discretions numbered 1 – 29 remained 
exactly as the current discretions log, whilst discretions 30 – 39 were only 
minor wording changes and not deemed by officers to be a change in the 
underlying policy. Discretions 44-56 related to the Administering Authority’s 
role in employer decisions where the employer no longer existed. Wording 
has been updated to reflect the current leadership structure reporting to the 
Director of Finance and Public Value.  
  
Discretions 40 – 43 detailed the proposed changes to current policy.  
  
The proposed discretions had been presented to the Pension Board at their 
7th February meeting for comments and the Board had raised a number of 
questions (Minute *88 refers). 
  
To address the concerns raised by the Pension Board, Officers proposed to 
delay the proposed restriction on the ability to transfer in non-public sector 
pension benefits to apply to new members joining on/after 1 st July 2023. 
Where members had joined before 1st July 2023, they would still have a 12 
month window from their joining date to decide whether they wished to 
transfer in non-public sector pension benefits.  
  
Members’ discussion points with Officers included: 
  
• detailed discussion in regard to discretion 43 which proposed to ‘Accept 

transfers from public sector pension schemes only (including LGPS) for 
employees who are new to public sector employment (subject to 
transferring obligations for staff subject to TUPE regulations)’ as this 
would minimise ongoing liability risk to the pension fund; 

• the discussions in relation to discretion 43 related to the need for further 
clarification (for example deletion of ‘new’ as former public sector 
employees could be included); and noting that the proposal was unlikely 
to act as a disincentive to join the LGPS in Devon, as former private 
sector pensions could be retained; and the risk to the Fund of transfer 
values being insufficient to cover the pension costs on a transferring 
member’s retirement due to the current basis for calculating transfer 
values set by the Government Actuary’s Department; and 

• confirmation by Officers that any decision on discretion 43 could be 
delayed without any significant impact.     

  
It was MOVED by Councillor J O’Dwyer, SECONDED by Councillor Y 
Atkinson and  
  
RESOLVED 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



7 
INVESTMENT AND PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

3/03/23 
 

 

  
(a) that the proposed Administering Authority Discretions 40 - 42 as detailed 
in the Report be approved; and 
  
(b) that the wording of Discretion 43 (as detailed in the Report) be reviewed 
by Officers for consideration at the next meeting of this Committee. 
  

* 106   Private Markets Investments 
 
The Committee considered the Report of the Director of Finance and Public 
Value (DF/23/32) on the medium-term target allocation to private markets of 
30%, as stated in the Fund’s Investment Strategy.  
  
The current progress towards achieving the target allocations was 
summarised in the Report. This Report provided further details on the 
individual private market portfolios and the current position on the 
commitments made. It also looked at how the private markets allocation could 
support the UK Government’s levelling-up agenda, including the potential for 
local investment including Infrastructure funds. 
  
Before the set-up of Brunel, the Devon Fund had invested in five infrastructure 
funds, and would remain invested in those funds until they reached the end of 
their fund lives and sold off all their assets. In addition, the Fund committed 
£175 million to Brunel’s first infrastructure cycle, £310 million to Brunel’s 
second infrastructure cycle, and £100 million to Brunel’s third infrastructure 
cycle. The Devon Fund’s total current commitments were set out in the in the 
Report.  
  
Members discussion points with Officers included:  
  
• the options for local investments would include devon-wide, across the 

Brunel partner areas and nationally and subject to proper risk and return 
analysis as would be the case with any investment and preferably with 
other investors from the partnership.   

  
It was MOVED by Councillor P Bullivant, SECONDED by Councillor Y 
Atkinson and   
  
RESOLVED 
  
(a) that the progress being made on the investment of the Fund’s private 
markets commitment be noted;  
  
(b) that  no top-ups be made to Brunel’s existing Cycle 3 Infrastructure, 
Private Debt and Private Equity portfolios; and   
  
(c) that Officers be authorised to engage further with Brunel on the potential 
options for a local impact fund to be funded from the Fund’s private markets 
allocation. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



8 
INVESTMENT AND PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 
3/03/23 

 
  

* 107   Employer Changes 
 
The Committee noted:  
  
Employer changes not previously reported to the Committee, as set out below 
  
(a) New admitted bodies - The following application for admitted body status 
has been approved: On 1st September 2022 Axe Valley (Vector Learning 
Trust) outsourced their catering to Innovate Services. 
  
(b) New academy conversions and changes: 
  
• On 1 July 2022 St Budeaux Primary (Plymouth LEA) and Whitchurch 
Primary  
(Devon LEA) joined First Federation Trust. 
• On 1st July 2022 Bolham Community Primary School (Devon LEA) joined 
Ventrus 
Academy Trust.  
• On 1st July 2022 High View Primary (Plymouth LEA) joined Learning 
Academy  
Trust. 
• On 1st September 2022 Burlescombe CofE Primary School (Devon LEA) 
and  
Webbers CofE Primary (Devon LEA) joined Alumnis MAT. 
• On 1st September 2022 King Edward VI Community College (KEVICCS) 
joined  
Education South West. 
• On 1st September 2022 Brixham College joined Thinking School Academy 
Trust. 
  
(c) Cessations: on 1st August 2022 staff were insourced from Babcock 
International to Devon County Council. 
  

* 108   Annual Consultative Meeting with Staff and Retired Members 
 
The Committee noted that the Annual Consultative Meeting was being held in 
the afternoon following the Investment and Pension Fund Committee meeting, 
commencing at 2.15pm.  
  
Presentations would  be made by Faith Ward, Chief Responsible Investment 
Officer at the Brunel Pension Partnership, Mark Gayler, Head of Investments, 
Rachel Lamb, Head of Peninsula Pensions, and Councillor Colin Slade, Chair 
of the Devon Pension Board.  
  

* 109   Dates of Future Meetings 
 
16 June, 15 September, 24 November, and 1 March 2024 (followed by the 
Consultative meeting).  

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



9 
INVESTMENT AND PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

3/03/23 
 

 

  
Confirmation of dates and other information available at:  
Browse meetings - Investment and Pension Fund Committee - Democracy in 
Devon 
  

* 110   Exclusion of the Press and Public 
 
RESOLVED that the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of an individual other than the 
County Council and, in accordance with Section 36 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000, by virtue of the fact that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information 
  

* 111   Brunel Business Plan and Reserved Matters Requests 
 
(An item taken under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
during which the press and public were excluded). 
  
The Committee considered the Report of the Director of Finance and Public 
Value (DF/23/33) on three special reserved matters issued by the Brunel 
Partnership that required a response and given the timing and importance of 
the issues concerned, these were brought to Committee for endorsement 
before being signed off by the Director.  
  
They related to: (i) Revised strategic objectives; (ii) Business case and budget 
for 2023/24; and (iii) Revised remuneration policy and people strategy.  
  
It was MOVED by Councillor R Bloxham, SECONDED by Councillor Y 
Atkinson and  
  
RESOLVED 
  
(a) that the Brunel Pension Partnership’s revised strategic objectives for 
approval by the Director of Finance and Public Value under their delegated 
powers as the shareholder representative for Devon be endorsed; 
  
(b) that the Brunel Pension Partnership’s business plan for 2023/24 for 
approval by the Director of Finance and Public Value under their delegated 
powers as the shareholder representative for Devon be endorsed; and  
  
(c) that the Brunel Pension Partnership’s revised remuneration policy for 
approval by the Director of Finance and Public Value under their delegated 
powers as the shareholder representative for Devon, be endorsed. 
  
  

Page 9

Agenda Item 2

https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=187&Year=0
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=187&Year=0


10 
INVESTMENT AND PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 
3/03/23 

 
* 112   Infrastructure Investment 

 
(An item taken under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
during which the press and public were excluded). 
  
The Committee considered the Report of the Director of Finance and Public 
Value (DF/23/34) on an update on the position in regard to the Hermes and 
Igneo Infrastructure funds.  
  
It was MOVED by R Franceschini, SECONDED by Councillor Y Atkinson and  
  
RESOLVED 
  
(a) that  the current position with the Hermes and Igneo infrastructure 
investments be noted; 
  
(b) that an investment of £30 million, as detailed in the Report, in a renewable 
energy fund, as part of the 10% strategic allocation to infrastructure, be 
approved. 
  

* 113   Passive Benchmarks 
 
(An item taken under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
during which the press and public were excluded). 
  
The Committee considered the Report of the Director of Finance and Public 
Value (DF/23/35) on the benchmarks for passive investments.   
  
It was MOVED by R Franceschini, SECONDED by Councillor P Bullivant and  
  
RESOLVED that the position set out in the report be noted. 
 
 
 
NOTES: 

1. Minutes should always be read in association with any Reports for a 
complete record. 

2. If the meeting has been webcast, it will be available to view on the 
webcasting site for up to 12 months from the date of the meeting 
 

*  DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT 
 
The Meeting started at 10.30 am and finished at 12.50 pm 

 

Page 10

Agenda Item 2

http://www.devoncc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


1 
DEVON PENSION BOARD 

18/04/23 
 

 

DEVON PENSION BOARD 
 

18 April 2023  
 
Present:- 
 
Councillors C Slade (Chair), S Randall Johnson 
D Walshe, C Hearn, J Bailey and P Phillips 
 
Apologies:- 
 
Andy Bowman (Vice-Chair) 
  

* 97   Minutes 
 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 February 2022 be 
signed as a correct record. 
  

* 98   Items Requiring Urgent Attention 
 
No item was raised as a matter of urgency. 
  

* 99   Membership 
 
The Board noted that there would shortly be two scheme member 
representative positions available as this was Julie Bailey’s last meeting. She 
was thanked for her work and contribution to the Board. 
One person had expressed an interest in filling one of the vacancies so it was 
hoped this would be formalised and in place shortly. The other vacancy would 
be readvertised again soon.  
  

* 100   Annual Internal Audit report 2022/23 
 
The Board noted the Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value  
(DF/23/40) on the Internal Audit Service for the Pension Fund delivered by the 
Devon Audit Partnership in 2022/23.  
  
Overall, and based on work performed during 2022/23, Internal Audit had 
determined that they could provide reasonable assurance on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control environment. This was based 
on a total of 8 audit (6 completed and 2 still in progress), further work was 
being carried out around employer data quality.  
  
Other planned work included ongoing assurance work throughout the year 
and working on a Power Bi dashboard to assist Peninsula Pensions with 
monitoring. A report on Brunel performance monitoring had slipped due to 
staff sickness but overall there was reasonable assurance across the 
pensions service.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



2 
DEVON PENSION BOARD 
18/04/23 

 
Further discussion included: 
  

• Missing or incomplete employer covenant and bond requirements 
which were largely due to the data format and where the information 
was stored. It was felt this could be remedied by having one storage 
location. There was an audit recommendation to have this undertaken.  

• Cyber security and possible attacks from a third party. If members were 
accessing their pension data from a secure device then the risk of a 
third party cyber-attack would be minimal as the system and website 
was secure. Members were expected to ensure their devices and 
home networks were secure (including passwords). It would be better if 
all users (employees or employers) were required to use MFA (Multi 
factor authentication).  DCC as an employer has additional security as 
they have to access the DCC network first. i.e. another factor of 
authentication. 

• Lack of responses to cyber security questionnaires and reasons for 
this. This was because the information had not been received by the 
time the report had been written. These would be sent out earlier in 
future.  

• The Logotech contract which needed to be located and this was an 
action to be completed 

• Assurance that the data held on members in the administration system 
was secure  

  
It was agreed that an update on progress with the cyber security work would 
be added to the Audit and Tracker log report and this would be reported to the 
July meeting.  
  
The report was noted.  
  

* 101   Review of Attendance 
 
The Board noted the Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value 
(DF/23/41) on a review of the Board Member attendance at meetings and 
training events. A log of attendance of both board meetings and training 
events was attached in Appendix 1 of the Report.  
  
The report was noted.  
  

* 102   Contribution monitoring 
 
The Board noted the Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value 
(DF/23/42) on the current procedures for monitoring of timely payment of 
contributions from employers. Where contributions were received after the 
legal deadline and the Authority considered that late payment was of material 
significance, Officers would have a duty to notify the Pensions Regulator of 
the employer’s failure to meet the legal deadline.  
  

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



3 
DEVON PENSION BOARD 

18/04/23 
 

 

The Report showed a summary of the monthly contributions received in Q3 
2022/23 and a total of 16 contributions had been received late during this 
quarter. Six of these related to Parish councils who had informed the fund of 
their meeting dates and corresponding submission of contributions not 
aligning with the deadlines. There had however been an improvement on 
timeliness overall for the Town and Parish Councils. Officers had written to 
one employer, as contributions were starting to get paid later and later in the 
month, to remind them of the legal deadlines. Officers would continue to 
monitor this employer closely and consider raising a report to the Regulator if 
no improvement was forthcoming. 
  
The report was noted.  
  

* 103   Devon Pension Fund Risk Register 
 
The Board considered the Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value 
(DF/23/43) on the Pension Fund Register and additional actions proposed to 
mitigate risk. 
  
The Board had previously considered the Risk Register at its meeting on 19th 
July 2022, and comments made at board meetings had been taken on board 
in updating the register. 
  
The Risk Register was attached at Appendix 1 to the Report and it highlighted 
the key risks in relation to the Pension Fund, the current processes in place to 
mitigate the risk, and the planned improvements in place to provide further 
assurance. It incorporated the risk register of both the Investments Team and 
Peninsula Pensions. 
  
The Investment and Pension Fund Committee was the ultimate risk owner for 
the Pension Fund and last reviewed the Risk Register in October 2022. 
  
In addition to the current mitigations in place, further actions were planned to 
provide a greater level of assurance, and these were detailed together with 
the planned timescale for the action to take place. The level of risk would be 
reviewed once these additional actions have been implemented. As a result of 
the incorporation of the risk register into the Authority’s risk management 
system, there was now a more rigorous system in place for regular review of 
the risks identified, enabling better risk management. 
  
The Register remained unchanged in relation to the Peninsula Pensions risks 
since the last board meeting in February and Officers were currently working 
with audit on updating the register in time for the next board meeting. 
  
There were now 41 risks recorded in the Risk Register, 23 of which related to 
Devon Pension Fund management and 18 to Peninsula Pensions. The Report 
summarised the number of risks assigned to low, medium and high-risk 
scores, before and after mitigation. 
  

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



4 
DEVON PENSION BOARD 
18/04/23 

 
Across Devon Pension Fund management and Peninsula Pensions, action 
taken to mitigate risks had reduced the number of high risks from 11 to 2. The 
remaining high risks were in respect of: 
  

•            F5- Global Financial Crisis leading to a failure to reduce the deficit. 
•            F2 -Investment strategy not providing sufficient returns longer term. 
•            F14 – Cyber Security 

  
Members were informed that for CM1 - Communication this had now been 
updated to green as the report and accounts on the fund’s website had been 
published. For G2 on Governance Arrangements, in-house trainings dates 
had been organised so that had also been changed to green.  
  
The Report was noted.  
  

* 104   Pension Board Annual Report 
 
The Board noted the report of the Report of the Director of Finance and Public 
Value (DF/23/44) on a draft Devon Pension Fund Annual Report 2022/23 
which would be considered for approval by the Investment and Pension Fund 
Committee later this year.  
  
The draft annual report (Appendix 1 to the Report) contained the statement of 
accounts together with highlights of the areas reviewed by the Board, and the 
key recommendations that had been reported to and acted upon by the 
Investment and Pension Fund Committee.  
  
Members’ questions and discussion points with Officers included:  
  

• Updating the table of membership on page 57 to reflect the current 
scheme member representative. 

  
The Report was noted.  
  

* 105   Training Review and 2023/24 Training Plan 
 
The Board considered the Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value 
(DF/23/45) the training requirements for Board members under the Pensions 
Act 2004, including compliance with the Scheme Advisory Board Knowledge 
and Skills framework.  
  
The Report outlined the training sessions held during 2022/23 for members of 
the Investment and Pension Fund Committee and Devon Pension Board.  
  
The 2023/24 Training Plan was attached at Appendix 1 and set out a proposal 
for training to be provided over the year in order to ensure that both the 
Investment and Pension Fund Committee and the Pension Board have the 
knowledge and skills required in accordance with the CIPFA Code.  
  

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



5 
DEVON PENSION BOARD 

18/04/23 
 

 

A training needs analysis would be undertaken in due course in order to 
identify areas of training for future events.  
  
Officers had reviewed the Training plan to ensure that it reflected current best 
practise.  
  
It was highlighted that CIPFA no longer run the training and that a 
replacement for this would need to be found. The outcome and 
recommendations from the Good Governance review was also awaited which 
would feed into the plan. 
  
RESOLVED that the draft Training Plan be commended for approval by the 
Investment and Pension Fund Committee. 
  

* 106   Pension Board Budget Report 
 
The Board considered the Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value  
(DF/23/46) on the forecast outturn position for the financial year ending 31st 
March 2022; and the indicative budget for the direct costs for the Devon 
Pension Board for 2023/24. The budget had been formed by an analysis of 
the total estimated costs incurred during 2022/23. 
  
It was highlighted that the report was published just ahead of the financial 
year end to meet deadlines, but it was not expected there would be any major 
changes in the figures. The figure for members travelling expenses had been 
reduced to recognise the increase in online events and officer support had 
been increased by 5% in line with wider Council budgets to cover pay rises 
and printing.  
  
There was a misprint in the year figure on page 68 which would be corrected 
to show as the outturn for 2023.  
  
RESOLVED that the outturn for the Devon Pension Board budget 2022/23 be 
noted and that the Devon Pension Board budget for 2023/24 be approved.  
  

* 107   Investment and Pension Fund Committee 
 
The Board noted the Minutes of the Investment and Pension Fund Committee 
meeting held on 3 March 2022. 
  

* 108   Peninsula Pensions Administration Update and Performance Statistics 
 
The Committee noted the Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value 
(DF/23/47) on Peninsula Pensions’ performance and planned review of the 
Pension Administration Strategy and targets in the new 2023 year. This would 
include the internal targets for Peninsula Pensions and expected performance 
requirements from individual Fund employers.   
  

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



6 
DEVON PENSION BOARD 
18/04/23 

 
Statutory performance targets were monitored on a monthly basis via a task 
management system and reporting tool within the pension database.  
  
The Board noted 
  

• total performance against the Occupational and Personal Pension 
Schemes (Disclosure of information) Regulations 2013 for the quarter 
ending 31 December 2022 was 88% (94% for High Priority 
procedures);   

• as had been referred to in the performance reports for previous 
quarters, the lower-than-expected performance was in part due to 
delays in responses to member information requested from employers; 
and the team continued to work with employers to implement 
improvements in this area; 

• employers were undertaking a historic data sign off exercise over the 
period in preparation for the McCloud remedy, which would explain 
some of these delays; and of the 305 Devon employers with active 
members, 247 have been signed off, the remainder were all in 
progress; 

• the team had also continued to concentrate on processing outstanding 
deferred benefit and amalgamation cases in preparation for the 
McCloud remedy and future Pension Dashboard, which had impacted 
performance and once these cases were completed, an improvement 
in performance was expected; 

• the team had received a total of 22 compliments between 1 October 
2022 and 31 December 2022;  

• Appendix 1 of the report provided a detailed breakdown of 
administration performance relating to the Devon Pension Fund only, 
for the quarter ending 31 December 2022 against the statutory 
Disclosure Regulations;  

• Appendix 2 of the report highlighted the longer-term performance of 
Peninsula Pensions (Devon Pension Fund only) for this financial year 
from 1st April to 31 December 2022 

• the reports showed how many of the ‘remaining’ tasks outstanding to 
be actioned were awaiting information from another third party 
(member/employer) and therefore are on ‘reply due’;  

• Appendix 3 highlighted the amount of work received the previous 12 
month rolling period, compared to the same periods in the previous 
year and these showed an increase in demand and broke down the 
work into the different work types, and  

• the Pension Regulator annual returns completed November 2022 were 
also outlined.   

  
Members and officers’ discussion included: 
  

•       Benchmarking information for year-on-year performances to help 
compare data – this was to be included for future reports. 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



7 
DEVON PENSION BOARD 

18/04/23 
 

 

•       Death was marked as high priority as it had been acknowledged as 
needing extra resource in this area and it was recognised that there 
were often delays due in waiting for necessary information and 
documentation from people  

•       Job vacancies – there were currently 6 vacancies and it had been 
difficult to recruit. It was hoped rewording the advert might make it 
more appealing for applicants.  

  
The Report was noted.   
  

* 109   LGPS Update Report 
 
The Board noted the Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value  
(DF/23/48) on developments affecting the LGPS in relation to  
  
•       the annual revaluation by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 

Communities (DLUHC); 
•       changes which arose from the Spring Budget; 
•       the SCAPE discount rate used to set the employer contribution rates in the 

unfunded public service pension schemes (PSPS) and determine the 
actuarial factors across all Public Sector pension schemes including the 
LGPS; and  

•       the State Pension Age review. 
  

* 110   Future Work Programme 
 
The Board received the Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value 
(DF/23/49) on the work programme over the next three meetings.  
  
It was noted that the timings for a couple of the items such as the TPR Code 
of Practice could change. The Cyber Security update would also be included 
in the Action and Recommendations Tracker which was a standing item.  
  

* 111   Dates of Future Meetings 
 
6 July 2023 (in-person), 13 October 2023, 30 January 2024 and 19 April 
2024.  
  
Confirmation of dates and other details available at: 6 July 2023 (in-person), 
13 October 2023, 30 January 2024 and 19 April 2024. Confirmation of dates 
and other details available at: Browse meetings - Devon Pension Board - 
Democracy in Devon 
 
 
 
 
NOTES: 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4

https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=185&Year=0
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=185&Year=0


8 
DEVON PENSION BOARD 
18/04/23 

 
1. Minutes should always be read in association with any Reports for a 

complete record. 
2. If the meeting has been webcast, it will be available to view on the 

webcasting site for up to 12 months from the date of the meeting 
 

*  DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT 
 
The Meeting started at 10.30 am and finished at 11.15 am 

 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4

http://www.devoncc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

Information Classification: PUBLIC 

BRUNEL OVERSIGHT BOARD 

Public Minutes 

9th March 2023 

10:30 am – 12:35 pm 

Attendees 

 

 

 

Pension Committee Representatives 

Paul Crossley Avon  

Timothy Butcher Buckinghamshire Apologies 

Jayne Kirkham Cornwall  

James Morrish Devon  

John Beesley Dorset  

Robert Gould EAPF Apologies 

Lynden Stowe Gloucestershire  

Kevin Bulmer Oxfordshire Apologies 

Sarah Payne Somerset  

Richard Britton Wiltshire  

Member Representative Observers 

Andy Bowman Scheme Member rep.  

Alistair Bastin Scheme Member rep.  

Fund Officers and Representatives 

Nick Dixon Avon  

Julie Edwards Buckinghamshire  

Sean Johns Cornwall  

William Cresswell Cornwall Minutes 

Mark Gayler Devon  

Craig Martin EAPF  

Matthew Trebilcock Gloucestershire  

Sean Collins Oxfordshire Chair 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



 

Information Classification: PUBLIC 

 

Minutes 

Brunel Pension Partnership 

Laura Chappell Brunel, Chief Executive Officer 

Denise Le Gal Brunel, Chair 

Liz Mckenzie Brunel, Shareholder Non-Executive Director 

Patrick Newberry Brunel, Audit Risk and Compliance Committee Chair 

David Vickers Brunel, Chief Investment Officer 

Joe Webster Brunel, Chief Operating Officer 

Tim Dickson Brunel, Head of Client Relations 

Alice Spikings Brunel, Stakeholder Officer 

No. Item 

1. Confirm agenda 

Requests for Urgent items for information 

Any new declaration of conflicts of interest 

 SC welcomed everyone to the meeting and noted that KB who was originally 

intending to chair this meeting cannot attend. 

SC volunteered to chair the meeting and also welcomed alternate volunteers from 

the pension committee representatives. 

There were no alternate volunteers, and it was agreed SC would chair the meeting. 

2. Review minutes 

 The minutes were agreed with no comments. 

3. Outcome of SRM 28 and next steps 

 SC introduced the item and noted representatives will have a chance to express their 

thoughts on the SRM outcome. Next steps on the SRMs will be discussed at the 

following Shareholder Forum. 

LC provided the results of the SRMs. 

Fund Officers provided their views on the SRM outcomes. 

 

4. Brunel CEO Report 

 LC presented the CEO report. She noted the inclusion of the new Strategic Objectives 

and the addition of the Value for Money Balanced Scorecard.  

LC touched on Brunel’s positive news such as achieving a green audit, clients 

continuing to transition assets to Brunel, and the launch of the climate policy. 

Lastly, LC noted Kensington and Chelsea’s decision to leave their London Pool has 

been put on hold indefinitely. 

Page 20

Agenda Item 5



 

Information Classification: PUBLIC 

5. Brunel Chair of Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee Update 

 PN introduced himself as the Chair of the Audit, Risk and Compliance committee. PN 

presented the Risk Framework paper. 

PN provided an overview of their risk framework, the 3 lines of defence, and their risk 

management governance. 

Also noted the Senior Management and Certification regime run by the FCA to 

ensure key roles within Brunel are fulfilled by people who are suitably qualified. 

The Risk and Control Self-Assessment is also a regulatory requirement and aims to 

increase the accountability of the senior executives. 

It was agreed BOB would like annual updates from the Brunel Chair of Audit, Risk and 

Compliance committee. 

6. Presentation of the Annual Report and Financial Statement 2021-22 

 JW presented the Annual Report and Financial Statements paper. Noted that it will 

be put forward at the next AGM for support.  

Non-Financial disclosure presentation focused on the following areas: 

• High Levels of Engagement 

• Delivering the Climate Change Policy 

• Delivering on Diversity & Equality 

JW then presented the financial headlines available on the presentation slides. 

  

7. Client assurance framework (including Investment Update) 

 SJ presented the Client Assurance Framework paper. The presentation was kept brief 

in interest of time. 

SJ noted any feedback on the assurance from client funds and committees can be 

passed to fund officers  

8. Brunel CIO Update 

 DV provided a macro update on Brunel’s investments.  

Big considerations going forward are China coming out of lockdown and how they 

spend their accumulated savings. Also, is inflation under control? 

9. Climate Change Policy 

 DV provided an overview of the Climate Change Policy. He noted the policy has 

been signed off and a webinar was held during the launch of the policy. 

The following points were noted: 

• The policy is an evolution rather than revolution.  

• The policy doesn’t limit how ambitious targets can be. 

• Included focus on mitigation and adaptation. 

• There are no explicit exclusions, however they ask for reductions in emissions 

every year. 

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



 

Information Classification: PUBLIC 

 

Next BOB Meeting: 

8th June 2023 

10. Brunel Chair/SNED Update 

 LM noted they have started their annual face to face discussions. LM has already met 

with Cornwall and EAPF. Devon and Dorset are on the schedule, and Avon is 

scheduled for after their elections. 

DLG added they have not yet received regulations on pooling or TCFD. The auto 

enrolment age for pensions is being lowered to 18. 

DLG then thanked everyone for their hard work with specific reference to the Client 

Group and the Strategy and Governance Sub-Group.  

11. Any other urgent or for information items 

 There were no AOBs  

Page 22

Agenda Item 5



 

 
 

DF/23/58 
Investment and Pension Fund 
16 June 2023 
 

ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 2022/23 

Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value  

Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and 
determination by the Committee before taking effect.  

 

1) Recommendation 

 
That the Committee be asked to: 
 

(a) Note the internal Audit Report for 2022/23 
 
 

2) Introduction 

 
2.1 The Internal Audit Service for the Pension Fund is delivered by the Devon Audit 

Partnership. This is a shared service arrangement between Devon, Plymouth, 
Torbay, Mid Devon, North Devon, South Hams and West Devon and Torridge 
councils constituted under section 20 of the Local Government Act 2000.    
 

2.2 The Internal Auditors for the Pension Fund are responsible for providing assurance 
that financial and other systems are operating effectively and in line with legislation 
and the Authority’s financial regulations. This is achieved through two audit plans: 
one for the Devon Pension Fund and one for Peninsula Pensions 

 

3) Review of 2022/23  
 

3.1 The Head of Devon Audit Partnership is required to provide the Authority with an 
assurance opinion on the system of internal control of the Fund. This is set out in 
the Annual Report at Appendix 1.   
 

3.2 Overall, and based on work performed during 2022/23, Internal Audit can provide 
reasonable assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Fund’s internal 
control environment.  This was based on a total of 7 audits. Further information 
relating to these are provided in the Annual Report.   

 
    

 

 

 
 
 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



 

 
 

4) Conclusion 

 
4.1 The Committee is asked to note the Internal Audit Report for 2022/23. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Angie Sinclair 
Director of Finance and Public Value 
 
Electoral Divisions: All  
 

Local Government Act 1972: List of background papers 

Nil 
 
Contact for enquiries: 
Name: Hannah Hellier  
Telephone: 01392 384238 
Address: Larkbeare House 

Page 24

Agenda Item 6



                 

DEVON PENSION FUND 

ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 2022/23 

 

Section 1 - ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT 2022/23  

1 INTRODUCTION   

1.1 The following report sets out the background to the internal audit service provision, reviews 
work undertaken in 2022/23 and provides an opinion on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control environment. 

 
1.2     This report will support the organisation in complying with the Accounts and Audit 

Regulations 2015 which requires all authorities to carry out a review, at least once in a 
year, of the effectiveness of its system of internal control, and to incorporate the results of 
that review into their Annual Governance Statement (AGS). The AGS must then be 
published with the Annual Statement of Accounts.  

 

2    BACKGROUND 

2.1   Service Provision 

2.1.1 The Internal Audit Service for the Devon Pension Fund (the Fund) is delivered by the 
Devon Audit Partnership.  

2.2   Regulatory Role 

  2.2.1 There are two principal pieces of legislation that impact upon internal audit in local 
authorities:  

 

 Section 6 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations (England) Regulations 2015 which 
states that “…….a relevant body must undertake an adequate and effective internal audit 
of its accounting records and of its system of internal control in accordance with the proper 
practices in relation to internal control ……” 

 “……..a larger relevant body must, at least once in each year, conduct a review of the 
effectiveness of its internal audit ……” 

 

 Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires every local authority to 
make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs. 

 
 

  2.2.2 There are also professional guidelines which govern the scope, standards and conduct of 
Internal Audit, including the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). 

 
  2.2.3 In addition, Internal Audit is governed by policies, procedures, rules and regulations 

established by the Authority. These include standing orders, schemes of delegation, 
financial regulations, conditions of service, anti-fraud and corruption strategies, fraud 
prevention procedures and codes of conduct, amongst others. 

 

Appendix 1 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



                 

 

3    OBJECTIVES AND SCOPE 

3.1 This report presents a summary of the audit work undertaken and provides an opinion on 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control environment. The report 
outlines the level of assurance that we can provide, based on the internal audit work 
completed during this year.  

 
3.2. The Head of Devon Audit Partnership is required to provide the Authority with an 

assurance on the system of internal control of the Fund, based on risk-based reviews and 
sample testing, that there are no major weaknesses in the system of control. In assessing 
the level of assurance to be given the following have been taken into account: 

 

 all audits undertaken during 2022/23, and prior years 
 

 any significant recommendations not accepted by management and the consequent 
risks 

 

 internal audit’s performance 
 

 any limitations that may have been placed on the scope of internal audit. 

3.3 Definitions of annual assurance opinions are shown in Appendix B. 
 

4 INTERNAL AUDIT COVERAGE 2022/23 

4.1 Financial management arrangements within the Authority are well established and staff 
have many years of experience giving them a good understanding and knowledge of the 
financial controls and requirements of regulations and policies.  

 
4.2 Our work in 2022/23 has included completion of six audits for Devon Pension Fund and 

Peninsula Pensions, with two audits where the review has commenced in 22/23 and are 
in progress. The individual assurance opinions issued in respect of our assignment work 
and, where applicable, the status of the audits is set out in the following table.   

 
 
Key – DPF = Devon Pension Fund     PP = Peninsula Pensions 
 

Areas Covered  Stage DPF or 
PP 

Level of 
Assurance 

1 Employer Covenant and Bond Requirements Final DPF Reasonable 
Assurance 

2 Stewardship Code Final DPF Substantial 
Assurance 

3 Brunel Performance Reporting Draft DPF Reasonable 
Assurance 

4 Actuarial Valuation 2022 Draft PP/DPF Substantial 
Assurance 

5 Cyber Security Final PP/DPF Limited 
Assurance 

Page 26

Agenda Item 6



                 

6 Transfers Out – Fraud Risk Final PP/DPF Substantial 
Assurance 

7 Escrow Bank Account   Final PP Substantial 
Assurance 

8 Employer Interface Data Quality Ongoing 
and 

throughout 
23/24 

PP n/a 

 
 
4.3 Our reviews this year and in prior years provide sufficient evidence that overall, the Devon 

Pension Fund and Peninsula Pensions have suitable governance arrangements in place to 
mitigate exposure to identified risks. Good working practices are in place to meet statutory 
requirements. The Investment and Pension Fund Committee are kept well informed, 
concerning the Fund's value and the allocation of assets, and are updated regarding the 
LGPS Governance scheme. 
 

4.4 We identified some areas where controls could be improved in particular around cyber 
security where only limited assurance has been given.  Actions were agreed with 
management.  Executive summaries from our work are shown in Appendix A. 

 

4.5 We note that Devon Pension Fund management take regular reports to the Devon Pension 
Board with an Audit Action Log created to track progress and completion of audit actions 
including a log of actions requested by the Board.  

 
4.6    Devon Audit Partnership also maintain records of progress against agreed actions.   
 
4.7 Definitions of assignment assurance opinions are shown in Appendix B. 
 

5 INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION 

5.1 In carrying out systems and other reviews, Internal Audit assesses whether key, and other, 
controls are operating satisfactorily within the area under review, and an opinion on the 
adequacy of controls is provided to management as part of the audit report.   

 
5.2 Our final audit reports include an action plan which identifies responsible officers, and target 

dates, to address control issues identified during a review. Implementation of action plans 
are reviewed during subsequent audits or as part of a specific follow-up process. 

 
5.3    Management are provided with details of Internal Audit’s opinion on each audit review 

carried out in 2022/23 to assist them with compilation of their individual annual governance 
assurance statements. No significant weaknesses were identified in these reviews. 

 
5.4 Overall, and based on work performed during 2022/23, Internal Audit can provide 

‘reasonable assurance’ on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control 
framework.  

 
 
 
 
 
Wider Assurance Received  

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



                 

 
5.5  The Devon Audit Partnership 2021/22 Internal Audit Report to Devon County Council, 

provided an overall assurance opinion of ‘Reasonable Assurance’ on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control framework based on work performed during 
2021/22 at that time and audit experience from previous years.  This included review of 
corporate key financial systems and controls, including areas of Finance, HR, Digital 
Transformation and Business Support. The Devon Audit Partnership 2022/23 Internal Audit 
Report to Devon County Council will be presented to Audit Committee on 20th June 2023.  

 
 5.6  External Audit (Grant Thornton UK LLP) annual audit letter to Devon County Council for the 

year ending 31 March 2022, stated that Grant Thornton provisionally gave an unqualified 
opinion on the pension fund accounts of Devon Pension Fund on 16 November 2022. Grant 
Thornton reported the key issues from audit of the Pension Fund accounts to the Audit 
Committee in November 2022. 

 
5.7  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited (BPP), Annual Report and Financial Statements for the 

year ended 30 September 2022, includes the independent Auditor’s (Grant Thornton UK 
LLP) report to member of the BPP, for which no areas of concern were identified.   

 
 

Page 28

Agenda Item 6



                 

             
Appendix A 

 

Executive Summaries for audits undertaken in 2022/23 

 
DPF - Employer Covenant and Bond Requirements (Reasonable Assurance) 
 
The Fund's approach to monitoring and managing financial risks of employers in the Fund were 
found to be sound and well demonstrated.  The outcomes and suggested action to manage 
employer risk from of the 2019 actuarial valuation, and subsequent bond review and Employer 
Risk Analysis carried out in 2020 and 2022 respectively have been used to inform the latest 
revisions to the Fund's Investment and Funding Strategies.  
  
In relation to the application of the actions and management of employer risk, in particular in 
relation to recovery of secondary contributions, setting up of bonds and guarantors for the 
admitted bodies, and those higher risk employers, the DPF was found to be following these.  The 
level of assurance given has been reduced overall however due to two factors:  

  
1. Key employer documents not being held centrally, to enable both Peninsula Pensions and 

DPF to be able to access the records.  There were gaps in the documentation provided 
by DPF as a result, where admission agreements were missing or incomplete for 9 of the 
20 employers.  

2. For transferred admitted bodies in which Devon County Council, who hold the deficit 
liability, require the employers to hold bonds, evidence of bonds being in place were not 
held.  

  
It should be noted, however that the overall risk to the fund of non-payment of any cessation 
employer deficit is considered low due to the recent change in Pension Regulations around debt 
spreading and deferred employer status, which provides a greater level of protection and provides 
better mechanism to recover the deficit 
 
 
DPF:  Stewardship Code (Substantial Assurance) 
 
Devon Pension Fund (DPF) has an up to date Stewardship Policy which is included within the 
DPF Investment Strategy Statement, which was found to be aligned with both Brunel's 
Stewardship Policy and consistent with the Stewardship Statement in the DPF Annual Report and 
Accounts 2021/22 and there was good evidence of policy compliance.    
  
Of the 12 principles (57 sub principles), the FRC report within the outcome letter dated March 
2022 identified that improvements were needed in 15 areas in order to remain a signatory for 
2022/23.  The additional information included in the updated Stewardship Statement in the DPF 
Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 would suggest that all but two of the sub-principles have 
been addressed (see recommendation in Appendix A below).  
  
We would not however, be in a position to provide any judgement as to the quality or effectiveness 
of the information provided or whether this meets the expectations of the Code 
requirements.  This would need to be confirmed by the FRC when they review the 2021/22 Annual 
Report and Accounts.  
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6



                 

 
DPF:  Brunel Performance Reporting (Reasonable Assurance) – Draft Report 
 
Review of the new quarterly performance monitoring report that was presented for the first time 
to the Investments and Pension Fund Committee in March 2023, was found to be comprehensive, 
and enables effective monitoring of investment performance of the portfolio of pooled assets 
managed by Brunel Pension Partnership on behalf of Devon Pension Fund (DPF) against the 
clearly defined performance targets laid down in DPF Investments Strategy. 
 
The overall DPF governance framework was found to be sound overall, with many layers of 
challenge and holding Brunel Pension Partnership to account over its investment performance at 
senior management level, committee / member level as well as externally.  However, the evidence 
to support this challenge, particularly at committee level is compromised where any key challenge 
during pre and post meeting briefings is not being recorded, resulting in the level of assurance 
that can be given around the effectiveness of holding Brunel to account over its investment 
performance being reduced to reasonable assurance.   
 
 
DPF / PP:  Actuarial Valuation 2022 (Substantial Assurance) – Draft Report 
 
The 2022 Actuarial Valuation had been concluded at the time of the audit, and all that was 
remaining was the final sign off of the valuation by Barnett Waddington, the Fund Actuary, and 
the publishing of the valuation of the Fund's website.   
 
As reported to the Investment and Pension Fund Committee in November 2022, the Fund 
Actuary, Barnett Waddingham, determined that the Devon Fund has a funding level of 98%, up 
from 91% at the 2019 Valuation.  The Fund’s assets were valued at £5,316 million against future 
pension liabilities assessed at £5,405 million, giving a deficit for this valuation of £89 million.  The 
indicative results had been communicated to most Employers at the time of the audit, and final 
Employer contributions were confirmed by the end of March 2023 although employers were in the 
process of being notified whilst the audit was taking place.  The Devon Pension Fund Funding 
Strategy Statement (FSS) has been revised and takes account of the assumptions and 
recommended contribution and secondary contribution rates.  The FFS was formally approved by 
the Investment and Pension Fund Committee on 3rd March 2023. 
 
Whilst the Actuarial Valuation process takes a project management approach that is subject to 
oversight by the DCC Pensions Management Group, and we note from our testing that that the 
Actuary’s target for data submission had been met.  We have made recommendations in relation 
to strengthening the communication flow audit trail. 
 
 
DPF / PP:  Cyber Security (Limited Assurance) 
 
We have identified a number of areas where we consider there to be significant gaps in the control 
framework.  
 

The overall cyber security risk is recognised on the Devon County Council's (DCC) corporate risk 
register, and it is also recorded within the Peninsula Pension's (PP) risk register. However, cyber 
security risks are not recorded within the DPF risk register which weakens governance and 
decision making regarding the risks identified and their potential mitigations.  
 

 
 

Page 30

Agenda Item 6



                 

 
The risk owners in place are experienced, but they have not received specific training in relation 
to cyber security nor risk management, yet there is evidence of the use of reputable external 
resources to support the mitigation and control of risks. Risk registers are a standing item on the 
agendas of the DPF Board meetings to discuss and scrutinise risks, including cyber security 
risks.   
 

While the Peninsula Pensions risk register included the risk of supplier failure, it did not include 
a mitigating control for the management of suppliers. The DPF risk register does not currently 
include any risks in relation to the failure of suppliers.  
 

Regarding Heywood’s (Altair), there is adequate supplier management in place. Annual meetings 
take place to discuss security requirements and emerging risks. Heywood’s supply 
communication on current topical areas of concern (the war in Ukraine for example), alongside 
having security review reports and accreditations, are available upon request.  
 

Regarding Logotech, supplier management is limited. Ongoing assurance is not routinely 
obtained to confirm that their cyber security risks are being managed effectively, and there are 
currently no established processes in place to determine the cyber security posture of Logotech. 
These weaknesses are detailed in our observations below.  
 

There is a contract in place, as well as supporting license terms and conditions, which state the 
responsibilities of both Heywood’s and Peninsula Pensions (DCC) for the use and maintenance 
of the system. However, the contract does not state the roles and responsibilities of both parties 
in the event of an incident. We were not able to obtain a copy of a contract with Logotech.  
 

As part of this audit, we arranged for a cyber security questionnaire to be sent to each of the 
suppliers/partners. We identified no significant immediate concerns regarding the responses 
received from Heywood’s regarding Altair. At the time of reporting there had been no response 
from Logotech or Brunel.  We have made observations to obtain further information/assurance 
from the suppliers.  
 

Neither DPF nor PP maintain an Information Asset Register. This is an expectation of the ICO to 
meet UK data protection legislation requirements and it can assist in the understanding and 
management of supplier risk.   
 

Mandatory cyber security training is available to all DCC staff and Members, however, not all PP, 
Investments Team staff or DCC Members on the Pension Board have completed the training or 
signed the relevant policy. The table below shows the percentage of those that have not 
completed the mandatory requirements.  
 

DPF Operational Teams 
(No. of Staff)  

Cyber Security 
Awareness 
Training   

Personal Information 
Security Policy   

DCC Investments Team (6)  33%  17%  

Peninsula Pensions (72)  17%  29%  

Members (8)  75%  88%  

 
 
There are Business Continuity Plans (BCP) for Devon Pension Fund (DPF) and Peninsula 
Pensions (PP), which use approved templates from Devon Emergency Planning Service. Both 
outline a cyber-attack/IT disruption as a reason to invoke the plan. The template requires 
confirmation of critical systems that need to be restored, alongside the priority of restore and 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



                 

“Recovery Time Objective” in the event of an incident. However, we have identified a number of 
areas for improvement regarding the content and management of the BCP plans in our 
observations below including conducting a specific Cyber BC exercise.  
 

Although reasonable, Altair and Logotech system access controls should be further strengthened 
by management controls to provide greater assurance in this area and our observations have 
been detailed below. Our observations focus on the management controls in place, and there 
were no concerns found with the services that Heywood / Altair provide.  
 

It is noted from the DCC Main Accounting System audit from October 2022, there were 
weaknesses identified in the administration of the user accounts for the online banking system. 
However, there are compensating controls in place with further actions being undertaken by the 
responsible officer to improve the controls in this area.   
 
Positively, in line with external guidance from Pensions and Lifetime Savings Association, PP 
have recently developed a Cyber Security Policy, which references the DCC framework of IT 
security policies and procedures that are in place.  
 
 
PP:   Transfers Out – Fraud Risk (Substantial Assurance) 
 
The mitigating controls in place for processing pension benefit transfer requests and minimising 
the risk of fraud and members falling victim to pension scams was found to be robust and there 
was a clear audit trail in place to support the due diligence process.   This is much to the credit of 
the management and staff within Peninsula Pensions who have worked hard to tighten controls 
in this area, to ensure that, they are fully compliant with their statutory obligations in this area. 
 
The key fraud and pension scam due diligence checks carried out to detect "red" and / or "amber" 
flags, were found to be well evidenced, and where any flags / concerns were identified during the 
process, there was clear evidence of these being followed up.   Furthermore, the "Transfer Out 
Training Notes" produced for pension staff who administer the transfer process were found to be 
comprehensive and adhered to both The Pension Regulator and the Pension Scam Industry 
Guidance Good Practice Codes. 
 
During my review, there was no evidence of any incidents of fraud or where any members had 
fallen victim to pension scams.  
 
 
PP:   Escrow Bank Account (Substantial Assurance) 
 
There are effective and efficient controls in place to ensure that unclaimed refunds of contributions 
and death grants are moved out of the Fund prior to reaching an age that they attract unauthorised 
payment charges and sanctions, the account is monitored and reviewed regularly, and payments 
made are accurate and not duplicate or fraudulent.  
  
The Finance Manager maintains a spreadsheet detailing all payments that have been moved 
across into the account, and all payments that have been made from the account. The bank 
statements for the account are reviewed and authorised by both the Finance Manager and the 
Pensions Technical Manager.  
  
We reviewed a sample containing both refunds and death benefits paid out, and refunds and 
death benefits still held in the account. We found that all payments made were accurate, timely 

Page 32

Agenda Item 6



                 

and that records had been maintained to ensure there could be no duplication. All payments still 
in the account were found to be accurate with adequate supporting documentation.  
 
 
PP – Employer Interface Data Quality (Ongoing) 
 
Audit Scope 
Paragraphs 121 - 130 of the Pensions Regulator's Code of Practice provides guidance on scheme 
record keeping which aligns the legal requirements set out in the Public Service Pensions (Record 
Keeping and Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2014 (‘the Record Keeping Regulations’). 
 

It states: "Scheme managers must establish and operate adequate internal controls, which should 
include processes and systems to support record-keeping requirements and ensure that they are 
effective at all times.   
 

Schemes should require participating employers to provide them with timely and accurate data in 
order for the scheme manager to be able to fulfil their legal obligations. Schemes should seek to 
ensure that processes are established by employers which enable the transmission of complete 
and accurate data from the outset”.   
 
Devon Audit Partnership have been commissioned to support Peninsula Pensions with: 
 

1. providing assurance on the accuracy of the monthly care pay information submitted 
through the interfaces by the scheme employers, to ensure it looks reasonable, tracking 
of trends, and comparing FTE data provided against set parameters.   
 

2. Production of Performance Management Information for both Devon and Somerset 
Pension Boards relating to the performance of employers, through the creation of a 
dashboard viewable at both Fund and Employer level from which Fund / Employer report 
card summary sheets can be produced as PDFs.  

 
Progress as at March 2023 
This work is underway. The Power BI pension dashboard for reviewing the quality of the CARE 
pay information and monitoring of trends, is being designed.  The data for one of the employer’s 
selected has been cleansed and made usable for Power BI.  The wider issue of information / data 
governance is also being reviewed as part of this. The Power BI dashboard for performance 
management reporting is also in the process of being developed.   
 
This review commenced in March 2023 and will be ongoing throughout 2023/24 as this is rolled 
out for all employers across both the Devon and Somerset Pension Funds. 
 
 
 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



                 

Appendix B 

Organisation Assurance Opinion definitions  
 
Opinion   Definitions  

 

Substantial Assurance A sound system of governance, risk management and control exist 
across the organisation, with internal controls operating effectively 
and being consistently applied to support the achievement of 
strategic and operational objectives. 

 
Reasonable Assurance There are generally sound systems of governance, risk 

management and control in place across the organisation. Some 
issues, non-compliance or scope for improvement were identified 
which may put at risk the achievement of some of the strategic and 
operational objectives. 

 
Limited Assurance Significant gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance were identified 

across the organisation. Improvement is required to the system of 
governance, risk management and control to effectively manage 
risks and ensure that strategic and operational objectives can be 
achieved. 

 
No Assurance Immediate action is required to address fundamental control gaps, 

weaknesses or issues of non-compliance identified across the 
organisation. The system of governance, risk management and 
control is inadequate to effectively manage risks to the achievement 
of strategic and operational objectives. 

 
 

Individual Assignment Assurance Opinions definitions  
 
Substantial Assurance A sound system of governance, risk management and control 

exists, with internal controls operating effectively and being 
consistently applied to support the achievement of objectives in the 
area audited. 

 
Reasonable Assurance There is a generally sound system of governance, risk management 

and control in place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for 
improvement were identified which may put at risk the achievement 
of objectives in the area audited. 

 
Limited Assurance Significant gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance were identified. 

Improvement is required to the system of governance, risk 
management and control to effectively manage risks to the 
achievement of objectives in the area audited. 

 
No Assurance Immediate action is required to address fundamental gaps, 

weaknesses or non-compliance identified. The system of 
governance, risk management and control is inadequate to 
effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the 
area audited. 

Page 34

Agenda Item 6



 

 
 

DF/23/59 
Investment and Pension Fund Committee  
16 June 2023 
 

INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT REPORT  

Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value  

Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and 
determination by the Committee before taking effect.  

 

1) Recommendation 

That the Committee be asked: 
(a) That the Investment Management Report be noted. 
(b) To note compliance with the 2022-23 Treasury Management Strategy. 

 

2) Fund Value and Asset Allocation 

The table below shows the Fund value and the asset allocation for the Fund compared to 
the target asset allocation as at 31 March 2023. 
 

Fund Value 

as at 

31.03.23

Fund asset 

allocation 

at 31.03.23

Variation 

from 

Target

£m % % %

Fixed Interest

Sterling Corporate Bonds 347.5 7 6.5

Multi-Asset Credit 634.5 12 11.9

Cash 72.8 1 1.4

1,054.8 20 19.8 -0.2

Equities

Passive Equities 1,412.7 25 26.5

Global High Alpha Equities 297.0 5 5.6

Global Smaller Companies 280.9 5 5.3

Emerging Markets 236.6 5 4.4

Sustainable Equities 520.8 10 9.8

2,748.0 50 51.6 +1.6

Alternatives/Other

Diversifying Returns Funds 368.5 6 6.9

UK Property 364.1 8 6.9

International Property 103.8 2 2.0

Infrastructure 477.0 8 9.0

Private Equity 45.0 3 0.9

Private Debt 151.6 3 2.9

1,510.0 30 28.6 -1.4

Total Fund 5,312.8 100 100.0

Target 

allocation 

2022/23

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

The key points with regard to the end of quarter asset allocation are summarised below: 

a) The Fund value as at 31 March 2023 stood at £5,312.8 million, an increase of 
around £185 million over the quarter but a decrease of £100 million since 31 March 
2022. 

b) The fixed income allocation remains within 1% of the target allocation. The 
overweight to equities has grown slightly after a good quarter but remains within 2% 
of target. 

c) Negative returns on UK Property have taken it 1% below the target allocation, while 
the drawdown of commitments on Private Equity is taking longer than anticipated.  

d) No rebalancing is proposed. 

Geographical Weighting of Equity Allocation 

e) The following chart gives the geographical split of the Fund’s equity allocations 
against the FTSE All World Index geographical weightings. 

Geographical Split of Equity Allocation compared to the FTSE All World Index

UK Europe North Japan Asia/Pacific Emerging

Ex UK America (ex Japan) Markets

                %

Fund: March 2022 18.0 13.0 52.6 4.3 3.4 8.7

Fund: March 2023 17.7 15.1 50.0 4.2 2.7 10.3

FTSE All World 4.1 13.1 61.5 6.4 4.7 10.2

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

 

 

f) The Fund retains an overweight to the UK via the investment in the UK Climate 
Transition Benchmark Tracker Fund. The Committee has previously agreed to retain 
an overweight position to the UK for the time being, on the basis that the US market 
has appeared expensive, whereas the UK market looks comparatively cheap.  

g) The underperformance of the UK allocation can to some extent be explained by the 
UK market not being favoured by global investors due to the impact of Brexit and 
Covid. The UK market performed comparatively well in relation to the global market 
during 2022/23, partly due to its sectoral biases, i.e. the bias towards the financial 
services and energy sectors. 

 

  

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

3) Fund Performance 

The performance of the Total Fund over the last quarter, the financial year to date, and on a 
rolling three and five year basis is shown in the following chart. 
 
Longer Term Fund Performance Summary 

Latest Quarter 2022/23 3 Years 5 Years

% % % pa % pa

Fund 3.4 -1.5 10.0 5.3

Benchmark 3.2 0.9 11.1 6.7

Relative Return 0.2 -2.4 -1.1 -1.4

LGPS Universe 2.9 -3.3 8.9 5.6

-5

0

5

10

15

Return
%

 
Source for LGPS Universe: PIRC Local Authority Pension Performance Analytics 
 
The performance statistics quoted are net of fees. The LGPS universe figures for the last 
quarter are based on the asset allocation of the PIRC Local Authority Universe with index 
returns applied. The previous periods are updated to include actual Universe returns.  
 
The Fund achieved a positive return of +3.4% over the quarter to 31 March. The return for 
the financial year remained negative at -1.5%. Equity and bond markets both rallied over 
the quarter and the Brunel active portfolios outperformed their benchmarks, although 
performance against benchmark for the financial year was mixed. Underperformance in the 
early part of the financial year reflected the bias of most of the active equity portfolios 
towards “growth” companies and those with sustainable revenues, which did less well over 
the period than “value” companies and oil/energy companies which performed strongly.  
This reversed to some extent during the last quarter, allowing the Brunel portfolios to out-
perform. 
 
The total fund underperformance against benchmark for the year can be largely attributed 
to fund benchmarks that are cash plus benchmarks, which are always going to be below 
target when returns are negative. Multi-asset credit and the Diversified Returns Funds 
portfolios have returned -3.4% and -2.9% respectively against a benchmark of +6.3% which 
has contributed over three quarters of the total fund under-performance.  
 
Infrastructure and private debt also underperformed against benchmark. These asset 
classes are compared against an inflation plus benchmark, and with the high current level 
of inflation were not able to completely keep up. 
 
A breakdown of the performance of the Total Fund for the year and three years to 31 March 
2023 and the comparative Index returns are shown in the following table:  
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

Performance to 31 March 2023 

Financial Year 

To Date
Three Years

Benchmark Description

Fund 

Return

Bench 

mark

Fund 

Return

Bench 

mark

% % % %

Fixed Interest

Investment Grade Bonds -10.7 -10.2 -5.7 -6.2 iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilts 
2

Multi-Asset Credit -3.4 +6.3 +6.3 +9.9 GBP SONIA +4% 
2

Cash +0.7 +2.2 +0.4 +0.8 GBP 7 Day LIBID

Equities

Passive Equities -0.8 -0.6 +14.8 +15.0 Devon Passive Index

Global High Alpha Equities +0.4 -0.5 +17.9 +17.1 FTSE World / MSCI World

Global Smaller Companies -2.8 -3.0 - - MSCI World Small Cap

Emerging Markets -5.1 -4.5 +7.1 +8.3 MSCI Emerging Markets

Sustainable Equities -1.3 -0.9 - - MSCI AC World 

Low Volatility Equities
1 -0.4 -8.4 - - MSCI AC World 

Alternatives/Other

Diversifying Returns Funds -2.9 +6.4 +6.2 +4.9 GBP SONIA +4%
 2

UK Property -12.9 -14.4 +2.3 +1.4 AREF/IPD UK All Property

International Property +9.1 +17.5 +9.8 +11.2 MSCI Global Property

Infrastructure +13.6 +14.4 +7.7 +10.2 CPI + 4% *

Private Equity +3.1 -0.9 - - MSCI AC World 

Private Debt +8.1 +14.4 +7.3 +10.2 CPI + 4% *

Total Fund -1.5 +0.9 +10.0 +11.1  Devon Bespoke Index

Sector

 
1. Performance to redemption in June 2022. 
2. the benchmark shown is the current benchmark, but the benchmark return will also incorporate 

the benchmarks applicable for the earlier part of the 3 year period where the benchmark has 
changed as a result of transition to Brunel.  

 
a) Investment Grade bonds delivered a positive 2.7% return over the quarter but remain 

negative over the financial year to date following a -18% return over the six months 
from April to September.  

b) Multi-Asset Credit represents the riskier end of the listed fixed income market. As 
with investment grade bonds, a positive return over the quarter was not enough to 
offset the negative returns of the earlier part of the year. The benchmark is a cash 
plus benchmark, so will always be positive, and in a period of negative returns will 
always be difficult to achieve. Comparisons with the wider multi-asset credit market 
show that performance of the Brunel portfolio has been broadly in line with what 
would be expected in the prevailing market conditions. 

c) All equity portfolios delivered an above benchmark positive return over the quarter. 
However, performance on 3 of the 4 current active equity portfolios remained 
marginally below benchmark for the year, as a result of the under-performance of 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

growth stocks against value stocks in the earlier part of the year over a period when 
oil company shares were the best performers. 

d) There was a small positive return on the Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund (DRF) 
over the quarter, but the return remains negative for the year to date, reflecting the 
negative returns across both equity and bond markets over the preceding nine 
months. 

e) UK Property had a second consecutive negative quarter, taking the return for the 
year to -12.9%, having been positive over the first two quarters. This can be 
attributed to the lag in pricing private markets, which means that the negative 
sentiment affecting markets earlier in the year is now being reflected in the net asset 
values of property funds. 

Currency Hedging 

f) The following graph shows the value of Sterling against a weighted average of the 
other major currencies, over the three years to 31 March 2023. The currency 
strategy agreed by the Committee is to increase or decrease the hedge ratio on the 
Fund’s global passive equity funds based on the ranges as shown on the chart. The 
middle (base 100) position reflects a weighted average of £1 = $1.40, £1 = €1.15 and 
£1 = ¥150. 

Value of Sterling v. Weighted Average of US Dollar, Euro and Yen 

Change to 100% Hedge Change to 50% Hedge

Change to 75% Hedge

80

85

90

95

100

105

110

115

25% Hedge

0% Hedge

50% Hedge

75% Hedge

100% Hedge

 

g) Since March 2022, the value of Sterling has fallen from $1.317 to $1.236 as at 31 
March 2023. While the pound has rallied from the low point of the Autumn “mini-
budget”, it still remains lower than it started the 2022/23 financial year, as investors 
have seen the US Dollar as a safe haven during a time of global instability.   

h) During a period when the Pound is falling in value, any currency hedging strategy is 
going to perform badly compared to an unhedged strategy. As a result, the hedging 
strategy has detracted from performance compared with an unhedged strategy over 
the last year, but has added value over the three year period, as shown in the 
following graph.  

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

Returns Cumulative Last Annualised

Since 31/03/20 Quarter 1 Year 3 Years

Hedged +56.3% +7.4% -6.2% +16.1%

Unhedged +59.2% +4.8% -0.6% +16.8%

Devon +62.1% +6.7% -2.9% +17.4%

75

100

125

150

175

World Developed Passive Performance

Cumulative Return over Three Years

Hedged Unhedged Devon

 

 

4) Funding Level 

The triennial actuarial valuation, as at 31 March 2022, carried out by the Fund Actuary, 
Barnett Waddingham, determined that the Devon Pension Fund had a funding level of 
98.4%.  
 
The Fund Actuary has provided a funding update, as at 31 March 2023, using the approach 
of rolling forward the data from the 2022 valuation, and updating it for subsequent 
investment returns, pension and salary increases. While it is not possible to assess the 
accuracy of the estimated liability as at 31 March 2023 without completing a full valuation, 
the results will be indicative of the underlying position.  
 
a) The returns over the period since the 2022 Triennial Valuation are shown in the 

following table. 
 

Return since 31 March 2022 compared with Actuarial Assumption 
 

Actuarial Actual

Assumption Return

2022/23 4.7% -1.5%  
 
b) The negative investment return of -1.5% for 2022/23 is well below the Actuary’s 

assumption of a +4.7% return. This has a negative impact on the value of Fund 
assets and therefore on the funding level.  

 

Page 40

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

c) The valuation of liabilities depends on the assumptions used by the Actuary, in 
particular those for pension and salary increases and the discount rate applied to 
liabilities. The assumptions used by the Actuary for the March 2023 funding update, 
compared with those used in the 2022 Triennial Valuation are shown in the following 
table. 
 

Pension Increases (CPI) 2.90% 2.47%

Salary Increases 3.90% 3.47%

Discount Rate 4.70% 4.79%

Actuarial Assumptions March 

2022

March 

2023

 
 

d) The assumption for pension and salary increases has been reduced, but this is offset 
by the pension increase applicable from April 2023, which is now reflected as an 
actual increase. The average inflation assumed going forward therefore now 
excludes the April 2023 increase. 
 

e) The chart below shows the change in the estimated funding level between 31 March 
2022 and 31 March 2023. The circled items show the effect of employer and 
employee contributions paid into the fund over the year offset by the additional 
pension liability accrued over the year, and then the impact of the April 2023 pension 
increase offset by the reduced inflation assumption going forward. The biggest 
impact is from the negative investment return during 2022/23 which has the effect of 
reducing the funding level by 5%. 
 

93.3%

F
u

n
d

in
g

 L
e

v
e

l

3
1

M
a

rc
h

 2
0

2
2

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s

R
e

ce
iv

e
d

N
e

w
 P

e
n

si
o

n

A
cc

ru
e

d

In
v

e
st

m
e

n
t 

R
e

tu
rn

s

v
. 

A
ss

u
m

e
d

C
h

a
n

h
e

 in
 

D
is

co
u

n
t 

R
a

te

A
p

ri
l 2

0
2

3

P
e

n
si

o
n

In
cr

e
a

se

C
h

a
n

e
 in

 O
n

g
o

in
g

In
fl

a
ti

o
n

A
ss

u
m

p
ti

o
n

F
u

n
d

in
g

 L
e

v
e

l

3
1

M
a

rc
h

 2
0

2
3

98.4%

 
 

f) In summary, the estimated funding level as at 31 March 2023 is 93.3%, compared 
with the funding level as at the 2022 Triennial Valuation of 98.4%.  

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

 

5) Budget Forecast 2022/23 

Appendix 1 shows the income and expenditure for 2022/23 against the original budget 
forecast, and the budget for 2023/24. The following points should be noted. 

Outturn Position 2022/23 

a) Following the backdated implementation of the local government pay award, 
employer and employee contributions were higher than originally forecast. The 
pension benefits paid were broadly in line with forecast. 

b) Investment income from property, infrastructure and private debt is received in cash 
and can be used to aid cashflow. Income for the year was higher than the original 
forecast. This reflects the growing allocation to private markets, resulting in a higher 
level of distributions. 

c) Peninsula Pensions’ expenditure was higher than forecast. This can be ascribed to a 
reduction in vacancies and a more fully resourced team. 

d) The invoiced investment management fees line represents the costs of Brunel. All 
other fees are taken directly from the funds and are charged based on a percentage 
of the value of the assets under management. Fees for the year were lower than 
anticipated as a result of negative investment returns and therefore lower asset 
values. 

e) Transaction costs for the year to date were higher than anticipated partly because of 
the costs of redeeming and re-investing the Low Volatility allocation. The increasing 
allocation to private markets also contributed to the higher transaction costs 

f) Oversight and Governance costs were broadly in line with the budget forecast, with 
small variances on the individual headings.  

Budget Forecast 2023/24 

g) The employer contributions budget forecast for 2023/24 takes account of the 
estimated pay increase, plus the revised contribution rates set by the 2022 triennial 
valuation.  

h) Pensions in payment will be significantly higher due to the 10.1% increase 
implemented from April 2023. There is also an allowance for an increase in the 
number of pensioners. 

i) Investment income will continue to grow as a result of further drawdowns of private 
markets commitments leading to an increase in distributions. The investment 
management fees payable will depend on the investment returns achieved, but on 
the assumption that modest positive returns will be achieved there should be an 
increase on the 2022/23 fees payable. 

j) The budgets for Pensions and Investments administration, governance and oversight 
costs are set out in greater detail in Appendix 2. Good governance requires that the 
committee must be satisfied with the resource and budget allocated to deliver the 
LGPS service over the next financial year, and the more detailed breakdown should 
help to provide the Committee with the required assurance. 

 

Page 42

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

6) Cash Management 

The following table shows that the unallocated cash on deposit, as at 31 March 2023, was 
£59.7 million, plus $1.1 million in US Dollars. The two term deposits in place as at 31 March 
matured during May, and the overall level of cash was reduced by the requirement to fund 
private market calls. The cash held is being maintained at a target level of only 1% of the 
Fund, and it is therefore necessary to ensure its liquidity for cashflow purposes. 

Cash on Deposit 

GBP Deposits £m % £m %
Call and Notice Accounts Immediate 44.7 4.08 42.2 4.40

35 Day Notice 0.0 0.0

Term Deposits <30 Days 0.0 0.0

>30 Days 15.0 4.22 0.0

TOTAL GBP 59.7 4.12 42.2 4.40

USD Deposits $m % $m %

Call and Notice Accounts Immediate 1.1 4.91 2.4 4.44

Current 

as at 

31/05/23

Average 

Interest 

Rate

Type of Deposit Maturity 

period

Actual 

as at 

31/03/23

Average 

Interest 

Rate

 
 
Points to note: 

a) The weighted average rate being earned on GBP cash deposits, as at 31 March 
2023, was 4.12%. By the end of May this had increased marginally to 4.4% as rates 
have continued to improve as the Bank of England have continued to make regular 
increases to the base rate. 

b) The deposits in place during 2022-23 fully complied with the Fund’s Treasury 
Management and Investment Strategy. 

 
 

7) Voting and Engagement 

As a responsible investor, the Fund should report regularly on its engagement activity. Each 
year the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) publishes a list of asset owners and asset 
managers who are accredited signatories to the UK Stewardship Code, which sets high 
standards for how asset owners should fulfil their responsibilities as owners of the assets 
they hold. The Devon Pension Fund are accredited signatories to the Code. 
 
Voting and engagement are delegated to the Brunel Pension Partnership for the actively 
managed equity portfolios and to Legal and General Investment Management (LGIM) for 
the passive portfolios. On significant issues, Brunel may request that their shares held by 
LGIM are split out and a different vote made. The voting records of Brunel and LGIM at 
company meetings held over the last quarter is summarised in the following table. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

Votes Cast at Company Meetings in the quarter to 31 March 2023 

Manager

Number of 

Meetings

Number of 

Resolutions

Votes against 

management 

recommendation

Brunel / LGIM Passive Portfolios 526                6,390             1,262                       

Brunel - Active Portfolios 124                1,313             193                          

Quarter to 31 March 2023

 
 

Points to note: 

a) Brunel actively vote the shares held within their funds on behalf of their client funds, 
including Devon. The Brunel/LGIM passive allocation will include all the companies 
in the relevant indices, both UK and across the developed world, hence there are 
many more meetings voted at than for the active portfolios.  

b) The votes against management recommendations will reflect matters where there is 
concern that the company is not addressing the relevant issue and managing it 
effectively. The Devon Fund would expect that the votes against management 
should be primarily on the priority areas set out in the Fund’s Investment Strategy 
Statement. An analysis of the issues where votes have been cast against 
management recommendations is set out below. 

Votes against management recommendation by issue 
Quarter to 31 March 2023 

     Board stucture

     Remuneration

     Shareholder

 resolutions

     Capital structure and

 dividends

     Amend articles

     Audit and accounts

     Investment, mergers

 and acquisitions

     Other

98

33

28

8

6
10

3

7

Brunel Active Portfolios

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

Director Related

Remuneration

Capital Structure and Dividends

Audit and accounts

Environmental/Climate

Social/Human Rights/Diversity

Corporate Governance

Restructuring/M&A

Other

650

298

9

64

2
16

33 6
184

Brunel Passive (LGIM) Portfolios

 

 

c) The Fund is also a member of the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF), 
who undertake engagement activity on behalf of their member funds. Where 
significant issues arise on the agendas of company meetings, LAPFF will issue 
voting alerts, with recommendations on how to vote. The Devon Fund will then pass 
on these recommendations to Brunel and ask them to report back on how they have 
voted.  

d) Only one voting alerts was issued during the quarter to 31 March, which is shown in 
Appendix 3 to this report. Starbucks is not held in any of Brunel’s active portfolios, 
but the votes cast by LGIM on the passive portfolios are set out, along with the 
rationale for how LGIM voted. 

e) Brunel conduct significant engagement with investee companies on behalf of the 
Devon Fund and other clients. A breakdown of the engagement undertaken over the 
last quarter is summarised in the following charts: 

  

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



 

 
 

Number of Companies 
Engaged With, By Region 

 Breakdown of Issues  
Engaged On 

 

27

89

145

45

20

         

36.1%

28.4%

24.8%

10.7%

 

United Kingdom Environmental

Europe Social and Ethical

North America Governance

Asia/Pacific Strategy Risk and Communication

Emerging Markets  

 

f) More details on Brunel’s engagement can be found in their quarterly report. 

g) The LAPFF quarterly engagement report for the quarter to 31 March is attached at 
Appendix 4 to this report. The report outlines the range of issues on which LAPFF 
has been engaging with companies on behalf of its member LGPS funds. This 
includes engaging with the fast food sector on water usage and with car 
manufacturers on their plans to switch production to electric vehicles.  

 
 
 
 
Angie Sinclair 
Director of Finance and Public Value 
 
Electoral Divisions: All  
 

Local Government Act 1972: List of background papers 

Nil 
 
Contact for enquiries: 
Name: Mark Gayler  
Telephone: 01392 383621 
Address: Room 196 County Hall 

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



Appendix 1

Actual

Original 

Forecast Actual

Variance 

from 

Original

Budget 

Forecast

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23 Forecast 2023/24
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Contributions

Employers (128,172) (132,000) (141,245) (9,245) (165,000)

Members (45,260) (45,000) (49,905) (4,905) (52,000)

Transfers in from other pension funds: (13,324) (14,000) (13,253) 747 (14,000)

(186,756) (191,000) (204,403) (13,403) (231,000)

Benefits

Pensions 168,391 175,000 176,799 1,799 200,000

Commutation and lump sum retirement benefits 29,018 28,000 27,720 (280) 30,000

Lump sum death benefits 3,623 4,000 3,826 (174) 4,000

Payments to and on account of leavers 596 600 981 381 1,000

Transfers Out 26,037 10,000 9,140 (860) 10,000

227,665 217,600 218,466 866 245,000

Net Withdrawals from dealings with fund members 40,909 26,600 14,063 (12,537) 14,000

Investment Income

Received as Cash (31,129) (32,000) (39,113) (7,113) (40,000)

Reinvested by Fund Manager (2,518) 0 0 0 0

(33,647) (32,000) (39,113) (7,113) (40,000)

Administrative costs

Peninsula Pensions 2,429 2,500 2,602 102 2,864

2,429 2,500 2,602 102 2,864

Investment management expenses

External investment management fees - invoiced 1,684 1,500 1,511 11 1,650

External investment management fees - not invoiced 21,662 23,500 21,602 (1,898) 24,000

Custody fees 62 60 30 (30) 35

Transaction costs 1,794 1,500 1,980 480 1,800

Stock lending income & commission recapture (2) 0 0 0 0

Class Action Proceeds (43) 0 0 0 0

Other investment management expenses 24 30 27 (3) 30

25,181 26,590 25,150 (1,440) 27,515

Oversight and governance costs

Investment & Pension Fund Committee Support 81 90 92 2 95

Pension Board 40 44 41 (3) 45

Investment Oversight and Accounting 413 400 388 (12) 420

Brunel Pension Partnership 25 30 20 (10) 10

Legal Support 24 26 37 11 30

Actuarial Services 29 100 107 7 40

Investment Performance Measurement 109 100 72 (28) 75

Subscriptions 54 50 58 8 61

Internal Audit fees 37 35 21 (14) 24

External Audit fees 31 35 47 12 50

843 910 883 (27) 850

Total Management Expenses 28,453 30,000 28,635 (1,365) 31,229

Devon County Council Pension Fund Budget Outturn 2022/23 and Budget 2023/24

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



Appendix 2 

Devon Pension Fund Administration, Governance and Oversight Budgets 
 
 
Notes 

 
Peninsula Pensions receive income from service level agreements 
(SLAs) with Gloucestershire Fire and Avon and Somerset Police. 
The total team costs, net of the SLA income, are shared between 
the Devon and Somerset Pension Funds, with Devon meeting 
approximately 65% of the costs.  
 

IT costs include the annual cost of pensions administration software 
provided by Heywoods and internal DCC IT support. 
 
Finance Support includes the costs of the Finest accounting system 
and accounting and transformation team support. 
 

 
 
Finance Officer Support for the Committee comprises apportioned 
costs of the Director of Finance and Public Value, the Head of 
Investments, the Investment Manager and the Head of Peninsula 
Pensions.  
 

The Democratic Services costs reflect the cost of the committee 
clerk in co-ordinating committee papers and minuting the meetings.  
 

Finance Officer Support for the Board comprises apportioned costs 
of the Deputy Director of Finance and Public Value, the Investment 
Manager, the Head of Peninsula Pensions and the Employer and 
Communications Manager.  
 
 

  

Actual 

2022/23

Budget 

2023/24

£'000 £'000

Pensions Administration

Peninsula Pensions Team Cost 1,688 1,917

Printing and Postage 165 207

IT Costs 613 598

Accommodation 61 65

Finance Support 37 38

Communications 19 19

Human Resources 16 16

Procurement 3 4

2,602 2,864

Investment and Pension Fund Committee Support

Finance/Investment Officer Support 62 67

Democratic Services 4 4

Member Allowances (apportioned) 18 18

Training and Expenses 6 6

90 95

Pension Board Support

Finance Officer Support 36 37

Democratic Services 4 4

Training and Expenses 1 4

41 45

P
age 48

A
genda Item

 7



Appendix 2 
 

Notes 
 
 
Corporate management includes the apportioned costs of the 
Director of Finance and Public Value, the Deputy Director and the 
Head of Financial Systems and Processes in managing the Pension 
Fund. Investment Management comprises the apportioned costs of 
the DCC Investments Team, including the Head of Investments. 
Accounting Support comprises the costs of the Pension Fund 
accounting team. 
 
Brunel Pension Partnership Oversight comprises the cost of external 
support to the Brunel Client Group in monitoring the performance of 
Brunel.  
 
Pensions Administration legal support is provided by the DCC Legal 
Services. The Investments team may need ad-hoc legal advice from 
time to time. 
 
The Fund Actuary provides regular advice, funding updates, 
covenant and bond reviews, etc. The 2022/23 actual expenditure 
includes the cost of the triennial valuation. 
 
State Street investment performance measurement services provide 
investment return figures on the Fund’s investments broken down by 
fund and asset class over a range of time periods. PIRC provide 
comparisons with the LGPS universe and also provide risk statistics 
required for the Annual Report. 
 
 
The Fund pays subscription fees to the organisations shown in 
return for a broad range of services. The Local Government 
Association and Scheme Advisory Board levies are non-
discretionary.  
 
 
 

Actual 

2022/23

Budget 

2023/24

£'000 £'000

Investment Oversight and Accounting

Corporate Management 98 104

Investment Management 191 199

Accounting Support 99 117

388 420

Brunel Pension Partnership Oversight 30 10

Legal Support

Pensions Administration 19 19

Investments 18 11

37 30

Actuarial Services 107 40

Investment Performance Measurement

State Street 63 65

PIRC Ltd. 9 10

72 75

Subscriptions and Levies

Local Authority Pension Fund Forum 10 11

Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change 5 5

Pension and Lifetime Savings Association 22 22

Local Government Association 7 7

LGPS Scheme Advisory Board 9 11

CIPFA Pensions Network 5 5

58 61

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 7



Appendix 2 

Budget 

2022/23

Budget 

2023/24

£'000 £'000

Audit Fees

Internal (Devon Audit Partnership) 22 24

External (Grant Thornton) 35 40

57 64

 
Notes 
 

Devon Audit Partnership provide 40 days of assurance work 
on the governance and investment arrangements of the Fund 
and 45 days to Peninsula Pensions. 
 
Grant Thornton are the appointed external auditors of the 
Fund. 

P
age 50

A
genda Item

 7



Appendix 3

LAPFF Voting Alerts

Starbucks - 23 March 2023 Active Portfolios held in: None

Target Resolutions
LAPFF 

Recommend-

ation

LGIM 
(Passive) Vote

Brunel 
(Active) Vote

Vote Outcome

Not Approved

(94.7% votes Against)

Not Approved 

(79.0% votes Against)

Approved 

(52.0% votes For)

Not Approved

(97.3% votes Against)

LGIM Rationales:

5:

6:

8:

9:

N/AOpposeForSuccession Planning Policy Amendment6:

5: Report and Plant Based Milk Pricing For Oppose N/A

9: Creation of Board Committee on Corporate Sustainability Oppose Oppose N/A

8: Assessing Workers’ Rights Commitments For For N/A

A vote against was applied because it is in shareholder's interests that the company passes on the additional costs of providing 

non-dairy milk alternatives that are currently more expensive to purchase.

A vote in favour was applied. This is despite an engagement with the company where the company provided sufficient 

information to suggest they respect employee's rights to freedom of association and collective bargaining. The reason for 

supporting the resolution is because LGIM believed Starbucks would benefit from having an independent assessment being 

carried out which would either clear them of any wrongdoing or help them to improve on their current practices.

A vote against was applied because the work of the corporate sustainability is being carried out by the company's Nominations 

and Governance Committee where discussions are tabled at each meeting. LGIM do not see the need for an additional 

committee if the company has decided that this is a better use of director's time to combine the work of these committees into 

the same meeting.

A vote against was applied because following the submission of the shareholder resolution, the board took on board most of the 

concerns raised and strengthened its succession planning procedures.

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



�����������	
������
���
���������������������� ��� !" #$%&�'() *+�,%$) -!$.!)  #!"/'($$�'%!" *+�"0/) 1�'(+ �'(2�+0/3%4 55555555555567789:;<5=
Page 52

Agenda Item 7



����������	��
���
���������������������������������� �!�������"����#$�%&%'()*+,-./0-1,10*0-23456789:;7<=>?@ABC?=CD?=EFGFHBGI=JB@K@=CDGC=HIBLGC?=HDGFM?=AN@?@=CN=BFO?@CNJ@P=@DGJ?DNIQ?J@=QN=FNC=DGO?=G=@A?HBEH=ONC?=GC=RST@=NF=G=HNLAGFUV@=GAAJNGHD=CN=CJGF@BCBNFBFM=CN=F?C=W?JNX=YDB@=B@=GF=B@@Z?=CDGC=[R\]]=DG@=JGB@?Q=̂BCD=HNLAGFB?@=BFHIZQBFM=CDJNZMD=G=_NBFC=I?CC?J=GD?GQ=Ǹ=CD?=abaa=RST=@?G@NFX=cBFH?=CD?FP=dT=YJ?G@ZJU=DG@=?@CGeIB@D?Q=CD?=fg=YJGF@BCBNF=\IGF=YG@K̀NJH?P=̂DBHD=B@=Q?O?INABFM=G=hMNIQ=@CGFQGJQV=̀NJ=HIBLGC?=CJGF@BCBNF=AIGF@X=R=H?FCJGI=AJBFHBAI?=Ǹ=CJGF@BCBNF=AIGF@=B@=CDGC=CD?U=@DNZIQ=e?=BFC?MJGI=CN=G=HNLAGFUV@=NO?JGII=@CJGC?MUX=i?C=Q?@ABC?=@ZHD=Q?O?INAL?FC@=@DGJ?jDNIQ?J@=GJ?=M?F?JGIIU=FNC=MBO?F=G=hcGU=NF=kIBLGC?V=ONC?=GC=RST@=CN=GAAJNO?=CD?BJ=HIBLGC?=AIGF@X=YN=GQQJ?@@=CDB@=MGAP=[R\]]P=GINFM@BQ?=cGJG@BF=l=\GJCF?J@P=kk[RP=GFQ=CD?=mCDN@=]NZFQGCBNFP=̂JNC?=CN=CD?=]Ycm=RIIjcDGJ?=n?oHIZQBFM=BFO?@CL?FC=CJZ@C@p=J?qZ?@CBFM= CDGC=eNGJQ@=AJNOBQ?=@DGJ?DNIQ?J@=̂BCD=CD?=NAANJCZFBCU=CN=@ZAANJC=CD?BJ=MJ??FjDNZ@?=MG@=?LB@@BNF=J?QZHCBNF=@CJGC?MU=eU=AZCCBFM=GF=GAAJNAJBGC?=J?@NIZCBNF=NF=CD?=RST=GM?FQGX=�8r:7;7stuYD?=I?CC?J=DBMDIBMDC?Q=CD?=BLANJCGFH?=Ǹ=CD?=B@@Z?=̂BCD=HNLAGFB?@=GHJN@@=CD?=]Ycm=RIIjcDGJ?X=cNL?=HNLAGjFB?@=J?@ANFQ?Q=eU=@CGCBFM=CDGC=CD?U=?̂J?=AIGFFBFM=CN=DGO?=GF=GFFZGI=cGU=NF=kIBLGC?=ONC?=̂DBI?=NCD?J@=FNC?Q=CDGC=CD?J?=̂NZIQ=e?=G=ONC?=?O?JU=CDJ??=U?GJ@=CN=GAAJNO?=CD?BJ=CJB?FFBGI=HIBLGC?=AIGFX=dN̂ ?O?JP=LN@C=HNLAGFB?@=@GBQ=CDGC=CD?U=QBQ=FNC=BFC?FQ=CN=DNIQ=cGU=NF=kIBLGC?=ONC?@P=̂BCD=LGFU=NZCIBFBFM=CD?BJ=HIBLGC?=AIGF@=GFQ=FNCBFM=CD?BJ=?FMGM?L?FC=̂BCD=@DGJ?DNIQ?J@XRINFM@BQ?=JGB@BFM=CD?=B@@Z?=̂BCD=CD?=HNLAGFB?@P=CD?=I?CC?J=J?H?BO?Q=HNO?JGM?=BF=CD?=AJ?@@=̂DBHD=̂BQ?F?Q=ĜGJ?F?@@=Ǹ=CD?=vwxuyzu{|:}w97JNI?=G=cGU=NF=kIBLGC?=HNZIQ=AIGU=BF=@ZAANJCjBFM=HNLAGFB?@V=CJGF@BCBNF=CN=F?C=W?JNX=~zu��y��7��t=RICDNZMD=@NL?=HNLAGFB?@=DGO?=HNLLBCC?Q=CN=cGU=NF=kIBLGC?=ONC?@=CD?U=GJ?=BF=G=LBFNJBCUX=[R\]]=̂BII=HNFCBFZ?=CN=?FMGM?=̂BCD=HNLAGFB?@=@N=CDGC=@DGJ?DNIQ?J@=HGF=?oAJ?@@=CD?BJ=OB?̂@=@A?HBEHGIIU=GeNZC=HIBLGC?=@CJGC?jMB?@=�=@NL?CDBFM=̂DBHD=̂BII=e?HNL?=LNJ?=BLANJCGFC=̂BCD=CD?=BFCJNQZHCBNF=Ǹ=CJGF@BCBNF=AIGF@=GFQ=G@=CD?=EFGFHBGI=JB@K@=Ǹ=HIBLGC?=HDGFM?=e?HNL?=?O?F=HI?GJ?JX���������456789:;7t=[R\]]=_NBF?Q=�BN=YBFCNV@=̀ZII=U?GJ=J?@ZIC@=HGII=GD?GQ=Ǹ=CD?=HNLAGFUV@=RAJBI=RST=CN=ZFQ?J@CGFQ=e?CC?J=DN̂ =�BN=YBFCN=B@=BFC?MJGCBFM=?FOBJNFL?FCGIP=@NHBGIP=GFQ=MNO?JFGFH?=HNF@BQ?JGCBNF@=BFCN=BC@=NA?JGCBNF@P=GFQ=B@@Z?Q=G=ONCBFM=GI?JC=GD?GQ=Ǹ=CD?=RAJBI=RSTX=[R\]]=CD?F=GCC?FQ?Q=G=L??CBFM=̂BCD=�BN=YBFCN=kDGBJP=>NLBFBH=�GJCNFX=�8r:7;7st=[R\]]=̂G@=AI?G@?Q=CN=D?GJ=CDGC=�BN=YBFCN=DG@=DGQ=U?C=GFNCD?J=̀GCGIBCUjJ̀??=U?GJX=�C=̂G@=GI@N=MNNQ=CN=@??=CDGC=CD?=HNLAGFU=DG@=HNFHIZQ?Q=G=FZLe?J=Ǹ=GMJ??L?FC@=̂BCD=�FQBM?FNZ@=MJNZA@=GFQ=HNFCBFZ?@=CN=̀NHZ@=NF=AGJCF?J@DBA@P=HNjQ?@BMFP=GFQ=HNjLGFGM?L?FC=̂BCD=G�?HC?Q=HNLLZFBCB?@X=�C=̂NZIQ=DGO?=e??F=Z@?̀ZI=CN=DGO?=LNJ?=QB@HZ@@BNF=NF=HNLLZFBCU=J?IGCBNF@DBA@=BF=J?IGCBNF=CN=CD?=HNLAGFUV@=�UZ=YNIMNBP=�GQGJP=GFQ=cBLGFQNZ=AJN_?HC@P=G@=̂?II=G@=@NL?=Ǹ=CD?=J?LGBFBFM=?FMBF??JBFM=HDGII?FM?@=GC=�UZ=YNIMNBX�F=CD?=HIBLGC?=@BQ?P=�BN=YBFCNV@=HNLLBCL?FC=CN=LGKBFM=HIBLGC?=G=@CJGC?MBH=Ne_?HCBO?=B@=̂?IHNL?X=�C=GAA?GJ@=CDGC=LNJ?=N̂JK=NF=cHNA?=�=?LB@@BNF@=B@=F??Q?QX=�?HNMFB@BFM=CD?=BLANJCGFH?=Ǹ=�BN=YBFCNV@=LBF?JGI@=̀NJ=G=MJ??F=CJGF@BCBNFP=[R\]]=B@=GI@N=K??F=CN=D?GJ=LNJ?=̀JNL=CD?=HNLAGFU=NF=BC@=AIGF@=̀NJ=G=_Z@C=CJGF@BCBNFX=[R\]]=AJNe?Q=CD?@?=B@@Z?@=BF=LNJ?=Q?CGBI=BF=CD?=L??CBFM=̂BCD=TJX=�GJCNFX~zu��y��7��t=[R\]]=̂BII=HNFCBFZ?=CN=?FMGM?=eNCD=CD?=HNLAGFU=GFQ=BC@=G�?HC?Q=@CGK?DNIQ?J@P=BFHIZQBFM=̂NJK?J@=GFQ=HNLLZFBCU=L?Le?J@P=CN=G@@?@@=AJNMJ?@@=BF=eNCD=CD?=DZLGF=JBMDC@=GFQ=HIBLGC?=GJ?G@=e?HGZ@?=[R\]]=Q??L@=CDB@=JGFM?=Ǹ=?FMGM?L?FC=GFQ=B@@Z?@=EFGFHBGIIU=LGC?JBGIX
Page 53

Agenda Item 7



������������	
��

�����	�������
���
�����	��	
�����	
������� ����  !"#$%!"&'()*+,-./,0+0/)/,123456789:;<=>?@ABCD@EFGHIJJFKLMFNOOPFQRMKSPTFUVWFXYZVPL[\]MF̂VFQRN[SY[_F\SMY[VMOF̂KOF̀P\aSPTMFVUFLFbL̂OWFWSMcFLMMOMMdOP̂FLP\FQK_MSaYL[FWSMcFMYOPLWSVFLPL[_MSMFRP\OŴLcOPFN_FK̂OFYVdQLP_FSPFefefgFhPFVW\OWFUVWFSPiOMaV̂WMF̂VFUR[[_FRP\OWM̂LP\F̂KOFbL̂OWaWO[L̂O\FWSMcMFULYSPTF̂KOFYVdQLP_jF̂KOF\SMY[VMRWOFMKVR[\FQWViS\OFSPUVWdL̂SVPFWO[L̂SPTF̂VFKVbF̂KOF̀P\SPTMFSPUVWdF̂SdONVRP\FLP\FkRLP̂S̀LN[OFdŜSTL̂SVPFOlVŴMFUVWFcO_FYVddV\ŜSOMFLP\FWOTSVPMg�AmC@D@nEFGHIJJFdÔFbŜKFXYZVPL[\]MFLMFQLŴFVUFLFYVL[ŜSVPFVUFSPiOM̂VWMF̂VF\SMYRMMFK̂OFYVdQLP_]MFLQQWVLYKF̂VFdLPLTSPTFOPiSWVPdOP̂L[FWSMcMFLYWVMMFŜMFLTWSYR[aR̂WL[FMRQQ[_FYKLSPgFoKOFefefFbL̂OWFWSMcFLMMOMMdOP̂FRMO\F̂KOFpqhFHkRO\RŶFpL̂OWFqSMcF̂VV[F̂VFS\OP̂SU_FKSTKFWSMcFLWOLMjFNR̂F̂KOFYVdQLP_FKLMjF̂VF\L̂OjFULS[O\F̂VFWO[OLMOF̂KOFWOMR[̂MgFGHIJJFWOkROM̂O\F̂KL̂FK̂OFYVdQLP_F\SMY[VMOF̂KOF̀P\SPTMF̂VFULYS[ŜL̂OFLFNÔ̂OWFRP\OWM̂LP\SPTFVUF̂KOFdL̂OWSL[FWSMcMgFXYZVPL[\]MFbLMFL[MVFkROM̂SVPO\FLNVR̂FRQ\L̂SPTFŜMFOdSMMSVPMFWO\RŶSVPF̂LWTÔMjFUV[[VbSPTF̂KOFWO[OLMOFVUF̂KOFrYSOPYOasLMO\FoLWTÔFSPŜSL̂SiO]MFtrsoSuFJGHvFTRS\LPYOgFoKOFYVdQLP_FKLMFYVddŜ̂O\FV̂FWO\RYSPTFTWOOPKVRMOFTLMFOdSMMSVPMFtvwvuFN_FxyQOWYOP̂FN_FefxfFUWVdFLFefz{FNLMOgFoKSMFSMFLPFLNMV[R̂OF̂LWTÔF̂KL̂FYViOWMFrYVQOMFzjFeFLP\FxFOdSMMSVPMjF̂KOF[L̂̂OWFSPY[R\SPTFRQM̂WOLdFOdSMMSVPMFUWVdFVQOWL̂SVPL[FbLM̂OFLP\F\VbPM̂WOLdFOdSMaMSVPMFUWVdF\O[SiOW_aWO[L̂O\FbLM̂OFLP\FUWLPYKSMOOFVQOWL̂SVPMgFoVFLYKSOiOFrsoSFiOWS̀YL̂SVPjF̂KOFPObFJGHvFTRS\LPYOFWOkRSWOMFLFYVddŜdOP̂FV̂FO[SdSPL̂OF\OUVWOM̂L̂SVPFUWVdFLTWSaYR[̂RWL[FMRQQ[_FYKLSPMFN_Fefe{jFbKSYKFbVR[\FWOkRSWOFLPFLYYO[OWL̂SVPFVUFO|SM̂SPTFYVddŜdOP̂MgF}~������@��EFXYZVPL[\]MFKLMFNOOPFS\OP̂S̀O\FN_F̂KOF�L[RSPTFpL̂OWFJSPLPYOFhPŜSL̂SiOFLMFLFYVdQLP_FbŜKFMSTPS̀YLP̂FO|QVMRWOF̂VFbL̂OWaWO[L̂O\FWSMcMFLP\F̂KOWOaUVWOFSPY[R\O\F̂KOFYVdQLP_FSPF̂KOFefxF�pJhFNOPYKdLWcgFoKSMFNOPYKdLWcFbS[[FNOFRMO\FN_FGHIJJF̂VFdOLMRWOFYVdQLP_FQOWUVWdLPYOFLP\F̂KOFO|̂OP̂F̂VFbKSYKF\SMY[VMRWOFVPF̂KOFSMMROFSdQWViOMg �67<��998��67���87:<=>?@ABCD@E�GHIJJFbLP̂O\F�VPM̂O[[L̂SVPFsWLP\MF̂VFMÔF̂SdONVRP\jFYVP̂O|̂RL[FL̂WTÔMjFTVL[MFVWFQV[SYSOMF̂VFL\\WOMMF̂KOFSdQLŶMFVPFbL̂OWFLiLS[LNS[Ŝ_FSPFbL̂OWFMYLWYOFLWOLMFLYWVMMF̂KOFMOŶSVPMFVUF̂KOFiL[ROFYKLSPjFUVWFbKSYKFbL̂OWFSMFdVM̂FdL̂OWSL[g�AmC@D@nEFGHIJJF�|OYR̂SiOFdOdNOWF�VKPFHP�LPSFdÔFbŜKF̂KOF�ra[SM̂O\FNOiOWLTOFdLPRULŶRWOWF̂VF\SMYRMMFŜMFLQQWVLYKFV̂FbL̂OWFM̂ObLW\MKSQgFoKSMFOPTLTOdOP̂FUV[[VbO\FVPFUWVdFLPFSP̂WV\RŶVW_FdOÔSPTFKO[\FSPFefeeFSPFbKSYKF̂KOFYVdQLP_FKL\FYVddŜ̂O\F̂VFRP\OŴLcSPTFLFbL̂OWFWSMcFLMMOMMdOP̂FYViOWSPTFŜMFOP̂SWOFiL[ROFYKLSPgF�VPM̂O[[L̂SVPFsWLP\MFMRNMOkROP̂[_FYVP\RŶO\FLPFSPŜSL[FLMMOMMdOP̂jFLP\FLMFLFWOMR[̂FKSTK[STK̂O\FLFPRdNOWFVUFULYS[SaŜOMFVQOWL̂SPTFSPFWOTSVPMFVUFKSTKFbL̂OWFM̂WOMMgFGHIJJFOPYVRWLTO\F̂KOFYVdQLP_FV̂FMÔF̂LWTÔMF̂KL̂FbVR[\FQWOiOP̂FŜFUWVdFPOTL̂SiO[_FSdQLŶSPTFbL̂OWFLiLS[LNS[Ŝ_FSPFbL̂OWaMYLWYOFLWOLMFLYWVMMFŜMFiL[ROFYKLSPgF}~������@��E�HMFQLŴFVUF̂KOF�L[RSPTFpL̂OWFJSPLPYOFhPŜSL̂SiOFGHIJJFSMFLFYVa[OL\FSPiOM̂VWFUVWF�VPM̂O[[L̂SVPFsWLP\MgFoKOFYVdQLP_FKLMFNOOPFSPY[R\O\FSPF̂KOFefexF�pJhFNOPYKdLWcjFVbSPTF̂VF̂KOFSdQLŶFŜFKLMFVPFUWOMKbL̂OWFWOMVRWYOMgFoKSMFNOPYKdLWcFbS[[FNOFRMO\FN_FGHIJJF̂VFdOLMRWOFYVdQLP_FQOWUVWdLPYOjFbŜKF̂KOFO|QOŶL̂SVPF̂KL̂FLFdOLPSPTUR[F̂LWTÔFSMFMÔF̂VFKO[QFdŜSTL̂OFSdQLŶFVPFWOTSVPMFVUFKSTKFbL̂OWFM̂WOMMg�69�6�=>?@ABCD@EFoKOFLYYO[OWL̂SVPFSPFdViSPTF̂VFO[OŶWSYFiOKSY[OMFSMFNOSPTFMOOPFT[VNL[[_jFLMFLR̂VFdLPRULŶRWOWMFMOOcF̂VFdOÔFPÔF�OWVFL̂WTÔMFLP\FWO\RYOF̂KOFYLWNVPFUVV̂QWSP̂FSPF̂KOF[SUOFY_Y[OFVUF̂KOSWFiOKSY[OMgFhPF̂KSMFiOSPjFGHIJJFMVRTK̂F̂VFdOÔFMVdOFKOLi_FTVV\MFiOKSY[OFtwv�uFdLPRULŶRWOWMF̂VF\SMYRMMF̂KOSWFWV[OFSPF̂KSMF̂WLPMŜSVPg�AmC@D@nE�GHIJJFdÔFbŜKF�V[iVF̂VF\SMYRMMFŜMFLQQWVLYKF̂VFY[SdL̂OFYKLPTOFLP\FLFPÔF�OWVF̂WLPMŜSVPgFoKOFYVdQLP_FQWViS\O\FLFQWVdSMSPTF\SL[VTROjFTSiSPTFLPFSPa\OQ̂KFViOWiSObFVUFŜMFLQQWVLYKg}~������@��EFHMF[OTSM[L̂SVPF̂STK̂OPMFSPF�RWVQOFbŜKF̂KOF�VWQVWL̂OFrRM̂LSPLNS[Ŝ_FZROFZS[STOPYOFZSWOŶSiOjFYVdQLPSOMFbS[[F
Page 54

Agenda Item 7



������������	
��

�����	�������
���
�����	��	
���	
������� ���̂-E0?_.<+E.+.,54,)+?.5>?-.0>.=?+L.)*.B+*L.=+50E.>J.)0E.>=-5+0)>*E:.>*.)EE4-E.E4,<.+E.0<-.,?)B+0-.,5)E)E:.=?+E0),E:.*405)0)>*:.<4B+*.5)6<0E:.+*D.+.J+)5.+*D.̀4E0.05+*E)0)>*2�XaZW[Wb\];<+)5.H+4?.c4?,C-.<>E0-D.+.5>4*D0+A?-.@)0<.)*1-E0>5E.)*.d+5,<2.e-.=5>1)D-D.+.<)6<K?-1-?.>1-51)-@.>J.0<-.,>B=+*LfE.I*+*,)+?.+*D.ghi.E05+0-6)-E.A-J>5-.0+C)*6.j4-E0)>*E.J5>B.)*1-EK0>5E2.FGH((.+EC-D.+A>40.0<-.,>B=+*LfE.+==5>+,<.0>.5-D4,)*6.h,>=-.9.-B)EE)>*E:.@<),<.+E.D-B>*E05+0-D.)*.)0E.5-=>50)*6.<+E.+.?+56-.J>,4E.>*.5-6-*-5+0)1-.J+5B)*62.k<-.,>B=+*L.+?E>.0+?C-D.+A>40.+.J+)5.+*D.4̀E0.05+*E)0)>*.)*.)0E.*-0.l-5>.5>+DB+=:.+E.@-??.+E.=?+E0),E:.h<+5-G,0)>*fE.e-+?0<L.d+5C-0E.,+B=+)6*.m@<),<.FGH((.+?E>.E4==>50En:.+*D.-M-,40)1-.,>B=-*E+0)>*2op]�qrsqWtt\.FGH((.@)??.,>*0)*4-.0>.B>*)0>5.̂-E0?_fE.=5>65-EE.)*.0<-E-.+5-+E.+*D.@)??.,>*0)*4-.0>.E4==>50.h<+5-G,0)>*fE.e-+?0<L.d+5C-0E.-*6+6-KB-*0.+E.)0.=5>65-EE-E2op]�qrsqWtt\.FGH((.@)??.B>*)0>5.0<-E-.-*6+6-B-*0E.+*D.,>*E)D-5.1>0)*6.+?-50E.J>5.FGH((.B-BA-5E.+,,>5D)*6?L2uvwxyQROTUVWXYZ[W\.FGH((.<+E.-*6+6-D.@)0<.;<)=>0?-.d-M),+*.i5)??.m;<)=>0?-n.>*.)0E.+==5>+,<.0>.@+0-5.E0-@+5DE<)=.E)*,-.78z{2.k<-.)*)0)+?.-*6+6-B-*0.>À-,0)1-.@+E.B-0.D45)*6.7877:.@)0<.0<-.,>B=+*L.4*D-50+C)*6.+*.)*65-D)-*0.?-1-?.@+0-5.5)EC.+EE-EEB-*0.0>.)D-*0)JL.+5-+E.>J.@+0-5.E05-EE.@)0<)*.0<-.E4==?L.,<+)*2.k<-.5)EC.+EE-EEB-*0.J>4*D.0<+0.+.E)6*)I,+*0.=-5,-*0+6-.>J.0<-.,>B=+*LfE.E4==?)-5E.>=-5+0-.)*.+5-+E.>J.<)6<.@+0-5.E05-EE2.i)1-*.0<-.D-65--.>J.-M=>E45-.;<)=>0?-.<+E.0>.@+0-5.5)EC:.FGH((.*>@.,>*E)D-5E.)0.)B=-5+0)1-.0<-.,>B=+*L.40)?)E-.0<-.5-E4?0E.>J.0<)E.5)EC.+EE-EEB-*0.0>.E-0.0)B-KA>4*D.+*D.,>*0-M0KA+E-D.0+56-0E.J>5.@+0-5.4E-:.J>,4E)*6.>*.5-6)>*E.)0.<+E.)D-*0)I-D.+E.@+0-5.E05-EE-D.J5>B.)0E.>=-5+0)>*E2�XaZW[Wb\]345)*6.d+5,<:.FGH((.B-0.@)0<.;<)=>0?-.0>.D)E,4EE.0<-.>40,>B-.>J.)0E.@+0-5.5)EC.+EE-EEB-*0.4*D-50+C-*.)*.78772.k<)E.@+E.+.D)5-,0.5-E=>*E-.0>.0<-.5-E>?40)>*.,>KI?-D.AL.0<-.i5-+0-5.d+*,<-E0-5.H-*E)>*.(4*D:.+.FGH((.B-BA-5.J4*D:.)*.78782.k<-.,>B=+*L.<+D.B+D-.E>B-.*>0+A?-.=5>65-EE:.)*,?4D)*6.0<-.,>B=?-0)>*.>J.+.@+0-5.E05-EE.-1+?4K+0)>*.J>5.0<-.,455-*0.E0+0-.>J.)0E.E4==?L.,<+)*:.J>5-,+E0)*6.0<-.)B=+,0.>J.@+0-5.E05-EE.0>.78|8:.+*D.D-1-?>=)*6.+.B)0)6+K0)>*.5>+DB+=.0>.-E0+A?)E<.@+0-5.E0-@+5DKE<)=.0<5>46<>40.)0E.>=-5+0)>*E2.op]�qrsqWtt\]FGH((.)E.0<-.?-+D.)*1-E0>5.J>5.;<)=>0?-.+E.=+50.>J.0<-.}+?4)*6.~+0-5.�������������������<+1-.0>.D>.J450<-5.D4-.D)?)6-*,-.>*.0<-)5.E4==?L.,<+)*E.+*D.@)??.*--D.0>.-*E45-.65-+0-5.>1-5E)6<0.>J.0<-)5.E4==?L.,<+)*E2.FGH((.,>*0)*4-E.0>.)B=5-EE.4=>*.1-<),?-.B+*4J+,045-5E.0<-.A-*-I0E.>J.05+*E=+5-*0.5-=>50)*6.+*D.-*<+*,-D.D4-.D)?)6-*,-:.@<)?E0.E--C)*6.0>.A-00-5.4*D-5E0+*D.<>@.,>B=+*)-E.+5-.B+*+6)*6.+.̀4E0.05+*E)0)>*2�����OQQO�PTUVWXYZ[W\]e>@.,>B=+*)-E.D)E05)A40-.,+=)0+?.+*D.5-@+5D.A>0<.0<-)5.-M-,40)1-.D)5-,0>5E.+*D.@)D-5.@>5CJ>5,-.)E.)B=>5K0+*0.)*J>5B+0)>*.J>5.)*1-E0>5E2./*.�+*4+5L:.0<-.()*+*,)+?.k)B-E.=4A?)E<-D.+*.+50),?-.?>>C)*6.+0.5-+?.0-5B.=+L.,40E.)*.0<-.(khgz88.A40.,)0-D.+.J-@.,>B=+*)-E.0<+0.<+D.=+)D.@+6-.)*,5-+E-E.0>.0<-)5.?>@-E0.=+L.E0+�.+A>1-.E>+5)*6.)*�+0)>*2�XaZW[Wb\]FGH((.@5>0-.0>.ck:.}>D+J>*-:.+*D.�)*6IE<-5:.+E.,>B=+*)-E.0<+0.=5>1)D-D.E+?+5L.)*,5-+E-E.J>5.0<-)5.?>@-E0.=+)D.B-BA-5E.>J.E0+�.+A>1-.0<+0.>J.)*�+0)>*2.FGH((.E--CE.0>.A-00-5.4*D-5KE0+*D.0<-.,>*E)D-5+0)>*E.+5>4*D.0<-E-.)*,5-+E-E.+E.@-??.+E.0>.D)E,4EE.-M-,40)1-.5-B4*-5+0)>*.)*.0<-.,>*0-M0.>J.0<-.,>E0K>JK?)1)*6.,5)E)E2op]�qrsqWtt\.�)*6IE<-5.<+E.5-E=>*D-D.0>.FGH((fE.5-j4-E0.J>5.-*6+6-B-*0.+*D.+.B--0)*6.)E.A-)*6.>56+*)E-D.J>5.0<-.E-,>*D.j4+50-5.>J.78792����xwO����ROPQw�w����O��wQy�wOPTUVWXYZ[W\]FGH((.B-BA-5E.5-B+)*.,>*,-5*-D.+A>40.0<-.)*1-E0B-*0.5)ECE.+EE>,)+0-D.@)0<.,>B=+*)-E.>=-5+0)*6.)*.0<-.�,,4=)-D.H+?-E0)*)+*.k-55)0>5)-E.m�Hkn2.FGH((.B+)*0+)*E.+.=>E)0)>*.0<+0.,>B=+*)-E.,>*E)D-5-D.0>.<+1-.A4E)*-EE.+,0)1)0)-E.)*.0<)E.+5-+.E<>4?D.,>BB)EE)>*.)*D-=-*D-*0.<4B+*.5)6<0E.5)EC.)B=+,0.+EE-EEB-*0E:.6)1-*.0<+0.>=-5+0)*6.)*.+.,>*�),0.l>*-.,+55)-E.<-)6<0-*-D.<4B+*.5)6<0E:.+*D.,>*E-j4-*0?L:.A4E)*-EE.5)ECE2�XaZW[Wb\]FGH((.@5>0-.0>.J>45.,>B=+*)-E.>*.)0E.0+56-0.-*6+6-B-*0.?)E0.@<),<.)0.D--BE.0>.<+1-.*>0.-*6+6-D.)*.+.B-+*)*6KJ4?.B+**-5.m>5.*>0.-*6+6-D.+0.+??n�.d)l5+<).k-J+<>0.c+*C:./E+5-?.3)E,>4*0.c+*C:.+*D.c+*C.e+=>+?)B2.FGH((.@5>0-.0>.+??.J>45.5-6+5D)*6.1>0)*6.,>*E)D-5+0)>*E.+0.0<-)5.5-E=-,0)1-.7879.GidE2.k<-.(>54B.)E.*>@.)*.D)+?>64-.@)0<.c+*C.F-4B)2
Page 55

Agenda Item 7



������������	
��

�����	�������
���
�����	��	
���	
������� ��� !!"#$%&"#'()**+,)-+./012134+41513.6()**+,)-+./012134+41513.6789:;<=9>?@ABCDEFGHIJFKLMNOPQRLSOTLUOVWXLVYZ[ZVZTNLZRL[SWL\YWTTLUQYLRQ[L]\SQ̂XZR_LOXẀ]O[WLT[ORXOYXTLORXL\YOV[ZVWTLQRLUYWWXQNLQULOTTQVZO[ZQRaLbMcddLSOTLÔTQLSWOYXLUYQNLMNOPQRLeQYfWYTLQRLgOYZQ]TLZRgWT[QYLVÔ̂TLOhQ][L[SWZYLVQRVWYRTLYŴO[ZR_L[QLMNOPQRiTL\YOV[ZVWTLQRLUYWWXQNLQULOTTQVZO[ZQRaLjQRTẀ]WR[̂klLbMcddLTZ_RWXLOLmQZR[LZRgWTn[QYL̂W[[WYLZRZ[ZO[WXLhkLjOROXZORLTSOYWnSQ̂XWYLQY_ORZTO[ZQRlLopMqrlLYẀ]WT[ZR_L[SO[LMNOPQRL[OfWLT[W\TL[QLNWW[L[SWLYẀ]WT[TLQRLUYWWXQNLQULOTTQVZO[ZQRLTW[LQ][LZRLopMqriTLTSOYWSQ̂XWYLYWTQ̂][ZQRL[QLMNOPQRiTLstssLMuva�GwIFJFxKLbMcddL̂OT[LkWOYLYWVQNNWRXWXLOLgQ[WLZRLUOgQ]YLQUL[SWLopMqrLYWTQ̂]n[ZQRaLySWLVQN\ORkL\YQgZXWXLeSO[LeOTLZRLbMcddiTLgZWeLOL̂WTTL[SORLTO[ZTUOV[QYkLYWT\QRTWaLzQ[OĥklLZRLbMcddiTLgZWelL[SWLVQN\ORkLSOTLVQN\̂W[ŴkLNZTVQRT[Y]WXL[SWLXW{RZ[ZQRLQULUYWWXQNLQULOTTQVZO[ZQRL[QLNWW[LZ[TLQeRLZR[WYWT[TLYO[SWYL[SORL[SWLT[ORXOYXTLTW[LQ][LZRLZR[WYRO[ZQRÔLÔhQ]YL̂OeaLdQYLW|ON\̂WlLMNOPQRLSOTLVZ[WXLZ[TLVQN\̂ZORVWLeZ[SL}oL̂OhQ]YL̂OelLeSZVSLSOTLRQ[QYZQ]T̂kL\QQYLT[ORXOYXTLQRLUYWWXQNLQULOTTQVZO[ZQRaL~gWYL[SWLVQ]YTWLQULZ[TLW|ZT[WRVWL[SWL�b~LjQNNZ[[WWLQRLdYWWXQNLQULMTTQVZO[ZQRLSOTLSWOYXL��LVOTWTLO_OZRT[L[SWL}oLORX�QYLZRXZgZX]ÔL}oLT[O[WTLUQYL[SWZYL̂OeTLORXL\YOV[ZVWTLQRL[SZTL[Q\ZVa��������F��K�bMcddiTLO[[WN\[TL[QLNWORnZR_U]̂k̂LWR_O_WLeZ[SLMNOPQRLSOgWLUOẐWXaL�RL[SWL\OT[lLbMcddLSOTL\OY[ZVZ\O[WXLZRLySWL�Z_LyWR[L_YQ]\LQULZRgWT[QYTL[SO[LSOgWLTQ]_S[LNWORZR_U]̂LWR_O_WNWR[LeZ[SL[SWLVQN\ORklLORXLbMcddLeẐ̂LTWWfL[QLVQR[ZR]WL[QLWR_O_WL[SYQ]_SL[SZTL_YQ]\L[QLQh[OZRL\YQ_YWTTLZRL[SZTLOYWOa�:�=9��?B��CDEFGHIJFK�bMcddLZTL\̂WOTWXL[QLSOgWLhWWRLTŴWV[WXL[QLmQZRL[SWLcYZRVZ\̂WLUQYLqWT\QRTZĥWL�RgWT[NWR[L�cq��LMXgORVWLeQYfZR_L_YQ]\TLUQYLMR_̂QLMNWYZVORLORXL�ÔWaLySWLZRZ[ZO[ZgWLZTLOZNWXLO[LZN\YQgZR_LS]NORLYZ_S[TLT[ORXOYXTLZRL[SWLNZRZR_LORXLYWRWeOĥWLWRWY_kLZRX]T[YZWTabMcddLYWVQ_RZTWTL[SWL̂WgWYO_WL[SO[LVQ̂̂OhQYO[ZgWLWR_O_WNWR[TLVORLhYZR_L[QLZ[TLQeRLWR_O_WNWR[TlLeSZVSLOYWL [SWNTŴgWTLVQ̂̂OhQYO[ZgWaLuZgWRLbMcddiTLW|[WRTZgWLeQYfLQgWYL[SWL̂OT[LUWeLkWOYTLQRLNZRZR_LORXLS]NORLYZ_S[TlLbMcddiTLOZNLZTL[QLSŴ\LVYWO[WLZRgWT[QYL̂WgWYO_WL[QLZN\YQgWLS]NORLYZ_S[TL\WYUQYNORVWLO[LMR_̂QLMNWYZVORLORXL�ÔWaL�RLbMcddiTLW|\WYZWRVWlLZN\YQgWXLS]NORLYZ_S[TL\WYUQYNORVWLVYWO[WL[SWLVQRXZ[ZQRTLUQYLT]T[OZROĥWL̂QR_n[WYNLTSOYWSQ̂XWYLYW[]YRTa�GwIFJFxKLbMcddLSOTLRQeL\OY[ZVZ\O[WXLZRL[SWLZRZ[ZÔLNWW[ZR_TLUQYLhQ[SL[SWLMR_̂QLMNWYZVORLORXL�ÔWL_YQ]\TaLySWTWLNWW[nZR_TLeWYWLT[Y]V[]YWXL[QLZXWR[ZUkLTSQY[lLNWXZ]NlLORXL̂QR_n[WYNLQhmWV[ZgWTLUQYL[SWLWR_O_WNWR[TLeZ[SLWOVSLVQN\ORka�[LeOTLZR[WYWT[ZR_L[QLSWOYL[SWLXZ�WYnWR[LZXWOTLORXLQhmWV[ZgWTLeZ[SZRLWOVSLQUL[SWL_YQ]\TaL�[LZTLV̂WOYL[SO[LWOVSLeQYfZR_L_YQ]\LeẐ̂LT[Y]V[]YWLZ[TŴUL̀]Z[WLXZ�WYWR[̂kLORXLeẐ̂LhWL[OẐQYWXL[QLOL_ZgWRLVQN\ORkiTLVSOYOV[WYZT[ZVTLORXLVSÔ̂WR_WTaLpQeWgWYlLNWNhWYTLQULhQ[SL_YQ]\TLTWWNWXLẀ]Ô̂kLWR[S]TZOT[ZVLORXLfWWRL[QLNOfWL\YQ_YWTTlLTQLbMcddLZTLQ\[ZNZT[ZVL[SO[L[SZTLZRZ[ZOn[ZgWLeẐ̂LSŴ\L[QLZN\YQgWLS]NORLYZ_S[TL\YOV[ZVWTLeZ[SZRL[SWLNZRZR_LZRX]T[Yka��������F��K�bMcddLeẐ̂LVQR[ZR]WL[QLeQYfLeZ[SLQ[SWYLZRgWT[QYLNWNhWYTLZRLWOVSLeQYfZR_L_YQ]\L[QLTQ̂ZXZUkLVQN\ORkLQhmWVn[ZgWTlLWR_O_WLeZ[SL[SWLVQN\ORZWTLTŴWV[WXLUQYL[SWL\YQ_YONNWlLORXL̂ZOZTWLeZ[SLT[OfWSQ̂XWYTLO�WV[WXLhkL[SWLVQN\ORZWTiLQ\WYO[ZQRTa �9����<=��B��?�=�A�A��CDEFGHIJFKLbMcddLZTLOLNWNhWYLQUL[SWLjM�tt�L[YORT\QY[L_YQ]\LeSZVSLZTLWR_O_nZR_LeZ[SL[SWL̂OY_WT[LWNZ[[WYTLUYQNL[SWLO][QNQ[ZgWLTWV[QYaLqQOXL[YORT\QY[O[ZQRLZTLOLNOmQYLVQR[YZh][QYL[QL_̂QhÔLWNZTTZQRTlL[SWLZRX]T[YkLUOVWTL[Z_S[WRZR_LYW_]̂O[ZQRLQRLWNZTTZQRTLT[ORXOYXTLORXLTQNWLVQ]Rn[YZWTLSOgWLTW[LXO[WTLOU[WYLeSZVSL[SWLTÔWTLQULRWeL\W[YQ̂LgWSZV̂WTLeẐ̂LhWLhORRWXaLMTLT]VSlLZRgWT[QYTLOYWLTWWfZR_L[QLWRT]YWL[SO[LVOYLVQN\ORZWTLOYWLNORO_ZR_L[SWTWLYZTfTLhkLTW[[ZR_L[OY_W[TLORXL[OfZR_LOV[ZQRL[QLTSZU[L\YQX]V[ZQRL[QLŴWV[YZVLgWSZV̂WTa�GwIFJFxKLbMcddL\OY[ZVZ\O[WXLZRLOLjM�tt�LVQ̂̂OhQYO[ZgWLNWW[ZR_LeZ[SLuWRWYÔLvQ[QYTaLySWLNWW[ZR_LVQgWYWXL[SWLZN\OV[LQUL[SWL�R O[ZQRLqWX]V[ZQRLMV[LZRL[SWL}olLuviTL[OY_W[TLORXLSQeLuvLZTL\̂ORRZR_LQRLYWOVSZR_LZ[TLONhZ[ZQRTaLySWLVQN\ORkL\̂ORTL[QLSOgWLVO\OVZ[kLZRLW|VWTTLQULQRWLNẐ̂ZQRLr�L]RZ[TLZRLhQ[SLzQY[SLMNWYZVOLORXLjSZROLhkLsts¡a��������F��KLbMcddLeẐ̂LVQR[ZR]WL[QLWR_O_WLVOYNOfWYTLQRL[SWZYL[OY_W[TlL\̂ORTlLZRgWT[NWR[lLORXLXŴZgWYkLQUL[OY_W[TLOTLeŴ̂LOTL[SWZYLO\\YQOVSL[QL\]ĥZVL\Q̂ZVkLWR_O_WNWR[a9�¢?=:���?��£=?B�=;B¤?¤�>�B�=¥9:;¦<=�§̈�=?B�=§©ªCDEFGHIJFKLbMcddLVQR[ZR]WTL[QLT]\\QY[LVQN\ORkLWR_O_WNWR[TLZRLMTZOiTL{RORVZÔLNOYfW[TlLUQV]TZR_LQRLVOYhQRLORXLVQÔL	��«¬«­®̄��°±°­²��³́�«̄«µ±­¶µ�µ®­
Page 56

Agenda Item 7



������������	
��

�����	�������
���
�����	��	
���	
������� ��� !!"#$%&"#'()**+,)-+./012134+41513.6789:9;<=;>?<?@8<A;8?9=8=B=8C?9D;<9;EFAA;<9;@C<AGFHIC9FJ;ICEF7;@CKI<?8F9L�MNOPQPRS;TUVWW;XC8?FJ;@CAA<YC7<=8ZF;@<AA9;E8=[;YC=[;\8=9BY89[8;]Ŵ;W8?<?@8<A;_7CBI;̀\]W_a;<?J;]?8=FJ;bZF79F<9;c<?:;]̀bcaL;Udef9;@C?=8?BFJ;J8<ACgBF;E8=[;U98<f9;>?<?@8<A;8?9=8=B=8C?9;I7CZ8JF9;8?GJFI=[;@C?ZF79<=8C?9;<YCB=;@CKI<?h;@A8K<=F;<II7C<@[;<?J;I7CZ8JF;Z<AB<YAF;8?98g[=;8?=C;[CE;=[F;@CKI<?8F9;<7F;<II7C<@[8?g;@<7YC?;7FJB@=8C?;KF<9B7F9Lijk�lmnlPooS;TUVWW;E8AA;@C?=8?BF;=C;F?g<gF;=[7CBg[;=[F;UdeD;E8=[;7FgBA<7;KFF=8?g9;YF8?g;[FAJ;F<@[;pB<7=F7Lqrstsutsvwxyz{x|w}~zr}s��wx�srsr�x�}}�{ur�wx�q|������PM�OQPS;�B78?g;F?g<gFKF?=9;E8=[;FAF@=78@;ZF[8@AF;K<?B�<@=B7F79;C?;=[F87;<II7C<@[;=C;7F9IC?98YAF;K8?F7<A;9CB7@G8?g;<?J;9BIIAh;@[<8?;JBF;J8A8gF?@FD;�d\U;[<9;@CKF;BI;8?;@C?ZF79<=8C?;E8=[;K<?h;C�;=[F9F;@CKI<?8F9L;TUVWW;9CBg[=;<;KFF=8?g;E8=[;�d\U;=C;J89@B99;=[F87;@F7=8>@<=8C?;9=<?J<7J;�C7;8?JB9=78<A;9@<AF;K8?F;98=F9L�MNOPQPRSkTUVWW;KF=;E8=[;U8KFF;cCBA<?gF7D;�d\Uf9;eHF@B=8ZF;�87F@=C7D;<?J;dFYF@@<;cB7=C?D;�d\Uf9;�87F@=C7;C�;�C7IC7<=F;e?g<gFKF?=D;=C;J89@B99;�d\Uf9;9=<?J<7J;8?;g7F<=F7;JFI=[L;TUVWW;E<9;9BY9FpBF?=Ah;8?Z8=FJ;=CD;<?J;<==F?JFJD;<;>?<?@F;9F@=C7;JFFI;J8ZFD;[FAJ;8?GIF79C?;<=;U?gAC;UKF78@<?9;C�@FLijk�lmnlPooSkcC=[;C�;=[F9F;KFF=8?g9;E8=[;�d\U;I7CZ8JFJ;8?98g[=;8?=C;=[F;Z<ABF;C�;g7F<=F7;JBF;J8A8gF?@F;<=;K8?F;98=F9;<?J;[CE;=[89;@<?;YF;<@[8FZFJD;8?;I<7=8@BA<7;=[7CBg[;F�F@=8ZF;KBA=8G9=<:F[CAJF7;F?g<gFKF?=L;�=;[<9;I7CZ8JFJ;=<A:8?g;IC8?=9;<?J;@C?98JF7<=8C?9;�C7;F?g<gFGKF?=9;E8=[;<;7<?gF;C�;8?JB9=78F9;gC8?g;�C7E<7JD;8?@ABJ8?g;=[F;K8?8?g;9F@=C7;<?J;<B=CGK<?B�<@=B7F79;E[8@[;<7F;YF8?g;F?g<gFJ;Yh;TUVWWL�u��sr�x�utw{x�srur�wxqrstsutsvwx����q�TUVWW;eHF@B=8ZF;KFKYF7;̂C[?;U?�<?8;�<@8A8=<=FJ;=[F;>79=;��W�;�<9:;WC7@F;KFF=8?g;C�;=[F;hF<7L;TUVWW;89;<;�CB?J8?g;KFKYF7;C�;=[F;8?8=8<=8ZF;<?J;@B77F?=Ah;@CG@[<879;=[F;8?8=8<=8ZFL;�[F;KFF=8?g;E<9;<==F?JFJ;Yh;8?9=8=B=8C?<A;8?ZF9=C79;�7CK; <7CB?J;=[F;EC7AJ;=C;J89@B99;BIJ<=F9;<?J;I7Cg7F99;C�;=[F;8?8=8<=8ZF;=C;J<=FL;�8=[;YC=[;@CKI<?h;F?g<gFKF?=;<?J;YF?@[GK<7:8?g;EC7:;9=7F<K9;K<:8?g;gCCJ;I7Cg7F99D;TUVWW;89;EFAA;IC98=8C?FJ;=C;YF;<=;=[F;�C7F�7C?=;C�;J78Z8?g;IC98=8ZF;@[<?gF;8?;=[89;<7F<;8?;����Lqrvw}tz{xqrstsutsvwxyz{x|w}~zr}s��wx�u{w�x��x�z  s}}szrw{���PM�OQPS;TUVWW;89;<;KFKYF7;C�;=[F;�?ZF9=C7;�?8=8<=8ZF;�C7;dF9IC?98YAF;�<7F;<;@C<A8=8C?;C�;¡�¢;7F9IC?98YAF;<?J;AC?gG=F7K;8?ZF9=C79;8?;=[F;@<7F;9F@=C7;E8=[;£¤L¤;=78AA8C?;8?;<99F=9;B?JF7;K<?<gFKF?=L;�[F;@C<A8=8C?;[<9;YFF?;F9=<YA89[FJ;=C;<JJ7F99;9IF@8>@;8?ZF9=KF?=;789:9;E8=[8?;=[F;9F@=C7;8?@ABJ8?g;<7CB?J;9=<�?gD;9<�F=hD;E<gF9D;�7FFJCK;C�;<99C@8<=8C?;<?J;pB<A8=h;C�;@<7FL;�[F9F;789:9;EF7F;ZF7h;<II<7F?=;8?;FZF?=9;CZF7;=[F;I<9=;hF<7;<=;b7IF<D;=[F;A89=FJ;W7F?@[;@<7F;I7CZ8JF7L;�[F;g7CBI;89;9FF:8?g;=C;F?g<gF;@CKI<?8F9;YC=[;7Fg<7J8?g;J89@AC9B7F;YB=;<A9C;8KI7CZ8?g;=[F87;I7<@=8@F9L�MNOPQPRSkTUVWW;[<9;E78==F?;=C;=EC;dF<A;e9=<=F;�?ZF9=KF?=;�7B9=9;̀de��9a;9FF:8?g;@A<78>@<=8C?;<7CB?J;J<=<;<?J;KF=78@9;<9;I<7=;C�;<;g7CBI;8?8=8<=8ZF;=C;7FpBF9=;9B@[;8?�C7K<=8C?;�7CK;C=[F7;@<7F;I7CZ8JF79;<?J;de��9L;UAC?g98JF;F?g<gFKF?=;E8=[;@CKI<?8F9D;=[F;g7CBI;[<9;<A9C;YFF?;F?g<g8?g;IBYA8@;ICA8@hK<:F79D;8?@ABJ8?g;<;KFF=8?g;E8=[;=[F;e];�CKK8998C?F7;7F9IC?98YAF;�C7;@<7F;=[89;pB<7=F7L;�[F;KFF=8?g;@<KF;C�;=[F;Y<@:;C�;<;?FE;e];@<7F;9=7<=FghD;<?J;J89@B998C?9;�C@B9FJ;C?;[CE;8KIAFKF?=<=8C?;C�;=[F;9=7<=Fgh;@CBAJ;9BIIC7=;=[F;<8K9;C�;7F9IC?98YAF;8?ZF9=C79;8?;=[F;9F@=C7;=C;8KI7CZF;@<7F;pB<A8=h;<?J;FKIAChKF?=;9=<?J<7J9;=C;[FAI;JFA8ZF7;9B9=<8?<YAF;7F=B7?9Lijk�lmnlPooSkTUVWW;E8AA;@C?=8?BF;=C;I<7=8@8I<=F;8?;=[F;8?8=8<=8ZF;<?J;F?g<gF;@<7F;I7CZ8JF79D;de��9;CIF7<=8?g;8?;=[F;9F@=C7;<?J;E[F7F;7FAFZ<?=;E8=[;ICA8@hK<:F79L�z��z¥x¦§s}���PM�OQPS;U9;<?;<@=8Z89=;8?ZF9=C7D;WCAACE;�[89;[<9;YFF?;>A8?g;9[<7F[CAJF7;7F9CABG=8C?9;<=;=[F;C8A;<?J;g<9;K<XC79f;U_\9;98?@F;��¡̈L;©<Z8?g;7F@CKKF?JFJ;ZC=F9;8?;�<ZCB7;C�;=EC;WCAACE;�[89;7F9CAB=8C?9;8?;����D;<=;YC=[;=[F;ª[FAA;<?J;cV;U_\9D; TUVWW;9CBg[=;<;KFF=8?g;E8=[;WCAACE;�[89;7FI7F9F?=<=8ZF9;=C;J89@B99;=[F;C7g<?89<G=8C?f9;C?gC8?g;EC7:L�MNOPQPRSkTUVWW;KF=;E8=[;\<7:;�<?;c<<AD;�CB?JF7;C�;WCAACE;�[89D;=C;J89@B99;=[F;C7g<?89<=8C?f9;IA<?9;�C7;JFZFACIKF?=D;YC=[;8?;=[F;8KKFJ8<=F;�B=B7F;<?J;ACC:8?g;�B7=[F7;�C7E<7JLijk�lmnlPooS;WCAACE;�[89;[<9;IBYA89[FJ;8=9;7F9CAB=8C?9;�C7;����;<?J;E8AA;YF;@C?98JGF7FJ;�C7;ZC=8?g;<AF7=9;=[7CBg[CB=;=[F;hF<7L�u{«wtx�z{�w}���PM�OQPS;TUVWW;[<9;KF=;E8=[;\<7:F=;WC7@F9;<;?BKYF7;C�;=8KF9;CZF7;=[F;I<9=;@CBIAF;C�;hF<79L;�=;89;<?;F?Z87C?KF?=<A;<JZC@<@h;I7CXF@=;E[8@[;I78K<78Ah;�C@B9F9;C?;>?<?@8<A;8?9=8=B=8C?9D;<A=[CBg[;8=;[<9;IBYA89[FJ;gB8J<?@F;�C7;C=[F7;9F@=C79L�MNOPQPRS;U�=F7;7F@CKKF?J8?g;ZC=F9;8?;�<ZCB7;C�;\<7:F=;WC7@F9f;7F9CAB=8C?9;<=;c<7@A<h9;<?J;d8C;�8?=C;U_\9;8?;���¡D;TUVWW;KF=;E8=[;7FI7F9F?=<=8ZF9;�7CK;=[F;C7g<?89<=8C?;=C;J89@B99;IA<?9;�C7;JFZFACIGKF?=;8?;����Lijk�lmnlPooSkTUVWW;E8AA;KC?8=C7;\<7:F=;WC7@F9f;7F9CAB=8C?9;<?J;EC7:;<9;=[F;hF<7;I7Cg7F99F9L¦u}«yz{�wxzrx¬z�su�x�u�tz{}TUVWW;89;<;KFKYF7;C�;=[F;�<9:�C7@F;C?;ªC@8<A;W<@=C79;=[<=;[<9;YFF?;F9=<YA89[FJ;Yh;=[F;��VL;�[F;=<9:�C7@F;@[<87FJ;Yh;TBY<;­8:BA8?<;�7CK;�W\;[<9;YFF?;F9=<YA89[FJ;=C;ACC:;<=;[CE;8?ZF9=C79;@<?;YF9=;<JJ7F99;<?J;K<?<gF;9C@8<A;�<@=C79D;8?@ABJ8?g;Yh;8JF?=8�h8?g;7FA8<YAF;J<=<;<?J;KF=78@9L�[F;K<8?;CYXF@=8ZF9;C�;=[F;�<9:�C7@F;<7F;=C®;̄�JF?=8�h;7FA8<YAF;J<=<;9CB7@F9;<?J;C=[F7;7F9CB7@F9D;E[8@[;@CBAJ;YF;B9FJ;Yh;IF?98C?;9@[FKF9;=C;8JF?=8�hD;<99F99D;<?J;K<?<gF;>?<?@8<AAh;K<=F78<A;9C@8<A;789:9;<?J;CIIC7=B?8=8F9L;̄\C?8=C7;<?J;7FIC7=;C?;JFZFACIKF?=9;7FA<=8?g;=C;=[F;�?=F7?<=8C?<A;ªB9=<8?G<Y8A8=h;ª=<?J<7J9;cC<7J;̀�ªªca;<?J;C=[F7;8?=F7?<=8C?<A;9=<?J<7J9L;̄�FZFACI;=[8?:8?g;<7CB?J;[CE;=7B9=FF9;@<?;8JF?=8�hD;<99F99D;<?J;K<?<gF;=[F;>?<?@8<A;789:9;IC9FJ;Yh;KCJF7?;9A<ZF7h;<?J;9BIIAh;@[<8?;899BF9L�[F;=<9:�C7@F;E<9;F9=<YA89[FJ;Yh;��V;
Page 57

Agenda Item 7



������������	
��

�����	�������
���
�����	��	
���	
������� ��� !!"#$%&"#'()**+,)-+./012134+41513.6 789:;<9=>=;?@;A=B9:AC79?D;C:;CD;9DE9>C7?F;?@;8?G;:=F9?H:AI;C;>?J<CDI;7CK=:;J?E=FD;:ACL=FI;9D;97:;?<=FC79?D:M;N8=;=DBCB=OJ=D7;:==K:;>?J<A9CD>=;@F?J;78?:=;78C7;>HFF=D7AI;E?;D?7;J==7;789:;:7CDECFEM�PQRSTSUV;WXYZZ;>?O:9BD=E;A=77=F:;7?;[\;>?J<CD9=:;:=D7;]I;̂C78]?D=:M;X7;78=;79J=;?@;<H]A9>C79?D_;789:;=DBCB=J=D7;8C:;]F?HB87;C]?H7;>?J<A9CD>=;@F?J;̀a;?@;78=;>?J<CD9=:;C<<F?C>8=E_;G978;C;DHJ]=F;9D;78=;<F?>=::;?@;JCK9DB;>8CDB=:Mbcd�efgeShhi;WXYZZ;G9AA;J?D97?F;>?J<A9OCD>=;A=L=A:;C:;78=;=DBCB=J=D7;<F?BF=::=:;CDE;G9AA;j?9D;>?AAC]?FC79L=;>CAA:;EHF9DB;78=;I=CF;7?;@HF78=F;=k<A?F=;>?J<CDI;C<<F?C>8=:;7?;J?E=FD;:ACL=FIMlmnopqrsotuvwotqxyvrqzzmr{o|u}r~�vot�uz�o�~�q�ro���SP�RTSV;XD;9DL=:79BC79L=;F=<?F7;<H]A9:8=E;]I;78=;�=G;�?FK;N9J=:;9D;Z=]FHCFI;[�[�;<F?L9E=E;=L9E=D>=;78C7;C;>?AA=>79?D;?@;��;>?J<CD9=:;JCI;]=;<F?�7O9DB;@F?J;78=;H:=;?@;XJ=F9>CD;:H<<A9=F:;78C7;9AA=BCAAI;=J<A?I;HDE=FCB=;J9BFCD7;�PQRSTSUVdWXYZZ;j?9D=E;7G?;>?AAC]?FC79L=;=DBCB=J=D7:;789:;�HCF7=F_;G978;�7:HKC;�?F<?FC79?D;CDE;�CFH]=D9;�?F<?FC79?DM;�?78;CF=;E?J9>9A=E;9D;�C<CD_;CDE;D=978=F;CF=;>HFF=D7AI;J=J]=F:;?@;78=;�C<CD=:=;���;�AH];>8CF7=FM;�89A:7;78=I;8CL=;:?J=;GCI;7?;B?;9D;78=9F;C<<F?C>8=:;7?;B=DE=F;E9L=F:97I;C7;]?CFE;CDE;=k=>H79L=;A=L=A_;]?78;>?J<CD9=:;<F?L9E=E;<F?J9:O9DB;?H7A??K:;F=BCFE9DB;78=9F;C<<F?C>8;7?;:H<<?F79DB;G?J=D;78F?HB8?H7;78=9F;?FBCD9:C79?D:Mbcd�efgeShhVdN8=;�F?H<;9:;>?D79DH9DB;7?;=k7=DE;97:;?H7F=C>8;7?;>?J<CD9=:;?H7:9E=;?@;78=;��;CDE;9:;A??K9DB;C7;F=B9?DCA;>?D:9E=FC79?D:;@?F;?78=F;JCFK=7:M;WXYZZ;9:;<CF7;?@;78=;�F?H<�:;�A?]CA;�?FK:7F=CJ;:H]BF?H<;CDE;G9AA;]=;>?D7F9]H79DB;7?;=DBCB=J=D7:;78F?HB8?H7;78=;I=CFM�~v��q�m�o�qvm�o�}~u��vo�z~ mrw���SP�RTSVd̂C78]?D=:;HDE=F7CK=:;CD;CDDHCA;CDCAI:9:;?@;>?J<A9CD>=;]I;Z�N¡�¢�;>?J<CD9=:;G978;:=>79?D;¢a;?@;78=;�?E=FD;�ACL=FI;X>7M;WXYZZ;L9=G:;>?J<A9CD>=;?@;@?AA?G9DB;C;>?D:HA7C79?D;?D;78=;9::H=M;WXYZZ;F=:<?DE=E;7?;78=;>?D:HA7C79?D;89B8A9B879DB;78=;9J<?F7CD>=;?@;:?>9CA;@C>7?F:;9D;?HF;G?FK;CDE;?H7A9D9DB;:?J=;?@;78=;=DBCB=J=D7:;78C7;78=;Z?FHJ;8C:;HDE=F7CK=D;?D;:?>9CA;9::H=:;@?F;?L=F;78F==;E=>CE=:M;N8=;7C:K@?F>=;9:;>?J<F9:=E;?@;<=?<A=;@F?J;78=;9DEH:7FI;CDE_;CA?DB:9E=;78=;£�Y_;9D>AHE=:;?]:=FL=F:;@F?J;78=;Z9DCD>9CA;�?DEH>7;XH78?F97I_;Z9DCD>9CA;=̂<?F79DB;�?HD>9A_;¤�;NF=C:HFI;CDE;78=;Y=D:9?D:;̂=BHAC7?FM¥¦§ö� m�vqrotz�����SP�RTSVdWXYZZ;>?D79DH=:;7?;:H<<?F7;78=;���;�AH];©DL=:7?F;�F?H<_;C;>?CA979?D;?@;9DL=:7?F:;<H:89DB;@?F;G?J=D;7?;F=<F=:=D7;C7;A=C:7;���;?@;]?CFEF??J;CDE;:=D9?F;JCDCB=J=D7;<?:979?D:;C7;ZN�¡OA9:7=E;>?J<CD9=:M;N8=;BF?H<;8C:;=k7=DE=E;97:;F=J97;BA?]CAAI;CDE;8C:;]==D;=DBCB9DB;9D;E9ª=F=D7;JCFK=7:_;=D>?HFCB9DB;>?J<COD9=:;7?;j?9D;F=B9?DCA;>8CF7=F:;CDE;A??K9DB;C7;?78=F;C:<=>7:;?@;E9L=F:97I;9D;>?J<CDI;<FC>79>=:M�«¬­®̄°±®²«¬�³«̄ µ́̄­�²¬�¶«·̧¹��̧®̧
Page 58

Agenda Item 7



������������	
��

�����	�������
���
�����	��	
���	
������� ��� !!"#$%&"#'()*+,-./0121/3/045 3/6+2.,)7/821/9:;<=>?@AB�C��DEFGHIJKL�DEFGHIJKH�CGGM�IJ��NKE�IOG��PQG�JE�RSIGK�
PHM�T:U>VW>XY@Z:;<D��L�DEFGHIJKH�[S\\�]JK�FJIPÊ�JE�_CS̀�JE��\PaSIGb�GEHPJEH�	̂GL�
	�cc�[S\\H�]JK�HOSKGOJ\QGK�FJIG�JE�̂KGGEOJNHG�GaPHHPJEH�C��DEFGHIJKL�DEFGHIJKH�QGaSEQ�_CS̀�JE��\PaSIGb�SI�c�C��
PHIGQ�cPKaH�GI�dGKJ�DEFGHIJKL�DEFGHIJKH�QGaSEQ�FJIG�JE�[\PaSIG�IKSEHPIPJE�e\SEH�SI�c�C��]PKaHDEFGHIaGEI�RGGML�COG\\�QPKG[IJKH�HNGQ�JFGK�_]\SfGQb�[\PaSIG�e\SE�
GgJ\Ĵ L̀�DEFGHIJKH�HIGe�Ne�eKGHHNKG�JE�hJSKQH�IJ�MGGe�eS[G�fPIO�[\PaSIG�ISK̂GIH�PE�Ne[JaPÊ�	���HGSHJE�OG���L��Nh\P[�HG[IJK�eGEHPJE�]NEQH�[S\\�]JK�_CS̀�JE��\PaSIGb�FJIG�OG�	[INSK̀L��Nh\P[iHG[IJK�eGEHPJE�]NEQH�HGGM�[SKhJE�FJIG�C��DEFGHIJKL��Gf�DQGSHj�kGIIGK��GSafJKM�PE��NKHNPI�J]��SKPH��JS\H
J[S\��JFL��Nh\P[�HG[IJK�eGEHPJE�]NEQH�[S\\�]JK�_CS̀�JE��\PaSIGb�FJIG������>lm<no;@p<
J[S\��JFGKEaGEI��OKJEP[\GL�
JQEG̀�kSKIJE�KG[GPFGH�
���DEFGHIaGEI�\P]GIPaG�S[OPGFGaGEI�SfSKQ�TVn@:Y>�:n;V=A�GEHPJEH�	̂GL��SHM]JK[G�JE�CJ[PS\�cS[IJKH�\SNE[OGQ�fPIO�qR��HNeeJKI��KJ]GHHPJES\��GEHPJEHL�qR��\SNE[OGH�HJ[PS\�]S[IJKH�ISHM]JK[G�]JK�PEQNHIK̀�C���\SKPÌL��r�eGEHPJEH�HJ[PS\�ISHM]JK[G�\SNE[OGH�IJ�SQQKGHH�QSIS�Ŝe�GEHPJEH�SEQ�DEFGHIaGEIHL��r�ISHM�]JK[G�HGIH�JNI�IJ�OG\e�SHHGI�JfEGKH�fPIO�HJ[PS\�[JEHPQGKSIPJEHstuvwxuvyxzv{|}ytyx~zw�zvxw�tx��u|}tx{�uzv��x{�v{t�w��W>�=V�=<AA�>�����x~z||x~�t�tx����z��|tx{�vwzv}txw�xtv�u�tx~zw�xw�tx����xzv{|}yzv�xu��}vyxw�txz��}tx��x�}�w�t�xzvwt��uwzv�xw�tx�}�wxw�uv�zwz�vxzvw�xzw�x�t{�sstvyuwz�v��*2(��.�/�+0285�������� ¡����¢�£¤¥��� ¡¦�§̈©��tx�������}����wtyx�||��u�wªx�u�|zustvwu�ªx«��}�x���x��{u|x�}w���zwªx�tv�z�vx�}vy�x�t|yxuxsttwzv�x�vxu¬��y�u�|tx��}�zv�xuvyxw�tx�«�­�x��txsttwzv�x{ustx�¬xw�tx�u{®x��x���t�vstvwx{u||�x���xw�tx�«�­xw�xzv{�tu�tx|�{u|xzv�t�wstvwxuvyxw�tx{�uv{t||��x�u�x�wuwtyxw�uwxw�tx���t�v�stvwx~z||x{�v�}|wx�vx�t̄}z�zv�x�«�­x�}vy�xw�x{�v�zyt�xz||z̄}zyxu��twxzv�t�w�stvwx�����w}vzwzt��x��t�tx�u�txu|��x�ttvx�w�t�x{u||�x���xw�tx�«�­x�}vy�xw�x�{u|tx}�x�|u{t��u�tyxzv�t�wstvwxuvyxzv�t�wxs��txzvx��{zu|xuvyxu¬��yu�|tx��}�zv��x��xyz�{}��xw�txz��}t��xw�tx��tu®t��xuwxw�txsttwzv��x{�uz�tyx�ªx°|z�tx±tww�x²��x~t�tx°||�x³��vx«�uªx́µz{t�°�uz��x��{u|x�}w���zwªx�tv�z�vx�}vyx���}s¶·x�uyyªx�̧~yu||x́���z�wuvwx¹ºt{}wz�tx̧z�t{w��xuwx«�tuwt�x²uv{�t�wt�x�tv�z�vx�}vy¶·x»t|tvx°�||zv�x́»tuyx��x�¬��yu�|tx»�}�zv��x­u�z||�¶·xuvyx³��vx±}w|t�x́�zvuv{tx��|z{ªx�tuy�x¼uwz�vu|x»�}�zv�x�tyt�uwz�v¶�x��txyz�{}��z�vx{��t�tyx��}�zv�xzv�t�w�stvw�xw�uwx�«�­x�}vy�x~t�txu|�tuyªxsu®zv�xu�x~t||xu�x��stx��xw�tx�u��zt��xw�xy�zv�xs��t�x��txsttwzv�x�z��|z��wtyx{�u||tv�t�x��x�{u|zv�x}�xzv�t�wstvwxzvxu¬��yu�|tx��x��{zu|x��}�zv�x~zw��}wxuyyzwz�vu|x���t�vstvwx�}vyzv�xu�x~t||xu�xz��}t�xu��}vyx�{u|txuvyxw�tx|u{®x��xzv�t�wz�|tx����t{w��x{�z|y�tv�x¹v�}�zv�xw�uwx{�s�uvzt�x�u�tx{�vw��|�xuvyx���{t��t�xzvx�|u{txw�xsuvu�tx�}{�x�z�®�xuvyx��|yx�}��|zt��xu{{�}vwu�|txz�xuvxzv�t�wstvwxzs�t�uwz�tx���x�������n½@<p<¾�x�����x{���z�vtyxux|twwt�xw�xw�z�x���}�x��x{�s�uvzt�x�tt®zv�xux�t���v�txuvyx�}�w�t�xytwuz|x�vxw�txu||t�uwz�v�xu��}vyxw�tx}�tx��x{�z|yx|u��}���W>�=V�=<AA�>�����x~z||xs�vzw��xw�tx�t���v�txuvyx~z||x�}����wxtv�u�tstvw�xu�xu������zuwt�,)05¿*424+)0.8/5()05/5À��¥Á¢�¢§¥¡���¥¡À�ÁÂÃ§�Ä¤ÅÆÇ<n;@p<�xÈvxÉÊÉÉ�x»²x��tu�}�ªx|u}v{�tyxw�tx��uv�zwz�vx�|uvx�u�®���{tx́���¶x~zw�xw�tx���t{wz�tx��xyt�t|��zv�xw�tx��|yx�wuvyu�yx���x{|zsuwtxw�uv�zwz�vx�|uv��x��txËÌx���t�vstvwxuvyxw�tx�zvuv{zu|x°�vy}{wx�}w���zwªxu�txzv��|�tyx~zw�xw�tx�u�®���{tx~zw�xw�txzvwtvwz�vxw�uwxw�tªx~z||xy�u~x�vxw�tx�t{�sstvyuwz�v�xw�x�w�tv�w�tvxyz�{|��}�tx�t̄}z�tstvw��x�̧vtxzvxw�tx�z��wx~uª�xw�uv�zwz�vx�|uvxyz�{|��}�t�x{�}|yxtvu�|txzv�t�w���xw�x�twwt�x}vyt��wuvyxux{�s�uvª��xu����u{�xw�xyt{u���vz�zv�xw�tz�x�}�zvt��xs�yt|�x��tªxu�txu|��xyt�z�vtyxw�x�t|�x{�s�uvzt�xuvyxzv�t�w���x~zw�x�t�u�yxw�xyt�t|��zv�x�|uv�xw�uwxu�txzvwt��u|xw�x{�s�uvª��x��t�u||x�w�uwt�ª�x«z�tvxw�tz�x��wtvwzu|xzs���wuv{t�x�����x�t���vytyxw�xux���x{�v�}|wuwz�vx�t�u�yzv�xzw�xy�u�wxyz�{|��}�tx��ust~��®�x�n½@<p<¾�>Èvx�������x��t�z�}�x���x�t���v�t�xw�tx���}sx�t{�sstvytyxw�uwx�}�wxw�uv�zwz�vxzs�|z{uwz�v�x���}|yx�txzv{|}ytyxzvxw�tx�����x�}zyuv{t�xÈwx~u�x~t|{�stxw�uwx�}�wxw�uv�zwz�vxz��}t�x~t�txzv{|}ytyxzvxw�txy�u�wxyz�{|��}�tx��ust�~��®�x�����x~t|{�styxw�z�xyt�t|��stvwx�}wx{�v�zyt�tyxw�t�txw�x�tx�}�w�t�x�{��txw�xzvwt��uwtxw�t�tx�}�wxw�uv�zwz�vx�u{w���xu{����xw�tx��ust~��®�x�������x�t���v�tx�wuwtyxw�uwxz�xzwx~u�xw�x�txux��|yx�wuvyu�yxuvyxzvx|zvtx~zw�xËÌx���t�vstvwx��|z{ªxw�tvxw�uv�zwz�vx�|uv�x~�}|yxvttyxw�x�tx{�v�z�wtvwx~zw�xuxÍ�ÎÏ°x�{tvu�z��x��xtv�}�tx{�v�z�wtv{ªxuvyx{�s�u�u�z|zwªx�tw~ttvxw�uv�zwz�vx�|uv��xw�tx�t���v�txu|��x{u||tyx���xux��{}�x�vxu���|}wtx�uw�t�xw�uvx�t|uwz�txtsz��z�vx�ty}{wz�v�xuvyx��tuwt�x{|u�zwªx�vxytÐvz�wz�v�x��x­{��txÑxtsz��z�v�xuvyx~�uwxz�x
Page 59

Agenda Item 7



������������	
��

�����	�������
���
�����	��	
���	
������� ��� !!"#$%&"#'()*+*(,()-./+-+0 100 200 300 400 5006789:;<=6>:?@<AB9:?=C8@>;DEFG<H?:?I<=JE<?<H:7KLBMM7N=6>:8?=O:?:@<9<?;P?G8HF?9<?;:7=C8DQP9M7FN9<?;=L;:?R:HRDC<9B?<H:;8F?S;><H6:9M:8@?=JE<?<H:7KTUV�VTWTUXYXZ�[\]WTTX[UVYTUV�VTWTUXYẐ X\ZWT]�\X[_[X̀�Z][X[ZUYTUV�VTa\ZW��ÙYaZW[\[�T]YY b cb dbb dcb ebb ecb fbb fcb gbbhijklmnooipqnjrijsitisiuvirlmnooipqnjrijsiwiikujxyziokl{pp|ir} ~}} �}} �}} �}} �}}������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� ���������¡ ¢¡ £¡¡ £¢¡ ¤¡¡ ¤¢¡ ¥¡¡ ¥¢¡ ¦¡¡ ¦¢¡§̈ ©ª«¬­©®­«©°̄±§§±«²°³̈̄́µª§°¶·̧ °¹°ª«§³µª«®́¹®ªº»©¬©̈¬¬ª«§­̈­µ́¬©°¼̧§ ½ ¾½½ ¿½½ À½½ Á½½ Â½½ÃÄÅÆÇÈÉÇÊËÌÍÈÉÎÆÅÏÆÊÐÑÍÐÅÒÒÓÔÉÎÑÕÆÇÉÎÐËÇÑËÇÑÃÓÖ
Page 60

Agenda Item 7



������������	
��
����
��
�
�
����
��������
�	
����
�������� �� !""#$%&'#$()*+,+)-)*./0,., 123456276829:6;<123456276829:6;=123456276829:6;>123456276829:6;?123456276829:6;@1�����ABCDAEFD�DEGEFHB AIJ��KL��M��MNOPQR� KIJ���L�SOPM��TUVOP� �IJ���L��MMW��OXYQZ�XUW�[OYY\]ÔUV� �IJ��_L��TXŶQR�
WT̀XQ̂MU� �IJ��aL��OUWOP�
bTXŶQR� aIJ��cL��YOXU�[XQOP�XUW�IXÛQXQ̂MU� _IJ��dL�
eeMPWXfYO�XUW��YOXU�
UOPVR� �IJ��gL�JÒOUQ�[MPh�XUW�
̀MUMi^̀��PMjQZ� K�IJ��kL�lUWTmQPRn�lUUMNXQ̂MUn�XUW�lUePXmQPT̀QTPO� kIJ��K�L��OWT̀OW�lUObTXŶQ̂Om� �gIJ��KKL�ITmQX̂UXfYO��̂Q̂Om�XUW��MiiTÛQ̂Om� K�IJ�K�L��OmoMUm̂fYO��PMWT̀Q̂MU�XUW��MUmTioQ̂MU� dIJ��K�L��ŶiXQO�
̀Q̂MU� _�cIJ��K_L��̂eO�]OYMj�[XQOP� �IJ��KaL��̂eO�MU��XUW� _IJ��KcL��OX̀On��TmQ̂̀On�XUW�IQPMUV�lUmQ̂QTQ̂MUm� _IJ��KdL�IQPOUVQZOU�QZO��OXUm�Me�lioYOiOUQXQ̂MU�XUW��ON̂QXŶmO�QZO���YMfXY��XPQUOPmẐo�eMP�ITmQX̂UXfYO�JONOYMoiOUQ�� � ����������pqr�spqr�tpqr�uv pqr�uupqr�uw pqr�ux pqr�uypqr�uzpqr�upqr�ypqr�{ pqr�zpqr�u{ pqr�|pqr�v
Page 61

Agenda Item 7



�������������	
��

�����	�������
���
�����	��	
���	
������� ��� !!"#$%&"#'()*+,-./+0)10233/02+)04�56�789:;<=>?�@>A>�><B;B>C�8D>A�EF>�GH;AE>AI��F=?�<H9J>A�=<7KHC>?��LM�K>EE>A?�?><E�E8�EF>�N�O��	KK�OF;A>�8<�:A>?><E=<B�;�7K=9;E>�EA;<?=E=8<�:K;<�E8�?F;A>F8KC>A?�P8A�;::A8D;K�;E�EF>=A�	��?I�
>EE>A?�@>A>�<8E�?><E�E8�=<D>?E9><E�EAH?E?I��Q7KHC=<B�EF=?�><B;B>9><ER�
	�NN�><B;B>C�@=EF�ST�789:;<=>?IUVWXYZ[\]Ẑ_̀a �bcdedc[a fVXdba ghcbVW_	iji	O�	�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>	j	��
����
�i� �>>E=<B� �K=9;E>��F;<B>� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>	j
��
�	N
j�	��
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� i=;K8BH>	�	m��I����j��I� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>	OO��j	��i�n
j�jO��N��iO��
�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>n	�o��	��	
j��n��� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>n	�o�
���j�
�pjO
	�
�n�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� j<�i=;K8BH>n	
�
	�O��
�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �K=9;E>��F;<B>� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>n�
oO�j
���	��	q	��j��I� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>njNN	��
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� O=B<=P=7;<E�j9:A8D>9><En
j�rj���
�� �>>E=<B� �;9:;=B<�k�><>A;Kl� i=;K8BH>n���
�����
�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� 
>9H<>A;E=8<� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>����	�j���
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� �F;<B>�=<��A8BA>??��j���
����sj�	���
j

�j��� �>>E=<B� �<D=A8<9><E;K�
=?t� O9;KK�j9:A8D>9><E�
O���
ij��O��
�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>���O��

	�j���n
	�iO�j��I�� �>>E=<B� �<D=A8<9><E;K�
=?t� �8�j9:A8D>9><Eij
����
j���j�O�
	�����
�����
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� i=;K8BH>i
	s��
�����
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �<D=A8<9><E;K�
=?t� O9;KK�j9:A8D>9><EN�
i�����
�����	��� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>N
	O�
O��
�����
�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>����
	
��j

O�j��� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>����
	
�����
O�����	��� �>>E=<B� �K=9;E>��F;<B>� �F;<B>�=<��A87>??����j���
�����
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� O=B<=P=7;<E�j9:A8D>9><E�
	N�����
�����
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� O=B<=P=7;<E�j9:A8D>9><E�����O�u��	�
j�m�	n�k�u�l� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>�j

�u�O�j����
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� i=;K8BH>j�	i�� �>>E=<B� �9:K8v9><E�OE;<C;AC?� i=;K8BH>jO
	�
�ijO������n	�o�
�i� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>�nO�O	� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>�i�O��
�O�N	O�j����
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� O=B<=P=7;<E�j9:A8D>9><E�����
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� �F;<B>�=<��A8BA>??oj��NjO��
��
�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� 
>9H<>A;E=8<� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>�	
�n��j���
�� �>>E=<B� i=D>A?=Ev��GH=Ev�;<C�j<7KH?=8<� O9;KK�j9:A8D>9><E��i��	
iwO���
��
	�j��� �>>E=<B� OH::Kv��F;=<��;<;B>9><E� �8�j9:A8D>9><E�j�O�njO�j��N��Nj�	��j	
��
�� �>>E=<B� �K=9;E>��F;<B>� i=;K8BH>�jm
	�j���N	����n	�o�
�i� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>�����
�����
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� O=B<=P=7;<E�j9:A8D>9><E��O�
��O	� �>>E=<B� �K=9;E>��F;<B>� O9;KK�j9:A8D>9><E��s���
�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>��O�o	���
��
	�j��� �>>E=<B� i=D>A?=Ev��GH=Ev�;<C�j<7KH?=8<� O9;KK�j9:A8D>9><E���Oj���j��I� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>
j���j�����
�� 	K>AE�j??H>C� �K=9;E>��F;<B>� i=;K8BH>
�O��
�����
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� i=;K8BH>O��

��
�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �K=9;E>��F;<B>� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>O�	�i	
i���	
��
�i��
�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �K=9;E>��F;<B>� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>O�	
n��oO���
��
	�j��� 	K>AE�j??H>C� O87=;K�
=?t� i=;K8BH>����o
	N����j�m�����	��� �>>E=<B� �EF>A� �8�j9:A8D>9><E���j�	���
�����
�� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� O=B<=P=7;<E�j9:A8D>9><E��j
�r�
��
�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>��j��i��r�
O�	O�n	�o�
�i� �>>E=<B� �K=9;E>��F;<B>� �8C>A;E>�j9:A8D>9><Erji��i����
��� 
>7>=D>C��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �8D>A<;<7>�k�><>A;Kl� �F;<B>�=<��A8BA>??r�i	N�����
�����
�� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� 
>9H<>A;E=8<� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>r�
r��	n� �>>E=<B� �<D=A8<9><E;K�
=?t� i=;K8BH>q	
�	
��j��I� O><E��8AA>?:8<C><7>� �H9;<�
=BFE?� 	@;=E=<B�
>?:8<?>
Page 62

Agenda Item 7



������������	
��
����
��
�
�
����
��������
�	
����
�������� �� !""#$%&'#$()*+,)-,./0*12/3-45672*6-8.69-8*1.:-:5:;517
<=>��?>@A=>�BC>DEFGHA>I�F>D�JFI?>KFL��?>@A=>�BC>DEFG>?M��?>@A=>�BC>DE?DN=GD@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D�E?GH@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>DE?OP?Q�R�=>D=>�E=G=CIK�=NSEG?>M�R�=>D=>�E=G=CIK�=NS�FLTGADI?@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D�FLD?>��?>@A=>�BC>D�FGDANN�U��PFL=GIF>��?>@A=>�BC>D�K?@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D�AMQ�=N��=>D=>��=GV=GFMA=>��?>@A=>�BC>D�PWQD��?>@A=>�BC>D�RBPA>M@KAG?���S�=G>WFPP��?>@A=>�BC>D��G=QD=>��?>@A=>�BC>D�CLTGAF��?>@A=>�BC>DJ?GTQ@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>DJ?<=>��?>@A=>�BC>DJ=G@?M��?>@A=>�BC>D�JCGKFL��?>@A=>�BC>DJQN?D��?>@A=>�BC>D
FPA>I��?>@A=>�BC>D
F@M��ADA>I��?>@A=>�BC>D
F@M�XC@@?O��?>@A=>�BC>D 
>NA?PD��?>@A=>�BC>D
><AG=>L?>M�
I?>YQ��?>@A=>�BC>D
@@?O��?>@A=>�BC>DBFPHAGH��?>@A=>�BC>D�P=CY?@M?G@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D�G?FM?G��W?>M��?>@A=>�BC>D�G?FM?G��F>YK?@M?G��?>@A=>�BC>D�G??>WAYK��?>@A=>�BC>D��WQ>?DD��?>@A=>�BC>D�FYH>?Q��?>@A=>�BC>D�FLL?G@LAMK�F>D�BCPKFL��?>@A=>�BC>D�FGA>I?Q��?>@A=>�BC>D�FGG=W��?>@A=>�BC>D�F<?GA>I��?>@A=>�BC>D��?GMN=GD@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D�APPA>ID=>��?>@A=>�BC>D�=C>@P=W��?>@A=>�BC>DZ@P?�=N�[AIKM��?>@A=>�BC>DZ@PA>IM=>��?>@A=>�BC>D\?>@A>IM=>�F>D��K?P@?F�R�=QFP�E=G=CIK�=NS\?>M��?>@A=>�BC>D\A>I@M=>�CV=>��KFL?@��?>@A=>�BC>D�FLT?MK��?>@A=>�BC>D�F>YF@KAG?��=C>MQ��?>@A=>�BC>D �?AY?@M?G@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D��?WA@KFL��?>@A=>�BC>D�A>Y=P>@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D�=>D=>��?>@A=>�BC>D�
CMK=GAMQ�=MKAF>��?>@A=>�BC>D��?G@?Q@AD?��?>@A=>�BC>D�?GM=>��?>@A=>�BC>D�?WKFL��?>@A=>�BC>D��=GN=PH��?>@A=>�BC>D�=GMK�
F@M�XY=MPF>D��?>@A=>�BC>D�=GMK��=GH@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D�=GMKFLVM=>@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D�=MMA>IKFL@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D�ON=GD@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D��=WQ@��?>@A=>�BC>D�?DTGADI?��?>@A=>�BC>D�K=>DDF��Q>=>��FN��?>@A=>�BC>DXY=MMA@K�E=GD?G@��=C>YAP��?>@A=>�BC>DXKG=V@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>DX=L?G@?M��?>@A=>�BC>DX=CMK��=GH@KAG?��?>@A=>�
CMK=GAMQX=CMKWFGH��?>@A=>�BC>DXMFNN=GD@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>DXMGFMKYPQD?��?>@A=>�BC>D� XCNN=PH��?>@A=>�BC>DXCGG?Q��?>@A=>�BC>DXCMM=>��?>@A=>�BC>DXWF>@?F��?>@A=>�BC>D�??@@AD?��?>@A=>�BC>D�=W?G��FLP?M@��?>@A=>�BC>D�Q>?�F>D�[?FG��?>@A=>�BC>D[FPMKFL�B=G?@M��?>@A=>�BC>D[F>D@W=GMK�E=G=CIK��=C>YAP��?>@A=>�BC>D[FGWAYH@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D[?@M��ADPF>D@��?>@A=>�BC>D[?@M��=GH@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D[?@MLA>@M?G��?>@A=>�BC>D[APM@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D[=GY?@M?G@KAG?��?>@A=>�BC>D�]]̂_̀]abcde_fgahgijE=GD?G�M=��=F@M��?>@A=>@��FGM>?G@KAV���X��?>MGFP�=YFP��?>@A=>@��FGM>?G@KAV�=>D=>��Zk�=GMK?G>����X[FP?@��?>@A=>��FGM>?G@KAV
Page 63

Agenda Item 7





 

 
 

DF/23/60 
Investment and Pension Fund Committee  
16 June 2023 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND CARBON FOOTPRINT 

Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value  

Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and 
determination by the Committee before taking effect.  

 

1) Recommendation 

 
That the Committee be asked to: 
 

(a) Approve the revised climate change policy as set out in Appendix 1 to the report for 
inclusion in the Investment Strategy Statement. 

(b) Note the current progress against the targets to reduce the Fund’s carbon footprint. 

(c) Consider whether the allocation to passive equities should be consolidated in the 
World Developed Paris Aligned Benchmark Fund. 

 

2) Introduction 

 
2.1 Climate change continues to be a significant concern nationally and internationally. 

Locally, Devon County Council has declared a climate emergency and continues to 
be lobbied to do more. The Devon Pension Fund believes climate change poses 
significant risks to global financial stability and could thereby create climate-related 
financial risks to the Fund’s investments, unless action is taken to mitigate these 
risks. 
 

2.2 In 2021 the Investment and Pension Fund committed that the Devon Pension Fund’s 
portfolio of investments will be net-zero by 2050 at the latest and adopted a climate 
change policy in support of that objective. The Fund works with the Brunel Pension 
Partnership to implement its policies and in early 2023 Brunel approved a revised 
climate change policy. In addition, the Government has now published new 
requirements for LGPS funds on climate reporting that will need to be implemented 
in the 2023/24 Annual Report.   
 

2.3 This report therefore reviews the Fund’s policies on climate change in the light of 
Brunel’s revised policy and the new regulatory requirements. 
 

2.4 A key element of the Fund’s climate change policies will be the continued monitoring 
of the Fund’s carbon footprint and exposure to extractive industry and potential 
stranded assets. A full analysis of the Fund’s carbon footprint is carried out on an 
annual basis, and this report provides details of the assessment as at 31 December 
2022. 

Page 65

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

3) Climate Change Policy 

 
3.1 The Fund’s current climate change policy to achieve net zero investment portfolios 

by 2050 at the latest sets out the following targets: 

 That the Weighted Average Carbon Intensity (WACI) of the Fund’s investments 
will be reduced by a minimum of 7% per annum, and by between 50-75% by 
2030, based on the March 2019 calculation of the WACI. 

 That 5% of the Fund will be invested in renewable energy infrastructure by 2025. 

 The operational emissions of the Devon County Council Investment Team in the 
oversight of the Fund’s investments, and the administration of benefits by 
Peninsula Pensions should be net zero by 2030 in line with Devon County 
Council’s policy. 

3.2 These targets are still considered appropriate and are aligned with the trajectory set 
out in the Paris Agreement. However, in line with the revised Brunel climate change 
policy it is considered that these should be enhanced by further targets and metrics. 
These are included in the revised policy set out at Appendix 1 to this report and 
summarised below. 

 
 Engagement 

3.3 It is proposed that the Fund continues to prioritise engagement over divestment, 
particularly for listed equities, as the means to achieve its objectives. What matters, if 
the world is to meet the challenge of climate change, is that we see emissions 
reductions across the global economy. Therefore, we are looking for investee 
companies to make significant reductions in their emissions, rather than just shifting 
our investments from higher emitting companies to lower emitting companies. 

 
3.4 Therefore, it is appropriate to set out targets for engagement. The following are 

proposed: 

 Implement an engagement goal to ensure 70% of financed emissions in material 
sectors are either Net Zero, aligned to Net Zero pathways, or subject to direct or 
collected engagement and stewardship actions. We propose to achieve the 
target for listed equity and corporate bonds by June 2024. 

 The Net Zero Investor Framework proposes the threshold should be 90% by 
2030 at the latest. We propose to achieve the target for listed equity and 
corporate bonds by June 2027. 

3.5 These targets are consistent with the 2023 Brunel Climate Change Policy. 

 

 Alignment 

3.6 Another key area that features in the new reporting requirements is the extent of 
alignment of the companies invested in to the Paris Agreement. For a company to be 
considered to be aligned they need to: 

 Have credible targets to achieve net zero and a strategy to deliver them. 

 Engage positively to achieve those targets (including not lobbying against 
climate change mitigation, directly or via affiliations). 

Page 66

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

 Align financial processes and accounts. 

 Publicly disclose on the above. 

3.7 The precision around what ‘credible’ looks like is under development and Brunel is 
actively involved in shaping the recommendations. 
 

3.8 It is therefore proposed that the following targets be set for alignment, consistent with 
Brunel’s policy, subject to the ability to be able to assess and measure whether 
companies are achieving it. The proposal is that: 

 100% of developed listed equities should be aligned or aligning by 2030. 

 100% of all listed equities should be aligned or aligning by 2040. 

 
3.9 This acknowledges that companies operating in emerging markets are likely to be 

both more difficult to assess, but also may take longer to align, given the need to 
ensure a “just transition”. 

 
 

4) Carbon Footprint as at 31 December 2022 

 
4.1 Brunel in partnership with Trucost have analysed the Devon Fund’s carbon footprint 

as at 31 December 2022. This is the fifth annual assessment of the Fund’s carbon 
footprint. 

 
4.2 Calculating the impact of a company’s emissions involves looking not only at the 

operations of the company itself, but also looking at the impact of the products that it 
sells and the impact of its supply chain. Emissions are therefore split into scope 1, 
scope 2 and scope 3 emissions: 

 Scope 1 – The direct emissions of the company’s own operations. 

 Scope 2 – The emissions related to the purchase of electricity, steam, heating 
and cooling for the company’s use. 

 Scope 3 Upstream – The emissions of the company’s supply chain. 

 Scope 3 Downstream – The emissions associated with the companies’ 
products as they are consumed by customers. 

These are illustrated in the following diagram. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

Greenhouse Gases – Scopes 

Upstream Emissions Operational Emissions Downstream Emissions

Scope 3 Upstream           Scope 2 Scope 1 Scope 3 Downstream

Company 
Facilities

Company 
Vehicles

Direct 
suppliers

(tier 1) 
to the 

reporting 
company

Tier 2 suppliers, 
Tier 3 suppliers... ,
Tier N suppliers

Scope 1

Scope 2

Purchased electricity,

steam, heating & 

cooling for own use

Scope 3

First Tier Indirect

Scope 3
Downstream

Direct Emissions

End of life 

treatment of 

sold products
Use of sold 

products

Investments

 
 

4.3 In analysing a portfolio of investment companies, there is the danger of double 
counting, where the scope 1 direct emissions of one company are the scope 3 

downstream emissions of another company in the portfolio. However, from an 

investment risk perspective it is useful to know both the attribution of carbon risk 
(what is in the company’s direct control) and also the aggregate risk, from carbon 

risk within the supply chain. The Brunel/Trucost analysis of the Devon Pension 

Fund’s equity investments therefore takes into account. Scope 1 direct emissions, 
Scope 2 (e.g. purchased power) and the first tier Scope 3 (immediate supply chain) 

emissions of investee companies, as shown in the diagram above. 

 
4.4 The analysis undertaken quantifies greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) embedded 

within a portfolio, presenting these as tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalents (tCO2e). 

Comparing the total GHG emissions of each holding, relative to either revenues 
generated or capital invested, gives a measure of carbon exposure that enables 

comparison between companies, irrespective of size or geography. The weighted 

average carbon intensity (WACI) of each portfolio is measured by summing the 
product of each holding's weight in the portfolio with the company level 

carbon/environmental revenue intensity. 

 
4.5 The WACI for each portfolio and for the Fund’s total equity and sterling corporate 

bond holdings as at 31 December 2022 is shown in the graph below. The total Fund 

WACI has fallen marginally from 237 tCO2e/mGBP in December 2021 to 232 
tCO2e/mGBP in December 2022, a reduction of 2.1%. The WACI in December 2022 

is below the benchmark of 305 tCO2e/mGBP. 

 

Page 68

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

 

250
286

179 180
209

315
264

152

232

306 286 286 285
323

567

317

168

305

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

UK Passive World

Developed

Passive

World Paris

Aligned

Passive

Global High

Alpha

Smaller

Companies

Emerging

Markets

Sustainable

Equities

Sterling

Corporate

Bonds

Total Fund

tC
O

2
e

/m
G

B
P

Weighted Average Carbon Intensity 

31 December 2022

Portfolio Benchmark

 
 

4.6 Progress since March 2019 is shown in the following chart, with the proportionate 

contribution from each equity portfolio also highlighted.  
 

 

0.00

50.00

100.00

150.00

200.00

250.00

300.00

350.00

400.00

450.00

Mar 19 Dec 19 Dec 20 Dec 21 Dec 22

tC
O

2
e

/m
G

B
P

 c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n

Weighted Average Carbon Intensity

Total Fund

Sterling Corporate Bonds

Sustainable Equities

Low Volatility

Emerging Markets

Smaller Companies

Global High Alpha

Smart Beta Passive

World Paris Aligned Passive

World Developed Passive

UK Passive
 

 
4.7 It is disappointing that there has only been a small reduction in the Fund’s carbon 

footprint (WACI) during the year, but this should be set in the context that 2022 saw 

negative returns across markets particularly in growth stocks, meaning that many 
companies with lower carbon footprints lost value, while value stocks, including oil 

companies, performed much better in financial terms and therefore formed a larger 

part of the market. The WACI of the benchmarks that our funds are compared to 
went up from 284 tCO2e/mGBP to 305 tCO2e/mGBP over the year, so the small 

decrease in the Fund’s WACI is a reasonable outcome in the circumstances. 

 
4.8 The reduction of 45% in the Fund’s WACI since March 2019 still represents good 

progress towards the medium term target of a 50-75% reduction by 2030.  

423 

332 

264 
237 232 

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

 
4.8 Other points to note include: 

 All actively managed portfolios had a lower WACI than the benchmark. 

 The UK Passive allocation transferred to the new UK Climate Transition Fund at 
the end of February 2022. The UK Climate Transition Fund has a lower WACI 
than the core UK passive index. 

 The Emerging Markets portfolio has the highest WACI. Emerging economies 
may find it more difficult to transition their economies, and this also raises the 
issue of securing a just transition that does not penalise those countries with a 
poorer standard of living. 

 The Sustainable Equities portfolio has a relatively high WACI compared to some 
of the active portfolios. This demonstrates that the numbers only tell half the 
story. The Sustainable Equities portfolio is focused on solutions, so may include 
companies who have higher emissions from processes that support the 
transition, for example the manufacture of wind turbines. 

 
 

5) Reserves Exposure 

 

5.1 One of the issues with the WACI measurement is that it does not capture the 

downstream tier 3 emissions. Downstream Scope 3 emissions based on product in 
use (or disposal) are not widely calculated by companies or reported. However, 

downstream Scope 3 are critical when looking at the impact / investment risk of car 

manufacturers and fossil fuel companies.  
 

5.2 This is linked with the risk involved in stranded assets, where companies may have 

large reserves of fossil fuels that will not be usable if we are to achieve carbon 
reduction targets across the economy and so become “stranded”. Exposure to 

reserves data is therefore a useful proxy for downstream emissions. 

 
5.3 The reserves exposure for each portfolio and for the Fund’s total equity and sterling 

corporate bond holdings as at 31 December 2022 is shown in the graph below. The 

figures shown are on a value of holdings basis, which means the value of any 
company with fossil fuel reserves is included in full in the analysis, regardless of 

what proportion of their business relates to extraction. Between December 2021 and 

December 2022, the reserves exposure fell from 2.8% to 2.4%. This equates to just 
under 1.5% of total assets. 

 

Page 70

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

6.1
4.9

0.0

3.7

0.6

4.0

0.0 0.5

2.4

17.2

4.9 4.9 5.1

2.5

5.5 5.1

1.8

6.0

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

UK Passive World

Developed

Passive

World Paris

Aligned

Passive

Global High

Alpha

Smaller

Companies

Emerging

Markets

Sustainable

Equities

Sterling

Corporate

Bonds

Total FundW
e

ig
h

t 
b

y 
va

lu
e

 o
f 

h
o

ld
in

g
s 

(%
)

Reserves Exposure - 31 December 2022

Portfolio Benchmark

 
 

5.4 The decision to move the UK Passive allocation to the UK Climate Transition 
Benchmark fund has reduced the reserves exposure of that allocation from 13% in 

December 2021 to 6% in December 2022, while the benchmark of FTSE All-share 

companies has increased from 13% to 17%. The UK Passive allocation no longer 
includes Shell, Anglo American or Glencore, but does still hold BP.  

 

5.5  The reduction in reserves exposure since March 2019 is shown in the following 
graph: 

 

 

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

Mar 19 Dec 19 Dec 20 Dec 21 Dec-22

W
e

ig
h

t 
b

y 
va

lu
e

 o
f 

h
o

ld
in

g
s 

(%
)

Reserves Exposure

Sterling Corporate Bonds

Sustainable Equities

Low Volatility

Emerging Markets

Smaller Companies

Global High Alpha

Smart Beta

World Paris Aligned Passive

World Developed Passive

UK Passive

 
 

5.5 The UK Passive allocation previously accounted for around 60% of the reserves 

exposure, but now only accounts for a third. However, the global developed passive 
now accounts for a larger proportion as the exposure of the benchmark has 

increased from 2.9% to 5%, for the same reasons as set out in paragraph 4.7. The 

passive portfolios continue to have the most significant exposure. 
 

9.3 

6.3 

3.8 

2.8 2.4 

Page 71

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

5.6 The following table shows the Devon Fund’s equity exposure to companies with 
fossil fuel reserves as at 31 December 2022. This excludes the Sustainable Equities 

portfolio which has no exposure. 

 

Fossil Fuel Reserves Exposure by Portfolio and Company as at 31 December 2022 

Company 

UK CTB 

Passive

World 

Developed 

Passive

World 

PAB 

Passive

Active 

Global 

High Alpha

Active 

Emerging 

Markets

Global 

Smaller 

Companies TOTAL

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

BP 21,633 1,025 0 0 0 0 22,658

Anglo American 0 467 0 2,920 1,839 0 5,226

Royal Dutch Shell 0 1,996 0 2,833 0 0 4,829

Exxon Mobil 0 4,470 0 0 0 0 4,470

Reliance Industries 0 0 0 0 3,709 0 3,709

Chevron 0 3,414 0 0 0 0 3,414

Suncor Energy 0 426 0 2,551 0 0 2,977

BHP Billiton 0 1,580 0 0 0 0 1,580

Glencore 0 857 0 621 0 0 1,478

Conoco Phillips 0 1,447 0 0 0 0 1,447

Total SA 0 1,423 0 0 0 0 1,423

Vale 0 0 0 0 1,249 0 1,249

Energean Oil and Gas 1,192 0 0 0 0 0 1,192

Meg Energy 0 0 0 1,074 0 0 1,074

Whitecap Resources 0 0 0 0 0 1,063 1,063

Other 141 7,067 207 0 2,710 575 10,700
22,966 24,172 207 9,999 9,506 1,638 68,489

 
 
5.7 Should the Committee wish to take further action to significantly reduce fossil fuel 

reserves exposure further, it could look to move the UK and World Developed 

passive allocations across to the Global Paris Aligned Benchmark (PAB) passive 
fund. The PAB funds include a range of exclusions related to fossil fuels and also 

enforces a 7% reduction in carbon emissions, with a phasing in of scope 3 emissions 

into the data. This move would also reduce the overall carbon footprint.  
 

5.8 Mercer envisaged the move of all the passive allocation to the Global Paris Aligned 

Benchmark fund in their review of investment strategy in February 2022, as a means 
to: 

 Manage the risks associated with climate change. 

 Target sustainability themes, focus on ESG integration and ensure strategies 

are supporting a decarbonisation pathway. 

 Continue to target the same return as the core global developed passive index, 

albeit with the likelihood of a higher tracking error. 

5.9 However, it has previously been decided to maintain the UK and core global 

developed passive allocations in the short term as: 

Page 72

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

 The return on the UK market had been poor compared to the World (principally 
the US) market as a result of investor concerns over Brexit and the 

outperformance of the big US technology stocks (Apple, Microsoft, etc.), and 

consensus was that the UK market looked cheap compared to the US (and 

therefore global) market. 2022 was a relatively good year for the UK market. 

 The new World Developed Paris Aligned Benchmark was relatively new, and it 

was therefore decided to only allocate the previous “Smart Beta” allocation, 
retain the allocation to the core World Developed Passive fund and review how 

performance of the two funds compared before deciding whether to switch the 

entire global passive allocation across.  

 There was some concern about the potential for unintended consequences in 
the way that the benchmark would reshape the portfolio to ensure a 7% year-

on-year reduction. 

 
5.8 Performance returns, on an unhedged basis for the three funds during 2022/23 are 

set out below. These are only one-year returns as the new funds have been in place 

for less than 18 months. The World Developed Paris Aligned Fund has performed 
better than the core World Developed Passive Fund. The UK Climate Transition 

Benchmark Fund returned a marginally better return in what was a good year for the 

UK market relative to the global market. 
 

Fund One Year 

Return to 31 
March 2023 

World Developed Paris Aligned Benchmark Fund +0.7% 

World Developed Passive Fund (Unhedged) -0.6% 

UK Climate Transition Benchmark Passive Fund +0.9% 

 

5.9 Should the Committee decide to move the global developed passive allocation to the 

Paris Aligned Benchmark fund, then it is recommended that the currency hedging 
strategy in place be applied to the Paris Aligned Benchmark fund. 

 
 

6) Conclusion 

 
6.1 Progress in reducing the Fund’s carbon footprint has been slower over the last year 

than previous years but is to a large extent the result of the prevailing economic 

backdrop. There has nonetheless been a small reduction in the Fund’s WACI and 
reserves exposure as at the end of December compared with the previous year. The 

additional targets and metrics will help to provide a more rounded assessment of the 

effectiveness of the Fund’s climate change policies and ensure we are prepared for 
the more regulated reporting regime that the Government is looking to introduce.  

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 8



 

 
 

6.2 The Committee is asked to approve the revised climate change policy for inclusion in 
the Investment Strategy Statement. The Committee is also asked to review its 

allocation to passive equities and consider whether the allocation should be 

consolidated in the World Developed Paris Aligned Benchmark Fund. 
 
 
 
 
Angie Sinclair 
Director of Finance and Public Value 
 

Electoral Divisions: All  

 

Local Government Act 1972: List of background papers 

Nil 

 

Contact for enquiries: 
Name: Mark Gayler  

Telephone: 01392 383621 

Address: Room 196 County Hall 

Page 74

Agenda Item 8



Appendix 1 

 

Devon County Council Pension Fund  

Investment Strategy Statement 

 

Climate Change 

The Devon Pension Fund believes climate change poses significant risks to global 

financial stability and could thereby create climate-related financial risks to the Fund’s 

investments unless action is taken to mitigate these risks. In recognising the need to 

address the risks associated with climate change posed to both the Fund’s investments 

and our beneficiaries, we acknowledge that there is an urgent need to accelerate the 

transition towards global net zero emissions and play our part in helping deliver the 

goals of the Paris Agreement. 

The Fund also believes investing for a positive climate scenario presents an opportunity 

to improve asset returns by harvesting a low carbon transition premium. This positive 

impact is expected to be most material over the period ending 2030. 

The Devon Pension Fund has therefore pledged that its portfolio of investments will be 

net-zero by 2050 at the latest. In order to achieve this goal, the Fund has set the 

following targets: 

1) A 7% per annum reduction in the Weighted Average Carbon Intensity (WACI) of 

the Fund’s investments, based on the March 2019 calculation of the WACI. This 

recognises the need for significant progress in the earlier part of the period to 

2050, with the intention of achieving a 50-75% reduction by 2030.  

2) These targets will also be applied to the Fund’s exposure to fossil fuel reserves as 

a proxy for downstream scope 3 emissions which are not captured within the 

WACI calculation. 

3) Within the Fund’s infrastructure investments, we would expect a significant 

proportion to be invested in renewable energy assets. The target is to achieve an 

allocation of 5% of the total Fund to renewable energy infrastructure assets by 

2025.   

4) Alignment to the Paris Agreement - The target is that 100% of developed listed 

equities should be aligned or aligning by 2030 and 100% of all listed equities 

should be aligned or aligning by 2040. For a company to be considered to be 

aligned they need to: 

 Have credible targets to achieve net zero and strategy to deliver them. 

 Engage positively to achieve those targets (including not lobbying against 

climate change mitigation, directly or via affiliations). 

 Align financial processes and accounts. 

 Publicly disclose on the above. 

5) Engagement - Implement an engagement goal to ensure 70% of financed 

emissions in material sectors for listed equity and corporate bonds are either Net 

Zero, aligned to Net Zero pathways, or subject to direct or collected engagement 

and stewardship actions by June 2024, and that the threshold should be 90% by 

June 2027. 

Page 75

Agenda Item 8



Appendix 1 

 

Devon County Council Pension Fund  

Investment Strategy Statement 

 
6) Devon County Council has committed to reduce the carbon emissions from its 

operations to net-zero by 2030. This will include the operational emissions of the 

Devon County Council Investment Team in the oversight of the Fund’s 

investments, and the administration of benefits by Peninsula Pensions. 

This will be achieved by the following strategy. 

(a) We recognise that climate change will have impacts across our portfolios. This 

means we look to the Brunel Pension Partnership and all our asset managers to 

identify and manage climate-related financial risks as part of day-to-day fund 

management. The way those risks and opportunities present themselves varies, 

particularly in evaluating what a portfolio aligned to the Paris Agreement looks 

like. 

(b) The Devon Pension Fund wants to play its part in achieving real economy 

emissions reductions. This means that we are looking for investee companies to 

make significant reductions in their emissions, rather than just shifting our 

investments from higher emitting companies to lower emitting companies. The 

Fund therefore prioritises engagement over divestment, particularly for listed 

equities. By integrating climate change into risk management process, using 

carbon footprinting, assessing fossil fuel exposure and challenging managers on 

physical risks, we seek to both reduce climate and carbon risk and achieve real 

reductions in global emissions. Where investee companies fail to engage with 

climate change issues, selective divestment may be appropriate based on 

inability or unwillingness to align to objectives of Paris Agreement, consistent 

with managing investment risk. 

(c) We are committed to working with Brunel to decarbonise our investments in 

listed portfolios. Decarbonisation is achieved by being selective in the allocation 

of capital, particularly to carbon intense companies. This process is informed by 

using a variety of tools in combination with industry and corporate engagement. 

For example, engagement with electric utility companies about their future 

strategy on energy sources informs the investment decisions relating to those 

companies and indeed the relative attractiveness of the sector over time.   

(d) The Fund will collaborate via the Brunel Pension Partnership, the Local Authority 

Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) and the Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change 

(IIGCC) to advocate policy and regulatory reforms aimed at achieving global net zero 

emissions by 2050 or sooner. This will include engaging with asset managers, credit 

rating agencies, auditors, stock exchanges, proxy advisers, investment consultants, and 

data and service providers to ensure that funds, products and services available to 

investors are consistent with achieving global net zero emissions by 2050 or sooner. 

(e) We expect the engagement and voting conducted on behalf of the Fund by LAPFF, 

Brunel and underlying investment managers to be consistent with an objective for all 

assets in the portfolio to achieve net zero emissions by 2050 or sooner. The Fund’s 

stewardship and voting policies are set out more fully below. 

Page 76

Agenda Item 8



Appendix 1 

 

Devon County Council Pension Fund  

Investment Strategy Statement 

 
(f) Climate change risk and carbon reduction targets will be a consideration in reviews of 

the Fund’s strategic asset allocation. This will be considered ensuring consistency with 

the Fund’s fiduciary duty to achieve the investment returns required to meet its future 

pension liabilities. 

(g) The Devon Pension Fund adopts the Brunel Pension Partnership’s climate change 

policy, found at the following link:  

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/climate-change/ 

The Devon Pension Fund views the Brunel policy as being representative of the 

climate change objectives of the Fund and in support of the wider objectives of 

Devon County Council. 

(h) We are committed to being transparent about the carbon intensity of our 

investments through the publication of the Fund’s carbon footprint and reserves 

exposure on an annual basis through the Pension Fund Annual Report. This will 

enable us to measure progress against the targets set out above. The Fund will 

also report on delivery through the Brunel Annual Climate Action Plan and report 

in line with anticipated LGPS Regulation requirements in the 2023/24 Annual 

Report. 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8





 

 
 

DF/23/61 
Investment and Pension Fund Committee  
16 June 2023 
 

ACTUARIAL AND INVESTMENT CONSULTANCY CONTRACT 
PROCUREMENT 

Report of the Director of Finance and Public Value  

Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and 

determination by the Committee before taking effect.  

 

1) Recommendation 

 
That the Committee be asked to: 
 

(a) Approve a joint procurement exercise with the Somerset Pension Fund to secure a 
new contract for Actuarial Services, using the National LGPS Framework. 

(b) Approve a procurement exercise for Investment Consultancy Services, using the 
National LGPS Framework  

(c) Delegate the appointment process and final decisions for both contracts to the 
Director of Finance and Public Value in consultation with the Chair. 

 
 

2) Introduction 

 
2.1 The Devon Pension Fund requires the professional services of an actuary in order to 

carry out the triennial actuarial valuation of the Fund and a variety of other tasks. 
  

2.2 Barnett Waddingham were awarded the current contract to provide actuarial services 
to the Devon Pension Fund for six years from April 2018, and have been the Fund 
Actuary since 2010. The contract is due to expire on 31 March 2024, and it is 
therefore proposed to review and re-tender the contract. 
 

2.3 The Fund also needs investment consultancy advice from time to time, and in the 
past consultants have been appointed to do ad-hoc pieces of work under a contract 
specific to the individual piece of work required. It is considered that it would be good 
practice to appoint consultants to undertake work over a longer term timeframe, so 
that individual procurement exercises are not required every time a piece of work is 
required. 
 

2.4 This report sets out the proposed way forward for both the actuarial contract and 
investment consultancy.  
 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



 

 
 

3) Actuarial Services 

 
3.1 The main function of the Fund Actuary is to carry out the statutory triennial actuarial 

valuation of the Pension Fund. The actuarial valuation sets out the Fund’s assets 
and liabilities, based on a set of actuarial assumptions, and reviews the financial 
position of the Fund. It also sets the contribution rates for each employer in the Fund 
for the following three years. Regular funding level updates are provided on a 
quarterly basis between triennial valuations to allow the Fund to monitor its position. 

 
3.2 In addition to the triennial valuation, the Actuary also carries out accounting 

valuations for the Fund and the Fund’s constituent employers on an annual basis. If 
an employer ceases to have active members in the Fund the Actuary will carry out a 
closure valuation to calculate an exit payment for the employer to ensure all their 
future liabilities are covered. The Actuary will also advise on the content of the 
Funding Strategy Statement, and carry out employer risk assessments, cash flow 
analyses and assessments of the cost of pension arrangements for any new 
admitted bodies resulting from Councils outsourcing services. 

 
3.3 The cost of providing these services will vary depending on the work required during 

the year and will be higher in the year of the triennial valuation. The net annual cost 
to the fund excluding the triennial valuation is around £30,000 - £50,000 depending 
on the work required during the year, with an additional £60,000 - £70,000 incurred 
during a triennial valuation year. In addition, the Actuary does work to the value of 
between £100,000 and £200,000 for individual employers, which is then recharged 
to the employers. 

 
 

4) Joint Procurement with Somerset Pension Fund 

 
4.1 Barnett Waddingham are also fund actuaries to the Somerset Pension Fund. 

Somerset have approached us on the basis that their actuarial contract also comes 
to an end in 2024 with a view to undertaking a joint procurement to award a new 
actuarial contract. 

 
4.2 Peninsula Pensions provide pensions administration services to both the Devon and 

Somerset Pension Funds, and it therefore makes sense for both funds to have the 
same Fund Actuary. If the two funds had different actuaries, then Peninsula 
Pensions would need to deal with different systems and handle data transfers in 
different ways which would increase workload and reduce efficiency 

 
4.3 Therefore, it is proposed that the procurement exercise should be carried out jointly 

with the Somerset Fund, with officers from both funds and from Peninsula Pensions 
involved in carrying out a joint evaluation of tenders in order to appoint the same 
Fund Actuary for the Devon and Somerset Pension Funds. The new contract would 
run for 6 years, to encompass the next two triennial actuarial valuations, with the 
option to extend for a further 3 years.  

 
 

Page 80

Agenda Item 9



 

 
 

5) Investment Consultancy 

 
5.1 LGPS regulations require that the Fund must review and if necessary revise its 

investment strategy from time to time, and at least every 3 years. While officers and 
the Independent Investment Advisor regularly review the strategy, it is good practice 
to commission a full external review of the strategy every three years.  

 
5.2 In 2017 Mercer were appointed to carry out a review of the Fund’s investment 

strategy following a competitive process to appoint a consultant to carry out the role. 
A review was carried out in early 2017, and then refreshed in 2019. During 2021/22 
an exemption from tendering was agreed by Procurement to appoint Mercer to 
undertake a further review to feed into the 2022 Actuarial Valuation. 

5.3 A further review will be required in 2024/25, and good practice would suggest that a 
full competitive process should be undertaken to appoint the consultants to carry out 
that review.  

 
5.4 Some LGPS funds retain consultants on a permanent basis and have them in 

attendance at every committee meeting, in addition to an independent advisor. While 
this is considered unnecessary and would be expensive, there would be merit in 
appointing consultants for a fixed period of say 6 years to be called upon whenever 
there is a relevant piece of work that requires external input. This would cover two of 
the three yearly reviews and could be used for other one-off pieces of work such as 
climate scenario analysis. 

 
5.5 It is therefore proposed to undertake a procurement exercise to appoint external 

consultants to undertake investment reviews and one-off projects as and when 
required over a 5 year period, with the option to extend for a further 2 years.  

 
 

6) National LGPS Frameworks 
 
6.1 In the past it would have been necessary to undertake a full OJEU (Official Journal of 

the European Union) compliant procurement process to award new contracts for 
actuarial services and investment consultancy. However, a number of national LGPS 
procurement frameworks have been put in place for LGPS funds to use, including 
both these areas.  
 

6.2 A procurement framework is an agreement put in place with a provider or range of 
providers that enables customers to place orders for services without running lengthy 
full tendering exercises. Frameworks are based on large volume buying. Aggregating 
the potential needs of different buyers means individual buyers can source services 
at lower prices, or with special added benefits and/or more advantageous conditions. 
 

6.3 The national LGPS frameworks are the result of collaboration between a number of 
funds with procurement, legal and project management support provided by Norfolk 
County Council and the Norfolk Pension Fund. They are a direct example of funds 
with shared interests and vision collaborating effectively to deliver benefits both 
locally and nationally across the entire LGPS. The initiative is supported by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government and the Local Government 

Page 81

Agenda Item 9



 

 
 

Association, and has been presented as good practice in view of the Government’s 
current agenda of reducing the cost of the LGPS to taxpayers. 
 

6.4 The national frameworks are multi-provider, allowing several qualified providers to be 
on the framework. The following actuarial firms have all been awarded contracts to 
participate in the relevant frameworks: 
 
Actuarial Service Framework: 

 Aon Solutions 

 Barnett Waddingham 

 Hymans Robertson 

 Mercer 
 

Investment Consultancy Framework: 

 Aon Investments 

 Barnett Waddingham 

 BFinance 

 Hymans Robertson 

 Isio 

 Mercer 

 Redington 
 
6.5 Agreed terms and conditions are provided so LGPS Funds can simply ‘call-off’ the 

framework to meet their own local requirements. When an LGPS Fund opts to buy a 
service from the framework agreement, they ‘call off’ the framework by running a 
mini-competition amongst the providers on the framework, which can take 4-6 
weeks. This enables Funds to locally define their requirements. There is also the 
option to consider a direct award if there is clear evidence from the framework 
documentation that one supplier would offer the best value.  
 

6.6 One-off joining fees are payable to join the National LGPS Framework. These are 
£2,000 for Actuarial Services and £4,000 for Investment Consultancy. The fees 
provide access to the frameworks including all contractual documentation, terms and 
conditions, ceiling prices, shared rebate provision and ongoing support. 

 
 

7) Conclusion 
 
7.1 Use of the national frameworks would provide a cost effective and more efficient 

process for both of the procurement exercises proposed in this report. Therefore, the 
Committee are asked to approve the use of the national frameworks to undertake 
both a joint procurement for actuarial services with the Somerset Pension Fund and 
a procurement for investment consultancy services. 
 

7.2 Procurement best practice dictates that the detailed assessment of bids should be 
undertaken by officers. The Committee are therefore asked to delegate the 
appointment process and the final decision to the Director of Finance and Public 
Value in consultation with the Chair. 

 
 
 
Angie Sinclair 
Director of Finance and Public Value 
 
 

Page 82

Agenda Item 9



 

 
 

Electoral Divisions: All  
 

Local Government Act 1972: List of background papers 

Nil 
 
Contact for enquiries: 
Name: Mark Gayler  
Telephone: 01392 383621 
Address: Room 196 County Hall 

Page 83

Agenda Item 9





Document is Restricted

Page 85

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.





Document is Restricted

Page 115

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.





Document is Restricted

Page 123

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.




	Agenda
	A G E N D A
	Meetings Information and notes for visitors
	Getting to County Hall and Notes for Visitors
	Membership of a Committee
	Committee Terms of Reference
	Access to Information
	Public Participation
	Webcasting, Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings
	Declarations of Interest for Members of the Council
	WiFI
	Fire
	First Aid
	Mobile Phones
	Alternative Formats
	Induction Loop available


	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Devon Pension Board
	5 Brunel Oversight Board
	6 Annual Internal Audit Report 2022/23
	7 Investment Management Report
	8 Climate Change and Carbon Footprint
	9 Actuarial and Consultancy Contracts
	13 Local Impact Investment
	14 Brunel Pension Partnership - Reserved Matters Requests
	15 Litigation and Class Actions

